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ITEM 1. BUSINESS
General

We are a leading independent owner and operatweirefess communications towers. Our principal opens are in the United States
and its territories. In addition, we own and opeiatvers in Canada, Costa Rica, El Salvador, Guatemlicaragua and Panama. Our prin
business line is our site leasing business, whactiributed 97.8% of our total segment operatindipfor the year ended December 31, 2011.
In our site leasing business, we lease antenna gpanarily to wireless service providers on towansl other structures that we own, manage
or lease from others. The towers that we own haem lzonstructed by us at the request of a wirskssce provider, built or constructed
based on our own initiative or acquired. As of Deber 31, 2011, we owned 10,524 tower sites, thetanbal majority of which have been
built by us or built by other tower owners or oggera who, like us, have built such towers to lesisgce to multiple wireless service provid
We also managed or leased approximately 4,800 lamtymtential communications sites, approximaty of which were revenue produc
as of December 31, 2011. Our other business linarisite development business, through which w&sawireless service providers in
developing and maintaining their own wireless sarietworks.

Site Leasing Services

Our primary focus is the leasing of antenna spaceus multi-tenant towers to a variety of wirelsssvice providers under long-term
lease contracts in the United States, Canada anldCAmerica. Site leasing revenues are receividapily from wireless service provider
tenants, including AT&T, Sprint, Verizon Wirele§sMobile, Digicel, Claro, and Telefonica. Wirelessrvice providers enter into numerous
different tenant leases with us, each of whichtesl#o the lease or use of space at an individuwa1t site. In the United States and Canad:
tenant leases are generally for an initial terrfivaf years with five 5-year renewal periods at tiption of the tenant. These tenant leases
typically contain specific rent escalators, whiekege 3-4% per year, including the renewal oppieriods. Tenant leases in our Central
America markets typically have an initial term @fylears with 5-year renewal periods, and similat escalators to that of leases in the
United States and Canada.

We expand our tower portfolio, both domesticallyl amernationally, through the construction of newers, or new builds, and throt
the acquisition of towers from third parties. Irr oi@w build program, we construct towers in logasithat were strategically chosen by us or
under build-to-suit arrangements. Under build-t@-atrangements, we build towers for wireless seryroviders at locations that they have
identified. We retain ownership of the tower and éxclusive right to co-locate additional tenamtgtee tower. When we construct towers in
locations chosen by us, we utilize our knowledgewfcustomers’ network requirements to identifgations where we believe multiple
wireless service providers need, or will needptmte antennas to meet capacity or service demérelseek to identify attractive locations
for new towers and complete pre-construction prapesinecessary to secure the site concurrentlyouitiieasing efforts. We generally will
have at least one signed tenant lease for eacltbuidsvtower on the day that it is completed andestphat some will have multiple tenants.
During 2012, we intend to build between 415 and A8& towers, domestically and internationally.

In our tower acquisition program, we pursue toviked meet or exceed our internal guidelines regardurrent and future potential
returns. For each acquisition, we prepare varioadyaes that include projections of a five-yeareusted internal rate of return, review of
available capacity, future lease up projectionsasdmmary of current and future tenant/technology
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The table below provides information regardingdiegelopment and status of our tower sites portfolier the past three years.

For the year ended December 31,

2009 2010 2011
Towers owned at beginning of peri 7,854 8,32¢ 9,111
Towers acquire: 37¢€ 712 1,08t
Towers constructe 101 124 38¢
Towers reclassified/disposed @ (7) (49 (60)
Towers owned at end of peri 8,324 9,111 10,52«

(1) Reclassifications reflect the combination feparting purposes of multiple tower structures @ingle parcel of real estate, which we
market and customers view as a single location,ardingle owned tower site. Dispositions refléet decommissioning, sale,
conveyance or other legal transfer of owned towes

As of December 31, 2011, we had an average oeRa&nts per tower.

Our site leasing business generates substantlady @ur total segment operating profit. Our diasing business generated 88.3% of
our total revenues during the year ended Decemhe2@®.1 and has represented 97.4% or more of talrsiegment operating profit for the
past three years. For the year ended DecembeB31, 2ite leasing revenues generated outside Beddd its territories were less than 49
total revenue.

International Operations

We believe that we can create substantial valuexipgpnding our site leasing services into seleetmational markets which we believe
have a high-growth wireless industry and relativable political and regulatory environment. Werently own 1,330 towers in Canada,
Costa Rica, El Salvador, Guatemala, Nicaragua amdiRa, and intend to continue expanding in thedetrer international markets. These
international markets typically have less matureelgss networks with limited wireline infrastruatuaind wireless data penetration.
Accordingly, our expansion in these markets is grity driven by (i) wireless service providers s@gkto increase the quality and coverage
of their networks in developing countries, (ii) somers’ increased use of high data applicatiors) as email, internet access and video, and
(iii) recent spectrum auctions, which have resuitedew market entrants, as well as initial datevoek deployments. For example, we exg
a meaningful build-out of our new towers and comioation sites in Costa Rica as a result of recepatsum auctions in that country. We
expect to continue expanding internationally thtobgying or building towers, managing communicasgges and leasing space to wireless
service providers on assets we control.

We consider various factors when identifying a re&flor our international expansion, including:

» Country analysis- We consider the country’s political stability,dawhether the country’s general business, legakagdlatory
environment is conducive to the sustainability gralvth of our busines:

» Market potentia— We analyze the expected demand for wirelesscasyvand whether a country has multiple wirelessce
providers who are actively seeking to invest inldgpg voice and data networks, as well as spectiupntions that have occurred or
that are anticipated to occi

» Risk adjusted return criteri— We consider whether buying or building towers icountry, and providing our management and
leasing services, will meet our return criteria.g&st of this analysis, we consider the risk okeing into an international market, a
how our expansion meets our l-term strategic objectives for the region and oigitess generall)
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Site Development Services

Our site development business is complementaryitaite leasing business and provides us the abilikeep in close contact with the
wireless service providers who generate substingllof our site leasing revenue and to capturelkry revenues that are generated by our
site leasing activities, such as antenna and eqripmstallation at our tower locations. Our sigzelopment business is conducted in the
United States only and consists of two segmertssdeivelopment consulting and site developmenttoactson. Site development services
revenues are received primarily from providing lhifange of end to end services to wireless serpiowiders or companies providing
development or project management services to @sisetervice providers. We principally perform sggsifor third parties in our core
historical areas of wireless expertise, specificalite acquisition, zoning, technical services aodstruction.

In the consulting segment of our site developmesirtess, we offer clients the following range at/gms: (1) network pre-design;
(2) site audits; (3) identification of potentiatkttions for towers and antennas; (4) support inrougr leasing of the location; and
(5) assistance in obtaining zoning approvals amthipg. In the construction segment of our site dgvment business we provide a number of
services, including, but not limited to the followgi (1) tower and related site construction; (Zeana installation; and (3) radio equipment
installation, commissioning and maintenance. Persbin our site development business also identify business opportunities and provide
market intelligence for our leasing and new towadbfunctions.

We provide our site development consulting and tanson services on a local basis, through redioffaces, territory offices and
project offices. The regional offices are respolesibr all site development operations, includingny employees and opening or closing
project offices, and a substantial portion of thkes in such area.

For financial information about our operating segiseplease see Note 22 of our Consolidated FinhStatements included in this
Form 10-K.

Industry Overview

We believe that growing wireless traffic (partialyadata and video), successful spectrum auctionstachnology developments will
require wireless service providers to improve tieitwork infrastructure and increase their netwaagacity resulting in an increase in the
number of communication sites that they use ontimaber of antennas at existing communication sites.following is a discussion of
certain growth trends in the wireless communicatimaustry:

* We believe that our customers’ introduction andticmred deployment of next generation wireless tegies including (i) 3G
wireless services and (i) 4G wireless serviceshsas long-term evolution, or LTE, and WiMAX, wikquire our customers to add a
large number of additional cell sites and incraaseamount of their equipment at current cell s

» The Federal Communications Commission’s (the “FC&Zifcessful spectrum auction 73 during 2008 rajatirthe auction of the
700 MHz band, have provided existing carriers thpastunity to deploy spectrum for 4G wireless segwivhich has and will contin
to drive the demand for communication sites. Orgdat customers, AT&T, Verizon and Sprint, arehia inidst of nation-wide
upgrades of their wireless networks to these neregation technologies. In addition, Congress dasntly been discussing granting
the FCC additional incentive auction authority adlas reallocating the D-block of 700 MHz spectrimpublic safety for the
development of a nation-wide public safety netwile believe that all of these factors will drived@gbnal demand for
communication sites

» Consumer demand for high quality, wireless serviceginues to increase due to data applicationresipa, continued strong voice
demand, and continued wireline to wireless migratithe constant increase in quantity and type td dpplications including social
networking and gaming, among other categoriesnigr factor in these increases. Consumers listaré coverage and quality as
two of the greatest contributors to their dissatiibn when terminating or changing service. Tael@se subscriber churn rate and
drive revenue growth, wireless carriers have matdstantial capital expenditures on wireless netawookimprove service quality a
expand coverag:
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Despite the recent recessionary conditions affgdtie global marketplace, based on these fact@delieve that the U.S. wireless
industry will continue to grow and is well-capitadid, highly competitive and focused on quality addanced services. Therefore, we expect
that we will see a multi-year trend of strong aidial cell site demand from our customers, whichbekeve will translate into strong leasing
growth for us.

Business Strategy

Our primary strategy is to continue to focus onaging our site leasing business due to its ateacharacteristics such as long-term
contracts, built-in rent escalators, high operatiraygins and low customer churn. The long-term neatdi the revenue stream of our site
leasing business makes it less volatile than derdgvelopment business, which is more cyclicalfdgysing on our site leasing business, we
believe that we can maintain a stable, recurrirgh ¢dlow stream and reduce our exposure to cyatisahges in customer spending. Key
elements of our strategy include:

Maximizing Use of Tower Capacity/e generally have constructed or acquired towesabcommodate multiple tenants and a
substantial majority of our towers are high capelittice or guyed towers. Most of our towers haignificant capacity available for
additional antennas and we believe that increasedfiour towers can be achieved at a low increahenst. We actively market space on
towers through our internal sales force.

Disciplined Growth of our Tower PortfolioDuring 2012, we intend to grow our tower portipldomestically and internationally,
through the consummation of the Mobilitie transactiadditional tower acquisitions and the constomcof between 415 to 435 new towers.
In connection with our international expansion, vewe targeted select international markets thabelieve have relatively stable political
environments and a growing wireless communicatiolustry.We intend to use our available cash froeraiing activities and available
liquidity, including borrowings, to build and/or gaire new towers at prices that we believe wilberetive to our shareholders both short
long term and which allow us to maintain our loegat target leverage ratios. Furthermore, we belieaeour tower operations are highly
scalable. Consequently, we believe that we aretabigaterially increase our tower portfolio withqurbportionately increasing selling,
general and administrative expenses.

Capitalizing on our Scale and Management Experiese are a large owner, operator and developer aét@mnd other communicatic
sites, with substantial capital, human and opegatsources. We have been developing communicsities for wireless service providers in
the U.S. since 1989 and owned and operated tovesr fsir ourselves since 1997. We believe our sizperience, capabilities and resources
make us a preferred partner for wireless serviogigers both in the U.S. and internationally. Owarmagement team has extensive experience
in site leasing and site development, with somie@fongest tenures in the tower and site developmeustries. Management believes that
its industry expertise and strong relationshipsiwitreless service providers will allow us to exganur position as a leading provider of site
leasing and site development services.

Controlling our Underlying Land PositionsVe have purchased and intend to continue to psechnd/or enter into lorigrm leases fc
the land that underlies our towers, to the exteatlable at commercially reasonable prices. Weelvelithat these purchases and/or long-term
leases will increase our margins, improve our
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cash flow from operations and minimize our exposan@creases in ground lease rents in the futwethe quarter ended December 31,
2011, approximately 70.0% of our tower sites werated on land that we own or control for more tB@ryears. The average remaining life
under our ground leases, including renewal optigrder our control, has been extended to 33 years.

Using our Local Presence to Build Strong Relatiopshwith Major Wireless Service Provideiven the nature of towers as location
specific communications facilities, we believe thabstantially all of what we do is done best Ipca&onsequently, we have a broad field
organization that allows us to develop and capitatin our experience, expertise and relationshigach of our local markets which in turn
enhances our customer relationships. We are setkimggplicate this expertise internationally. Daetr presence in local markets, we bel
we are well positioned to capture additional stesing business and new tower build opportunitiesir markets and identify and participate
in site development projects across our markets.

Customers

Since commencing operations, we have performedesiting and site development services for alheflarge U.S. wireless service
providers. In both our site development and sisileg businesses, we work with large national pleng and smaller regional, local or priv
operators.

We depend on a relatively small number of custorfareur site leasing and site development revernlies following customers
represented at least 10% of our total revenuesiglati least one of the last three years:

Percentage of Total Revenues
For the year ended December 31,

2009 2010 2011
AT&T 23.8% 23.% 23.8%
Sprint 21.%% 20.4% 19.£%
Verizon Wireles 15.%% 14.8% 14.8%
T-Mobile 13.7% 11.€% 10.7%
During the past two years, we provided serviceafoumber of customers, including:

Aircell Leap Wirelest

AT&T M/A-COM

Barrett Xplore Metro PCS

Bechtel Corporatiol Nokia-Siemens

Bell Canad: Nortel

Cellular Soutt Nsoro Mastec, LLC

Claro Ntelos

Cleartalk Rogers

Clearwire Sprint

Cox Communication Telus

Digicel Telefonica

Ericssor T-Mobile

General Dynamic U.S. Cellular

ITT Corporation Verizon Wireles:
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Sales and Marketing
Our sales and marketing goals are to:

» use existing relationships and develop new relatigpgs with wireless service providers to leaserardespace on and sell related sen
with respect to our owned or managed towers, emglis to grow our site leasing business;

» successfully bid and win those site developmentises contracts that will contribute to our opergtmargins and/or provide a financ
or strategic benefit to our site leasing busin

We approach sales on a company-wide basis, invgiviany of our employees. We have a dedicated &ales that is supplemented by
members of our executive management team. Our atedicalespeople are based regionally as well the ioorporate office. We also rely on
our regional vice presidents, general managers#rat operations personnel to sell our servicescaltiyate customers. Our strategy is to
delegate sales efforts to those employees of oheshave the best relationships with our custoniost wireless service providers have
national corporate headquarters with regional andlloffices. We believe that wireless service jers make most decisions for site
development and site leasing services at the rabamd local levels with input from their corporéeadquarters. Our sales representatives
work with wireless service provider representatiaethe regional and local levels and at the natitevel when appropriate. Our sales staff
compensation is heavily weighted to incentive-bageals and measurements.

Our primary marketing and sales support is cerzeedliand directed from our headquarters office inaBRaton, Florida and is
supplemented by our regional and territory offio&& have a full-time staff dedicated to our markgtand sales efforts. The marketing and
sales support staff is charged with implementingroarketing strategies, prospecting and producaesspresentation materials and
proposals. In addition to our marketing and salaf,sve rely upon our executive and operationspenel at the regional and local office
levels to identify sales opportunities within ekigtcustomer accounts.

Competition

Site Leasing- Our primary competitors for our site leasing dtiBs are (1) the national independent tower camgmincluding
American Tower Corporation, Crown Castle Internagicand Global Tower Partners, (2) a large numbeggional independent tower
owners, (3) wireless service providers that own @merate their own towers and lease, or may irfitthee decide to lease, antenna space to
other providers, and (4) alternative facilitieslsas rooftops, outdoor and indoor distributed amiesystem (“DAS”) networks, billboards and
electric transmission towers. As a result of seMarge mergers and acquisitions, American Tower @own Castle have substantially more
towers and greater financial resources than wd\deless service providers that own and operatie tiven tower networks are also generally
larger and have greater financial resources thadav&/e believe that tower location and capacityligy of service to our tenants, and, to a
lesser extent, price have been and will continugetthe most significant competitive factors affagtthe site leasing business. Internation.
to date, the competition we have encountered hexs frem both independent tower companies and veisedervice providers that own and
operate their own tower networks. In our marketside the U.S. and its territories, the majorityegisting towers are owned by wireless
service providers.

Site Development The site development business is extremely cadtiygeand price sensitive. We believe that the migjaf our
competitors in the U.S. site development businpssate within local market areas exclusively, wiibene firms appear to offer their servi
nationally, including Bechtel Corporation, Black\&atch Corporation, Goodman Networks, General Dyosu@orporation, and Nsoro. The
market includes participants from a variety of nerkegments offering individual, or combinationsaafmpeting services. The field of
competitors includes site development consultamsing consultants, real estate firms, right-of-way
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consulting firms, construction companies, tower ergfmanagers, radio frequency engineering congs|teelecommunications equipment
vendors, which provide end-to-end site developrsentices through multiple subcontractors, and waglservice providers’ internal staff.
We believe that providers base their decisionsiterdevelopment services on a number of critér@uding: company experience, price,
track record, local reputation, geographic reaahtane for completion of a project.

Employees

Our executive, corporate development, accountingnte, human resources, legal and regulatoryyrivdtion technology and site
administration personnel, and our network operatimenter, are located in our headquarters in BatarRFlorida. Certain sales, new tower
build support and tower maintenance personnellacelacated in our Boca Raton office. Our remairémgployees are based in our regional
and local offices.

As of December 31, 2011, we had 814 employees, abwhom are represented by a collective bargaiagrgement. Of these 814
employees, 87 were based outside of the U.S. andriitories. We consider our employee relatienise good.

Regulatory and Environmental Matters

Federal RegulationBoth the FCC and the Federal Aviation Administnat{the “FAA”) regulate antenna towers and strucutet
support wireless communications and radio or telexiantennas. Many FAA requirements are implenteimt&CC regulations. These
regulations govern the construction, lighting aathpng or other marking of towers and structuned may, depending on the characteristics
of particular towers or structures, require pripp@val and registration of towers or structure®isethey may be constructed, altered or u
Wireless communications equipment and radio ovigilen stations operating on towers or structuressaparately regulated and may require
independent customer licensing depending upondhtécplar frequency or frequency band used. Intaatdiany applicant for an FCC antel
tower or structure registration must certify thainsistent with the Anti-Drug Abuse Act of 1988ijther the applicant nor its principals are
subject to a denial of Federal benefits becauseaoiviction for the possession or distributioraafontrolled substance.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Communicatani®©f 1934, as amended, the FCC, in conjunctiah wie FAA, has developed
standards to consider proposals involving new odifieml antenna towers or structures. These stasdaahdate that the FCC and the FAA
consider the height of the proposed tower or stinegthe relationship of the tower or structurexesting natural or man-made obstructions
and the proximity of the tower or structure to rays and airports. Proposals to construct or to fpadiisting towers or structures above
certain heights must be reviewed by the FAA to emsle structure will not present a hazard to auigation. The FAA may condition its
issuance of a no-hazard determination upon congmiavith specified lighting and/or painting requirembs. Antenna towers that meet certain
height and location criteria must also be registevih the FCC. A tower or structure that requiF@sA clearance will not be registered by the
FCC until it is cleared by the FAA. Upon registaatj the FCC may also require special lighting angéinting. Owners of wireless
communications antenna towers and structures mag d&raobligation to maintain painting and lightimgother marking in conformance with
FAA and FCC regulations. Antenna tower and striectwners and licensees that operate on those tawstructures also bear the
responsibility of monitoring any lighting systemsdanotifying the FAA of any lighting outage or matiction.

Owners and operators of antenna towers and stagctnay be subject to, and therefore must comply, witvironmental laws. Any
licensed radio facility on an antenna tower orduite is subject to environmental review pursuarthe National Environmental Policy Act
1969, among other statutes, which requires fedgahcies to evaluate the environmental impactaf ttecisions under certain
circumstances. The FCC has issued regulations mgiéng the National Environmental Policy Act. Teesgulations place responsibility
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applicants to investigate potential environmentfeats of their operations and to disclose any piidé significant effects on the environment
in an environmental assessment prior to constrgatimmodifying an antenna tower or structure andrfgo commencing certain operations of
wireless communications or radio or televisioniste from the tower or structure. In the eventRC determines the proposed structure or
operation would have a significant environmentgbatt based on the standards the FCC has develhyeddCC would be required to prepare
an environmental impact statement, which will bject to public comment. This process could sigaifitly delay the registration of a
particular tower or structure.

We generally indemnify our customers against afyriato comply with applicable regulatory standardlating to the construction,
modification, or placement of antenna towers arcttires. Failure to comply with the applicable riegments may lead to civil penalties.

The Telecommunications Act of 1996 amended the Conications Act of 1934 by preserving state andllaoaing authorities’
jurisdiction over the construction, modificationdaplacement of towers. The law, however, limitsalaoning authority by prohibiting ar
action that would discriminate among different pdevs of personal wireless services or ban altagette construction, modification or
placement of radio communication towers. Finalig Telecommunications Act of 1996 requires the ri@dgovernment to help licensees for
wireless communications services gain access fernpee sites for their facilities. This may requihat federal agencies and departments
directly with licensees to make federal propertgitable for tower facilities.

As an owner and operator of real property, we abgegt to certain environmental laws that imposeetsjoint and several liability for
the cleanup of on-site or offite contamination and related personal or prop#atyage. We are also subject to certain enviroreh&aws tha
govern tower or structure placement, including @uastruction environmental studies. Operators wets or structures must also take into
consideration certain radio frequency (“RF”) enossi regulations that impose a variety of procedamal operating requirements. Certain
proposals to operate wireless communications aid @ television stations from antenna towers sindictures are also reviewed by the F
to ensure compliance with requirements relatinguiman exposure to RF emissions. Exposure to highd®f RF energy can produce
negative health effects. The potential connectietwvben low-level RF energy and certain negativédtihedfects, including some forms of
cancer, has been the subject of substantial studyebscientific community in recent years. We &eati that we are in substantial compliance
with and we have no material liability under anyplgable environmental laws. These costs of compkawith existing or future
environmental laws and liability related theretoynhave a material adverse effect on our prospéntsjcial condition or results of
operations.

State and Local Regulatiorigost states regulate certain aspects of real estapgisition, leasing activities and constructiotivéties.
Where required, we conduct the site acquisitioripas of our site development services businesaitiir licensed real estate brokers’ agents,
who may be our employees or hired as independentitaztiors, and conduct the construction portionsusfsite development services throl
licensed contractors, who may be our employeesdapgendent contractors. Local regulations incluyeamd other local ordinances, zoning
restrictions and restrictive covenants imposeddmiraunity developers. These regulations vary grdatiy jurisdiction to jurisdiction, but
typically require tower and structure owners toaiaipproval from local officials or community stimds organizations, or certain other
entities prior to tower or structure constructiom a&stablish regulations regarding maintenanceemdval of towers or structures. In
addition, many local zoning authorities require éownd structure owners to post bonds or cashtedlao secure their removal obligations.
Local zoning authorities generally have been urptee to construction of new antenna towers angcsiires in their communities because of
the height and visibility of the towers or stru@syand have, in some instances, instituted maaator

International. Regulatory regimes outside of the U.S. and istégies vary by country and locality, however skaegulations typically
require tower owners and/or licensees to obtaimayah from local officials or
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government agencies prior to tower constructiotheraddition of a new antenna to an existing toBased on our experience to date, these
regimes have been similar to, but not more riggrbusdensome or comprehensive than, those in t8e@ur international operations are ¢
subject to various regulations and guidelines iggremployee relations and other occupationaltheald safety matters. As we expand our
operations into additional international geograpreas, we will be subject to regulations in thjasedictions.

Backlog

Backlog related to our site leasing business ctseidease agreements and amendments, which leavesigned, but have not yet
commenced. As of December 31, 2011, we had 251leeses which had been executed with customers iaghvad not begun generating
revenue. These leases will contractually provideafiproximately $5.1 million of annual revenue. &mparison, as of December 31, 2010,
we had 253 new leases which had been executedustomers but which had not begun generating rexerhese leases contractually
provided for approximately $4.9 million of annualenue.

Our backlog for site development services consitee value of work that has not yet been complete executed contracts. As of
December 31, 2011, we had approximately $14.5aniliif contractually committed revenue as compaveapproximately $17.8 million as
December 31, 2010.

Availability of Reports and Other Information

SBA Communications Corporation was incorporatethnState of Florida in March 1997. Our corporagbsite is www.sbasite.com
We make available, free of charge, access to onuAhReport on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on F&f¥Q, Current Reports on Form 8-
K, Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A and amendmertk®se materials filed or furnished pursuant tcti8a 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, on our veebisider “Investor Relations — SEC Filings,” as sasmeasonably practicable after we
file electronically such material with, or furnigho, the United States Securities and Exchangar@igsion (the “Commission”).
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
Risks Related to Our Business

If our wireless service provider customers combine their operationsto a significant degree, our future operating results and our ability to
service our indebtedness could be adversely affected.

Significant consolidation among our wireless serpcovider customers may result in our customaliadicto renew existing leases for
tower space or reducing future capital expenditirése aggregate because their existing netwarliseapansion plans may overlap or be
very similar. In connection with the combinatiorfs/@rizon Wireless and ALLTEL (to form Verizon Wiess), Cingular and AT&T Wirele:
(to form AT&T Mobility) and Sprint PCS and Nexteb(form Sprint Nextel), the combined companies hati®nalized and may continue to
rationalize duplicative parts of their networks,igthhas led and may continue to lead to the rarewal of certain leases on our towers. If
wireless service provider customers continue teolidate as a result of, among other factors, éithivireless spectrum for commercial us
the U.S., this consolidation could significantlypgatt the number of tower leases that are not reth@wthe number of new leases that our
wireless service provider customers require to edpheir networks, which could materially and adedy affect our future operating results.

A slowdown in demand for wireless communications services or for tower space could materially and adversely affect our future growth
and revenues

If wireless service subscribers significantly reglticeir minutes of use, or fail to widely adopt arsé wireless data applications, our
wireless service provider customers would expegemdecrease in demand for their services. Regardfeconsumer demand, each wireless
service customer must have substantial capitalireses and capabilities to build out their wireleesworks. Certain wireless carriers that
currently own nationwide spectrum positions havecamced the intention to build nationwide netwoltkst, have also announced that they do
not have all of the necessary financing in placeatmplete such networks. In addition, our wirekesvice customers have engaged in
increased use of network sharing, roaming or remasngements. As a result of all of the aboveghess carriers may scale back their
business plans or otherwise reduce their spendinhigh could materially and adversely affect demfordbur tower space and our wireless
communications services business, which could havaterial adverse effect on our business, restitiperations and financial condition.

We have a substantial level of indebtedness which may have an adverse effect on our business or limit our ability to take advantage of
business, strategic or financing opportunities.

As indicated below, we have and will continue teda significant amount of indebtedness relativeuioequity. The following table
sets forth our total principal amount of debt ahdreholders’ equity as of December 31, 2010 and 201

As of December 31,

2010 2011

(in thousands)
Total principal amount of indebtedne $3,050,00! $3,512,501
Shareholder (deficit) equity $ 317,11 $ (11,31)

Our substantial level of indebtedness increasepdbsibility that we may be unable to generate safficient to pay the principal,
interest or other amounts when due. Subject taicerestrictions under our existing indebtednessand our subsidiaries may also incur
significant additional indebtedness in the futw@ne of which may be secured debt. This may haveffiect of increasing our total leverage.
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As a consequence of our indebtedness, (1) demandgraash resources may increase, (2) we arectubjeestrictive covenants that
further limit our financial and operating flexiliifiand (3) we may choose to institute self-impadsaits on our indebtedness based on certain
considerations including market interest rates,relative leverage and our strategic plans. Fomgte, as a result of our substantial level of
indebtedness and the uncertainties arising inriditomarkets and the U.S. economy:

 If we are unable to refinance our debt, we canoargntee that we will generate enough cash flom foperations or that we will be
able to obtain enough capital to service our dehigations and fund our planned capital expendguhe such event, we might need
to sell certain assets or lines of business, issa@mon stock or securities convertible into comrstarck to fulfill our debt
obligations. If implemented , these actions cowddatively impact our business or dilute our exgshareholder:

« we may be more vulnerable to general adverse ederanmd industry condition:

« we may find it more difficult to obtain additionfihancing to fund future working capital, capitaipenditures and other general
corporate requirements that would be in our bew-term interests

« we may be required to dedicate a substantial podfaur cash flow from operations to the paymdmirmcipal and interest on our
debt, reducing the available cash flow to fund ptheestments, including tower acquisition and rimild capital expenditure:

* we may have limited flexibility in planning for, oeacting to, changes in our business or in thastrg;

* we may have a competitive disadvantage relativeher companies in our industry that are less byed; anc

* we may be required to sell debt or equity secwritiesell some of our core assets, possibly orvonddle terms, in order to meet
payment obligations

These restrictions could have a material adverfeetefn our business by limiting our ability to éalkdvantage of financing, new tower
development, mergers and acquisitions or other ibppidies.

In addition, fluctuations in market interest rameay increase interest expense relating to ourifigatte indebtedness, which we expect
to incur under our Revolving Credit Facility andrifeLoan, and may make it difficult to refinance @xisting indebtedness at a commerci
reasonable rate or at all. There is no guaranggehe future refinancing of our indebtedness halle fixed interest rates or that interest rates
on such indebtedness will be equal to or lower tharrates on our current indebtedness.

We depend on a relatively small number of customers for most of our revenue, and the loss, consolidation or financial instability of any of
our significant customers may materially decrease our revenues.

We derive a significant portion of our revenue fraramall number of customers. The loss of any dmaiosignificant customers, as a
result of bankruptcy, merger with other customérsuss or otherwise, could materially decreasereuenue and have an adverse effect on
our growth.
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The following is a list of significant customergfiresenting at least 10% of revenue in any ofdbethree years) and the percentage of
our total revenues for the specified time perioelsvetd from these customers:

Percentage of Total Revenues
For the year ended December 31,

2009 2010 2011
AT&T 23.8% 23.%% 23.8%
Sprint 21.%% 20.4% 19.£%
Verizon Wireless 15.4&% 14.8% 14.€%
T-Mobile 13.7% 11.¢% 10.7%

We also have client concentrations with respecétenues in each of our financial reporting segsient

Percentage of Site Leasing Revenues
For the year ended December 31,

2009 2010 2011
AT&T 27.1% 28.(% 26.8%
Sprint 25.2% 23.6% 22.2%
Verizon Wireless 16.(% 15.2% 15.5%
T-Mobile 11.€% 11.7% 11.2%

Percentage of Site Development
Consulting Revenues
For the year ended December 31,

2009 2010 2011
Verizon Wireless 23.6% 15.1% 17.5%%
Nsoro Mastec, LLC 9.3% 13.4% 9.1%
T-Mobile 13.% 6.C% 8.5%

Percentage of Site Development
Construction Revenues
For the year ended December 31,

2009 2010 2011
Nsoro Mastec, LLC 24.%% 36.(% 42. 7%
Ericsson, Inc 0.2% 3.C% 10.1%
Verizon Wireless 8.2% 10.2% 7.2%
T-Mobile 28.2% 11.8% 6.6%

Revenue from these clients is derived from numediffisrent site leasing contracts and site develapincontracts. Each site leasing
contract relates to the lease of space at an thaivitower site and is generally for an initiahteof five years renewable for five 5-year
periods at the option of the tenant. However, if ahour significant site leasing clients were kperience financial difficulty, substantially
reduce their capital expenditures or reduce thegeddence on leased tower space and fail to rdremeases with us, our revenues, future
revenue growth and results of operations woulddwersely affected.

Our site development customers engage us on acpimjeproject basis, and a customer can generaliyinate an assignment at any
time without penalty. In addition, a customer’s chéer site development services can decrease, amday not be successful in establishing
relationships with new customers. Furthermore,existing customers may not continue to engage uadditional projects.
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If we are unable to protect our rightsto the land under our towers, it could adversely affect our business and operating results.

Our real property interests relating to our towemssist primarily of leasehold and sub-leasehadierésts, fee interests, easements,
licenses and rights-of-way. From time to time, wpe¥ience disputes with landowners regarding thegseof ground agreements for the land
under our towers, which can affect our ability tcess and operate such towers. Further, landowmsysiot want to renew their ground
agreements with us, they may lose their righthi¢oland, or they may transfer their land interésthird parties, including ground lease
aggregators and our competitors, which could affectability to renew ground agreements on comna#lycviable terms or at all. Our
inability to protect our rights to the land undeir cowers may have a future material adverse effeaiur business, results of operations or
financial condition.

In addition, we may not always have the abilityat@lyze and verify all information regarding tithescess and other issues regarding the
land underlying acquired towers. To the extent thatdo not have complete access to, or use ofatiteunderlying the acquired towers, it
could require us to incur additional expenses leefog can operate and generate revenue from suéhn.tow

Our international operations are subject to economic, political and other risks, including risks associated with foreign currency exchange
rates, that could materially and adversely affect our revenues or financial position.

Our current business operations in Canada, Cost, Bl Salvador, Guatemala, Nicaragua and Panathawarexpansion into any other
international markets in the future, could resoaladverse financial consequences and operatiooblgms not typically experienced in the
United States. Although the consolidated revenee&iated by our international operations weretlems 4% during the year ended
December 31, 2011, we anticipate that our revefroes our international operations will grow in theure. Accordingly, our business is and
will in the future be subject to risks associatathwloing business internationally, including:

« changes in a specific coun’s or regior’'s political or economic condition
» laws and regulations that tax or otherwise restepatriation of earnings or other funds or othsealimit distributions of capita

» laws and regulations that dictate how we operatecommmunications sites and conduct business, iffgurbning and environmental
matters;

» changes to existing or new domestic or internatitmalaws directed specifically at the ownershig @peration of tower sites, whi
may be applied and enforced retroactivi

» expropriation and governmental regulation restigfioreign ownershig

 our ability to comply with, and the costs of conapice with, anti-bribery laws such as the Foreigm@u Practices Act and similar
local ant-bribery laws;

» our ability to compete with owners and operatorainéless communications towers that have beehdrrtternational market for a
longer period of time than we ha\

* uncertainties regarding legal or judicial systemeluding inconsistencies between and within larggulations and decrees, and
judicial application thereo

 health or similar issues, such as a pandemic deefc;

« difficulty in recruiting and retaining trained permel; anc

» language and cultural differenci

The majority of our international operations areatainated in United States dollars. However, fans®f our international operations,
we face risks associated with changes in foreigreagy exchange rates, including those arising foormoperations, investments and

financing transactions related to our internatidnadiness. Volatility in foreign currency exchamgtes can also affect our ability to plan,
forecast and budget for our international operatiand expansion efforts.
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Our convertible note hedge transactions may not cover all of the potential dilution or additional cash outlay, if we settled the notesin cash,
to which we may be subject upon conversion of the notes.

Concurrently with the pricing of our 1.875% Conilalg Senior Notes due 2013 (the “1.875% Notes”) and4.0% Convertible Senior
Notes due 2014 (t*4.0% Notes”)we entered into convertible note hedge transactodswarrant transactions with affiliates of certad the
initial purchasers of the convertible note offeEnghe initial strike price of the convertible nbiedge transactions relating to our 1.875%
Notes is $41.46 per share of our Class A commakgthe same as the initial conversion price of b8i75% convertible notes) and the u;
strike price of the warrants is $67.37 per shahe ifitial strike price of the convertible note gedransactions relating to our 4.0%
convertible Notes is $30.38 per share of our Ceassmmon stock (the same as the initial converpidce of the 4.0% Notes) and the upper
strike price of the warrant transactions is $446érshare. Pursuant to the terms of the warramsaetion, we are responsible for the dilution
or costs, to the extent that we settle in cashiamks arising from the conversion of the noteshim éxtent that the market price of our Class A
common stock exceeds the strike price of the wisr@uring 2011, we purchased an aggregate of $m8lion in principal amount of the
1.875% Notes, and $535.0 million remained outstamdi the market price of our Class A common steigiificantly exceeded either of
these strike prices on their respective converdatrs we would be subject to material dilutiontoithe extent we elected to settle in cash,
material additional costs.

Initially we entered into convertible note hedgel avarrant transactions to cover the full amourthefshares that were issuable upon
conversion of the 1.875% Notes and the 4.0% Noétesiever, as a result of the bankruptcy of Lehmawtiars OTC Derivatives Inc.
(“Lehman Derivatives”), we terminated the convdgihote hedge transaction that we had enteredniitkoLehman Derivatives. The
terminated convertible note hedge transaction haghally covered 55% of the 13,265,780 shareswsf@ass A common stock potentially
issuable upon conversion of our 1.875% Notes. Gpresaly, we do not currently have a hedge witheespo that percentage of the shares
issuable upon conversion of the 1.875% Notes Textbent that the market price of our Class A commstock exceeds $41.46 per share upon
conversion of the notes, we will be subject to il or if we settle in cash, additional costs, mjgonversion of that portion of the 1.875%
Notes. If any of the other counterparties to ounvestible hedge transactions were to default iir thigligations, then our potential dilution
costs upon conversion of the respective notes wioellchaterially increased.

New technologies and their use by carriers may have a material adverse effect on our growth rate and results of operations.

The emergence of new technologies could reducdehend for space on our towers. For example, tireased use by wireless ser
providers of signal combining and related techn@s@nd products that allow two or more wirelessise providers to provide services on
different transmission frequencies using the saomencunications antenna and other facilities normadlgd by only one wireless service
provider could reduce the demand for our tower spAdditionally, the use of technologies that erdeaspectral capacity, such as beam
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forming or “smart antennae,” that can increaserdéinge and capacity of an antenna could reduceutmbder of additional sites a wireless
service provider needs to adequately serve a nestdiscriber base and therefore reduce demandifdower space. The development and
growth of communications and other new technolotias do not require ground-based sites, sucheagrtiwth in delivery of video, voice

and data services by satellites or other technetogiould also adversely affect the demand fotamwmer space. Any increase in the amount of
wireless traffic moved by carriers away from maandenna sites to small cell architecture, distedwintenna systems, Wi-Fi, or other
alternate distribution methods could adverselycffiee demand for our tower space. If any of thesether new technologies are widely
adopted in the future it could have a material aslveffect on our growth and results of operations.

I ncreasing competition may negatively impact our ability to grow our tower portfolio long term.

We currently intend to grow our tower portfolio,rdestically and internationally, through the consuation of the Mobilitie transactio
additional tower acquisitions and the constructbnew towers. Our ability to meet these growtly¢ds significantly depends on our ability
to acquire existing towers that meet our investmeqtiirements. Traditionally, our acquisition st has focused on acquiring towers from
smaller tower companies, independent tower devesogred wireless service providers. However, asaltref consolidation in the tower
industry there are fewer of these mid-sized towaardactions available and there is more competitiGaatquire existing towers. Increased
competition for acquisitions may result in fewegaisition opportunities for us, higher acquisitiorices, and increased difficulty in
negotiating and consummating agreements to acguaie towers. Furthermore, to the extent that thet@cquisition opportunities are for
significant tower portfolios, many of our competgare significantly larger and have greater fimalmesources than us. If we are not able to
successfully address these challenges, we mayenale to materially increase our tower portfofigdhe long-term.

Due to these risks, it may take longer to compdetenew tower builds than anticipated, the costsoofstructing or acquiring these
towers may be higher than we expect or we may aathibe to add as many towers as we had plannewigigen year. If we are not able to
increase our tower portfolio as anticipated, itidowegatively impact our ability to achieve ourdirtial goals.

Delays or changesin the deployment or adoption of new technologies or slowing consumer adoption rates may have a material adverse
effect on our growth rate.

There can be no assurances that 3G, 4G or othewireless technologies will be deployed or adogtedapidly as projected or that
these new technologies will be implemented in tlaamner anticipated. The deployment of 3G experienletays from the original projected
timelines of the wireless and broadcast industeed, deployment of 4G has been limited to date.ithaally, the demand by consumers and
the adoption rate of consumers for these new tdobies once deployed may be lower or slower thditigated. These factors could have a
material adverse effect on our growth rate sincsvtir opportunities and demand for our tower spaca i@esult of such new technologies r
not be realized at the times or to the extent gated.

We may not secure as many site leasing tenants as planned or our lease rates for new tenant leases may decline.

If wireless service provider demand for tower spaiceur lease rates on new leases decrease, waghag able to successfully grow
our site leasing business as expected. This may hawaterial adverse effect on our strategy, revgmowth and our ability to satisfy our
financial and other contractual obligations. Owrptor the growth of our site leasing businessdigrgepends on our management’s
expectations and assumptions concerning futurenteteanand and potential lease rates for our towers.

Our acquisition initiatives may disrupt our operations or expose us to additional risk.

During 2012, we expect to grow our tower portfollomestically and internationally, through the aongation of the Mobilitie
transaction, additional tower acquisitions anddabestruction of new towers. Our ability to growdhgh acquisitions will depend, in part, on
the availability of suitable acquisitions at angm@able price, our ability to compete effectivedy fowers and the availability of capital and
personnel to complete such acquisitions and effelgtintegrate acquired towers into our busine$®sE risks could be heightened if we
complete a large acquisition, such as our pendingilifie acquisition, or several smaller acquigigowithin a relatively short period of time.
Furthermore, large acquisitions may raise additiosks as we are required to place enhanced adian the financial and operational
representations and warranties of sellers. Ourisitigum strategy subjects us to a number of rigks @ancertainties, including an adverse
impact on our overall profitability if the acquiréowers do not achieve the financial results ptegdn our valuation models, unanticipated
costs associated with the acquisitions, undisclasedassumed liabilities that we may be unable¢over, an adverse impact on our existing
customer relationships and the diversion of mariagaitention due to an acquisition. If we are able to successfully execute on our
acquisition strategy, our future tower portfoli@mgith, and therefore our future financial resultajld be adversely impacted.
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Our international expansion initiatives are subjectdditional risks such as complex laws, regotetiand business practices that may
require additional resources and personnel, asagetiose risks described above in “—Our internafioperations are subject to economic,
political and other risks that could materially aadVersely affect our revenues or financial positiacluding risks associated with foreign
currency exchange rates.” Furthermore, the suafessr international operations is subject to a hanof uncertainties, including our ability
to compete internationally with tower companiesvoeless service providers that own and operate tiven tower networks, and that, in
some cases, have been in the international masketlbnger period of time. Although we generatigds our international efforts in countr
with relatively stable political and macroeconoraivvironments, growing, competitive wireless comroations industries and multiple
wireless carriers that are likely to outsourcertkemmunications site infrastructure needs to w&save subject to several factors outside o
control, and no assurance can be given that owaresxpn initiatives will succeed and not materialhd adversely affect our business, results
of operations and financial condition.

I ncreasing competition in the tower industry may create pricing pressures that may materially and adversely affect us.

Our industry is highly competitive, and our custosneometimes have alternatives for leasing antepaee. Some of our competitors,
such as (1) U.S. and international wireless cartiest allow collocation on their towers and (2p&independent tower companies, are
substantially larger and have greater financiadueses than us. This could provide them with adsges with respect to establishing favor
leasing terms with wireless service providers dhgir ability to acquire available towers.

In the site leasing business, we compete with:

» wireless service providers that own and operatie tiven towers and lease, or may in the future detidiease, antenna space to other
providers;

» national and regional tower companies;
« alternative facilities such as rooftops, outdoait amoor DAS networks, billboards and electric sauission towers

We believe that tower location and capacity, qualitservice, density within a geographic marked,an a lesser extent, price
historically have been and will continue to be tinast significant competitive factors affecting giee leasing business. However, competitive
pricing pressures for tenants on towers from tloesepetitors could materially and adversely affagtlease rates. In addition, we may not be
able to renew existing customer leases or entemietv customer leases, resulting in a material@évienpact on our results of operations
growth rate. Increasing competition could also mhleeacquisition of high quality tower assets nawstly, or limit the acquisition
opportunities altogether. Any of these factors dauhterially and adversely affect our businessylte®f operations or financial condition.

The site development segment of our industry is aldremely competitive. There are numerous largesmall companies that offer
one or more of the services offered by our siteettijyment business. As a result of this competitivargins in this segment continue to be
under pressure. Many of our competitors have lawerhead expenses and therefore may be able ta@prservices at prices that we
consider unprofitable. If margins in this segmeetavto further decrease, our consolidated revesm@our site development segment
operating profit could be adversely affected.
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Our debt instruments contain restrictive covenants that could adversely affect our business by limiting our flexibility.

Our Credit Agreement contains certain restrictigeenants. Among other things, these covenants tigri@ability to:
 incur indebtedness above a certain le

» sell assets

* make certain investment

* engage in mergers or consolidatio

* incur liens; anc

 enter into affiliate transaction

These covenants could place us at a disadvantaggared to some of our competitors which may hawefeestrictive covenants and
may not be required to operate under these rastrictFurther, these covenants could have an agledfiesct on our business by limiting our
ability to take advantage of financing, new towevelopment, merger and acquisitions or other oppdrés. If we fail to comply with these
covenants, it could result in an event of defantler the Credit Agreement. In addition, if we ddffauthe payment of our other indebtedn
including under our 2010 Tower Securities and aues, then such default could cause a cross-defadér our Credit Agreement.

The mortgage loan relating to our 2010 Tower Séiesralso contains financial covenants that reghia¢ the mortgage loan borrowers
maintain, on a consolidated basis, a minimum dettice coverage ratio. To the extent that the debtice coverage ratio, as of the end of
any calendar quarter, falls to 1.30x or lower, th#titash flow in excess of amounts required to endébt service payments, to fund required
reserves, to pay management fees and budgetedingexgpenses and to make other payments requiréer uhe loan documents, referred to
as “excess cash flomyill be deposited into a reserve account instedukaig released to the Borrowers. The funds inmékerve account w
not be released to the Borrowers unless the deliteecoverage ratio exceeds 1.30x for two conseewhlendar quarters. If the debt service
coverage ratio falls below 1.15x as of the endnyf @alendar quarter, then an “amortization periwd’commence and all funds on deposit in
the reserve account will be applied to prepay tbhetgage loan until such time that the debt sergmeerage ratio exceeds 1.15x for a cale
quarter. As lease payments from 3,670 tower shesiototal tower portfolio are pledged as collatamder the mortgage loan, if this cash
flow was not available to us it could adversely aopour ability to pay our indebtedness, other th@mortgage loan, and to operate our
business.

Our dependence on our subsidiaries for cash flow may negatively affect our business.

We are a holding company with no business opermatidrour own. Our only significant asset is, andxpected to be, the outstanding
capital stock and membership interests of our sligrsés. We conduct, and expect to continue comagcall of our business operations
through our subsidiaries. Accordingly, our abilibypay our obligations is dependent upon divideantt$ other distributions from our
subsidiaries to us. Most of our indebtedness isdosirectly by our subsidiaries, including the maigg loan underlying the 2010 Tower
Securities, the 2016 Notes, the 2019 Notes, thjmTeran and any amounts that we may borrow undeRéwolving Credit Facility.
Consequently, the first use of any cash flow frgmarations generated by such subsidiaries will lyengaits of interest and principal, if any,
under their respective indebtedness. Other than the
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cash required to repay amounts due under our odtisig convertible notes, we currently expect thdissantially all the earnings and cash
flow of our subsidiaries will be retained and uggdhem in their operations, including servicingittrespective debt obligations. The ability
of our operating subsidiaries to pay dividendsansfer assets to us is restricted by applicable $aw and contractual restrictions, including
the terms of their outstanding debt instruments.

We are not profitable and expect to continue to incur losses.
We are not profitable. The following chart shows ttet losses we incurred for the periods indicated:

For the year ended December 31,

2009 2010 2011
(in thousands)
Net loss $(141,119  $(194,42)  $(126,89)

Our losses are principally due to depreciation, imetion and accretion expenses, interest exp@nskiding non-cash interest expense
and amortization of deferred financing fees), amssés from the extinguishment of debt as well gmirment charges on our towers in the
periods presented above. We expect to continugcte significant losses, which may affect our &pito service our indebtedness.

The loss of the services of certain of our key personnel or a significant number of our employees may negatively affect our business.
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Our success depends to a significant extent updorpgnce and active participation of our key parss. We cannot guarantee that we
will be successful in retaining the services osthkey personnel. We have employment agreemertisleffrey A. Stoops, our President and
Chief Executive Officer, Kurt L. Bagwell, our Prdent — International, Thomas P. Hunt, our Senia@e\Rresident, Chief Administrative
Officer and General Counsel, and Brendan T. Cavanag Senior Vice President and Chief Financidlg®f. We do not have employment
agreements with any of our other key personnalelfvere to lose any key personnel, we may not ketalfind an appropriate replacement
on a timely basis and our results of operationddcbe negatively affected. Further, the loss obaificant number of employees or our
inability to hire a sufficient number of qualifieanployees could have a material adverse effecuobuwasiness.

Our businessis subject to government regulations and changesin current or future regulations could harm our business.

We are subject to federal, state and local reguiaif our business, both in the U.S. and intermatig. In the U.S., both the Federal
Aviation Administration (“FAA”) and the FCC regukathe construction, modification and maintenancanénna towers and structures that
support wireless communications and radio and igtav antennas. In addition, the FCC separategnbes and regulates wireless
communications equipment and television and raiditioms operating from such towers and structledg\ and FCC regulations govern
construction, lighting, painting and marking of ten& and structures and may, depending on the dhéagtics of the tower or structure,
require registration of the tower or structure.t@i@rproposals to construct new towers or strustore¢o modify existing towers or structures
are reviewed by the FAA to ensure that the towestiurcture will not present a hazard to air navarat

Antenna tower owners and antenna structure ownayshave an obligation to mark or paint towers oucttires or install lighting to
conform to FAA and FCC regulations and to maintioh marking, painting and lighting. Antenna towemers and antenna structure
owners may also bear the responsibility of notifyihe FAA of any lighting outages. Certain propegaloperate wireless communications
and radio or television stations from antenna teveard structures are also reviewed by the FCCdorercompliance with environmental
impact requirements. Failure to comply with exigtor future applicable requirements may lead td penalties or other liabilities and may
subject us to significant indemnification liability our customers against any such failure to cgnipladdition, new regulations may impose
additional costly burdens on us, which may affestrevenues and cause delays in our growth.

Local regulations, including municipal or local ara@nces, zoning restrictions and restrictive comémanposed by community
developers, vary greatly, but typically requireeamita tower and structure owners to obtain appfoeal local officials or community
standards organizations prior to tower or structamgstruction or modification. Local regulationsiatelay, prevent, or increase the cost of
new construction, co-locations, or site upgrades,eby limiting our ability to respond to custondemand. In addition, new regulations may
be adopted that increase delays or result in additicosts to us. Furthermore, with respect tomernational new builds, our tower
construction may be delayed or halted as a re$ldtal zoning restrictions, inconsistencies betwksavs or other barriers to construction in
international markets. These factors could havaternial adverse effect on our future growth and-aipens.

Our towers are subject to damage from natural disasters.

Our towers are subject to risks associated withrahtlisasters such as tornadoes, hurricanes atijeakes. We maintain insurance to
cover the estimated cost of replacing damaged mweert these insurance policies are subject toliimés and deductibles. We also maintain
third party liability insurance, subject to lossits and deductibles, to protect us in the evemtroficcident involving a tower. A tower
accident for which we are uninsured or underinsuoediamage to a significant number of our toweosild require us to incur significant
expenditures and may have a material adverse @ffectr operations or financial condition.

19



Table of Contents

To the extent that we are not able to meet ourraotual obligations to our customers, due to amahtlisaster or other catastrophic
circumstances, our customers may not be obligatedliing to pay their lease expenses; howeverweeld be required to continue paying
our fixed expenses related to the affected towetuding ground lease expenses. If we are unabigett our contractual obligations to our
customers for a material portion of our towers, gperations could be materially and adversely éfic

Our quarterly operating resultsfor our site development services fluctuate and therefore we may not be able to adjust our cost structure on
atimely basiswith regard to such fluctuations.

The demand for our site development services fatetifrom quarter to quarter and should not beidered indicative of long-term
results. Numerous factors cause these fluctuatinaiding:

« the timing and amount of our custon’ capital expenditure:
« the size and scope of our projec

 the business practices of customers, such as mefeosmmitments on new projects until after the efithe calendar year or the
customer’ fiscal year;

» delays relating to a project or tenant installatibequipment

» seasonal factors, such as weather, vacation day®tai business days in a quar
* the use of third party providers by our custom

« the rate and volume of wireless service provi' network development; ar

» general economic conditior

Although the demand for our site development sesvituctuates, we incur significant fixed costg;lsas maintaining a staff and office
space, in anticipation of future contracts. In &ddi the timing of revenues is difficult to foretdbecause our sales cycle may be relatively
long. Therefore, we may not be able to adjust ost structure on a timely basis to respond to lthafations in demand for our site
development services.

We could have liability under environmental laws that could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results
of operations.

Our operations, like those of other companies eadag similar businesses, are subject to the rements of various federal, state, Ic
and foreign environmental and occupational safatytaealth laws and regulations, including thosatirej to the management, use, storage,
disposal, emission and remediation of, and expasuyteazardous and non-hazardous substances, atstarid wastes. As owner, lessee or
operator of numerous tower sites, we may be litdrlsubstantial costs of remediating soil and gowaater contaminated by hazardous
materials, without regard to whether we, as theawiessee or operator, knew of or were responfibldhe contamination. We may be
subject to potentially significant fines or pengtif we fail to comply with any of these requirertee The current cost of complying with
these laws is not material to our financial comuditor results of operations. However, the requirgsef these laws and regulations are
complex, change frequently, and could become norggent in the future. It is possible that thesguirements will change or that liabilities
will arise in the future in a manner that could @avmaterial adverse effect on our business, finhoondition and results of operations.

Our articles of incorporation, our bylaws and Florida law provide for anti-takeover provisions that could make it more difficult for a third
party to acquire us.

Provisions of our articles of incorporation, outdws and Florida law could make it more difficudt fa third party to acquire us, even if
doing so would be beneficial to our shareholdeh&sE provisions, alone or in combination with eattter, may discourage transactions
involving actual or potential changes of controtluding transactions that otherwise could invgagment of a premium over prevailing
market prices to holders of our Class A commonkstoccould limit the ability of our shareholdessdpprove transactions that they may
deem to be in their best interests.

We could suffer adverse tax and other financial consequencesif taxing authorities do not agree with our tax positions, or we are unable to
utilize our net operating losses.

We are periodically subject to a number of tax exations by taxing authorities in the states anghtdes where we do business. We
also have significant deferred tax assets relatealit net operating losses (“NOLs”) in U.S. fedenadl state taxing jurisdictions. Generally,
for U.S. federal and state tax purposes, NOLs eacelried forward and used for up to twenty yeans, all of our tax years will remain
subject to examination until three years after@Ls are used or expire. We expect that we willticwre to be subject to tax examinations in
the future. In addition, U.S. federal, state armhlpas well as international, tax laws and redutst are extremely complex and subject to
varying interpretations. We recognize tax benafitancertain tax positions when we believe the tpmss are more likely than not of being
sustained upon a challenge by the relevant tayodtithWe believe our judgments in this area assomable and correct, but there is no
guarantee that we will be successful if challenigga tax authority. If there are tax benefits, imtthg from our use of NOLs or other tax
attributes, that are challenged successfully axag authority, we may be required to pay addidldaxes or we may seek to enter into
settlements with the taxing authorities, which dowquire significant payments or otherwise haveaterial adverse effect on our business,
results of operations and financial conditi
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In addition, we may be limited in our ability talite our NOLs to offset future taxable income dhdreby reduce our otherwise pay:
income taxes. We have substantial federal and St@tes, including significant portions obtained thgh acquisitions and dispositions, as
well as those generated through our historic bgsimperations. In addition, we have disposed ofesemtities and restructured other entities
in conjunction with financing transactions and othesiness activities.

To the extent we believe that a position with respe an NOL is not more likely than not to be sirg¢d, we do not record the related
deferred tax asset. In addition, for NOLs that ntketrecognition threshold, we assess the recolityalf the NOL and establish a valuation
allowance against the deferred tax asset relatdtetdlOL if recoverability is questionable. Givéretuncertainty surrounding the
recoverability of certain of our NOLs, we have éfithed a valuation allowance to offset the relateférred tax asset so as to reflect what we
believe to be the recoverable portion of our NOLs.

Our ability to utilize our NOLs is also dependeantpart, upon us having sufficient future earnitgsitilize our NOLs before they
expire. If market conditions change materially araldetermine that we will be unable to generatécennt taxable income in the future to
utilize our NOLs, we could be required to recordaaitional valuation allowance. We review our ut&i@ tax position and the valuation
allowance for our NOLs periodically and make adjuehts from time to time, which can result in arréase or decrease to the net deferred
tax asset related to our NOLs. Our NOLs are alggestito review and potential disallowance uponitlogthe taxing authorities of the
jurisdictions where the NOLs were incurred, andifetchanges in tax laws or interpretations of gagHaws could limit materially our abilit
to utilize our NOLs. If we are unable to use ourld®r use of our NOLs is limited, we may have tdmaignificant payments or otherwise
record charges or reduce our deferred tax asshbishwould have a material adverse effect on osimass, results of operations and financial
condition.

Our issuance of equity securities and other associated transactions may trigger a future ownership change which may negatively impact
our ability to utilize net operating loss deferred tax assetsin the future.

The issuance of equity securities and other assatisansactions may increase the chance that ihave a future ownership change
under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Cod®861We may also have a future ownership changsidauof our control, caused by fut
equity transactions by our current shareholderpeRding on our market value at the time of suchrlubwnership change, an ownership
change under Section 382 could negatively impachbility to utilize our net operating loss defaftax assets in the event we generate fi
taxable income. Currently, we have recorded availlation allowance against our net operating tteferred tax asset because we have
concluded that our loss history indicates that it “more likely than not” that such deferred tessets will be realized.

Future sales of our Class A common stock in the public market or the issuance of other equity may cause dilution or adversely affect the
market price of our Class A common stock and our ability to raise fundsin new equity or equity-related offerings.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of ours@lasommon stock or other equity-related securitigbe public market, including
sales by any selling shareholder or conversioh@iNotes, could depress the market price of ousLAacommon stock and impair our abi
to raise capital through the sale of additionaliyogecurities.

Our costs could increase and our revenues could decrease due to perceived health risksfrom RF energy.

The U.S. government imposes requirements and gthidelines relating to exposure to RF energy. Expoto high levels of RF ener:
can cause negative health effects. The potentraiexion between exposure to low levels of RF gnargl certain negative health effects,
including some forms of cancer, has been the subjfec
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substantial study by the scientific community inewet years. According to the FCC, the results e$¢hstudies to date have been inconclusive
However, public perception of possible health rigksociated with cellular and other wireless comoations media could slow the growtr
wireless companies, which could in turn slow owvgth. In particular, negative public perceptionarid regulations regarding, health risks
could cause a decrease in the demand for wiretessmanications services. Moreover, if a connectietwieen exposure to low levels of RF
energy and possible negative health effects, imetudancer, were demonstrated, we could be sutgeaimerous claims. If we were subject
to claims relating to exposure to RF energy, e¥ench claims were not ultimately found to have itmeur financial condition could be
materially and adversely affected.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We are headquartered in Boca Raton, Florida, wivereurrently lease approximately 73,000 squaredteffice space. This lease
expires February 28, 2022. We have entered intg-term leases for regional and certain site devetopt office locations where we expect
our activities to be longer-term. We open and clusgect offices from time to time in connectiorthvour site development business. We
believe our existing facilities are adequate far @urrent and planned levels of operations anddbditional office space suited for our needs
is reasonably available in the markets within whighoperate.

Our interests in towers are comprised of a vardtige interests, leasehold interests created hy-term lease agreements, perpetual
easements, easements and licenses or rights-ofsaated by government entities. For the quarteeérziecember 31, 2011, approximately
70.0% of our tower sites were located on parcelarad that we own, land subject to perpetual eas&sner parcels of land that have a
leasehold interest that extends beyond 20 yeaesaVlrage remaining life under our ground leaset)ding renewal options under our
control, has been extended to 33 years. In rueglsara wireless communications site typically csinsdf up to a 10,000 square foot tract,
which supports towers, equipment shelters andeglatuipment. Less than 2,500 square feet is edjfor a monopole or self-supporting
tower structure of the kind typically used in mgititan areas for wireless communications towesssiLand leases generally have an initial
term of five years with five or more additional antatic renewal periods of five years, for a tofahhirty years or more.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are involved in various legal proceedings retatb claims arising in the ordinary course of hass. We do not believe that the
ultimate resolution of these matters will have darial adverse effect on our business, financiab@mn, results of operations or liquidity.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.
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PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELA TED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market for our Class A Common Stock

Our Class A common stock commenced trading unagesymbol “SBAC” on The NASDAQ National Market Syst®n June 16, 1999.
We now trade on the NASDAQ Global Select Markesegment of the NASDAQ Global Market, formally knoasthe NASDAQ National
Market System.

The following table presents the high and low salése for our Class A common stock for the periodBcated:

High Low
Quarter ended December 31, 2011 $43.1% $32.3¢
Quarter ended September 30, 2! $40.1:¢ $32.7¢
Quarter ended June 30, 2C $40.3¢ $36.1(
Quarter ended March 31, 20 $44.4¢ $36.3¢
Quarter ended December 31, 2( $41.2¢ $36.3¢
Quarter ended September 30, 2 $40.6( $33.0¢
Quarter ended June 30, 2C $37.0: $30.43
Quarter ended March 31, 20 $37.12 $30.6¢

As of February 16, 2012, there were 118 recordérsldf our Class A common stock.

Dividends

We have never paid a dividend on any class of comsback and anticipate that we will retain futuegrengs, if any, to fund the
development and growth of our business. Conseqguemd do not anticipate paying cash dividends an@ass A common stock in the
foreseeable future.

Equity Compensation Plan

Equity Compensation Plan Information
(in thousands except exercise price)
Number of Securities Remaini

Number of Securities to Weighted Average Exerci Available for Future Issuanc

Issued Upon Exercise Price of Outstandin Under Equity Compensatic

Outstanding Option: Options, Warrants ar Plans (Excluding Securitie

Warrants and Right Rights Reflected in first column (a
(@ (b) (©)

Equity compensation plans approved by
security holder:
2001 Plar 3,110 $ 24,7/ — @
2010 Plar 7142 $ 33.720 14,28
Equity compensation plans not approvec
security holder: — —

Total 383 $ 26.41 14,28«
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@ Included in the number of securities in columnigagpproximately 86,000 restricted stock units,alitfiave no exercise price. The
weighted average exercise price of outstandingogtiwarrants and rights (excluding restrictedistouts) is $25.43

@ Included in the number of securities in columnigadpproximately 139,000 restricted stock unitsiclvthave no exercise price. The
weighted average exercise price of outstandingogtiwarrants and rights (excluding restrictedlstouts) is $41.8

®  This plan has been terminated and we are no lceliggble to issue shares pursuant to the
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following table sets forth selected historitahncial data as of and for each of the five yearded December 31, 2011. The
financial data for the fiscal years ended 2007 82@009, 2010, and 2011 have been derived fronaodited consolidated financial
statements. You should read the information se foelow in conjunction with our “Management’s Dission and Analysis of Financial

Condition and Results of Operations” and our cadatéd financial statements and the related notésose consolidated financial statements

included in this Form 10-K.

Operating data:
Revenues:
Site leasing
Site developmer
Total revenue

Operating expenses

For the year ended December 31,

Cost of revenues (exclusive of depreciation, agmmeind amortization

shown below)
Cost of site leasin
Cost of site developme
Selling, general and administrati
Acquisition related expens:
Asset impairmen
Depreciation, accretion and amortizat

Total operating expens
Operating income

Other income (expense):
Interest incom:
Interest expens
Non-cash interest expen
Amortization of deferred financing fe
(Loss) gain from extinguishment of debt,
Other income (expens

Total other expens
Loss before provision for income taxe
Provision for income taxe

Net loss
Net loss (income) attributable to the noncontrgllinteres:

Net loss attributable to SBA Communications Corporéion

Net loss per common share attributable to SBA Comioations
Corporation:

Basic and dilutes

Basic and diluted weighted average number of comsinaines

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
(audited) (audited) (audited) (audited) (audited)
(in thousands, except for per share data)
$321,81¢ $39554. $477,000 $53544: $616,29:

86,38 79,41 78,50¢ 91,17t 81,87¢
408,20 474,95 555,51 626,61¢ 698,17(
88,00¢ 96,17 111,84: 119,14: 131,91¢
75,34 71,99( 68,70! 80,30! 71,00¢
45,56¢ 48,72 52,78¢ 58,20¢ 62,82¢

5 12C 4,81(C 10,10¢ 7,14

— 921 3,88¢ 5,86z 5,472
169,23. 211,44! 258,53 278,72 309,14t
378,15 429,37. 500,55¢ 552,34t 587,51
30,047 45,58 54,95/ 74,27: 110,65¢
10,18: 6,88: 1,12: 432 13¢€
(93,069  (105,32)  (130,85) (149,92 (160,89
(13,407) (33,309 (49,89) (60,070 (63,629
(8,167) (10,746 (10,456 (9,099 (9,18¢)
(431) 44,26 (5,667 (49,060 (1,69¢)
(15,777 (13,479 16 29 (165)
(120,65) (111,709  (195,58) (267,689 (235,43
(90,60¢) (66,127 (140,627 (193,419 (124,779
(86¢) (1,03)) (492) (1,00%) (2,119
(91,474 (67,164 (141,119  (194,42)  (126,89)
= - 24¢ (257) 43€

$ (91,479 $ (67,169 $(140,87) $(194,67) $(126,45()
$ (087) $ (061 $ (120 $ (168 $ (1L.19
104,74: 109,88: 117,16! 115,59: 111,59!
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As of December 31,
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
(audited) (audited) (audited) (audited) (audited)
(in thousands)

Balance Sheet Data

Cash and cash equivalel $ 70,27 $ 78,85¢ $ 161,31 $ 64,25« $ 47,31¢
Shor-term investment 55,14 162 5,352 4,01¢€ 5,77:
Restricted cas- current® 37,60: 38,59¢ 30,28¢ 29,45¢ 22,26¢
Property and equipment, r 1,191,96! 1,502,67. 1,496,93! 1,534,311 1,583,39
Intangibles, ne 868,99¢ 1,425,13. 1,435,59 1,500,01. 1,639,78
Total asset 2,382,86. 3,207,82! 3,313,641 3,400,17! 3,606,39!
Total debt 1,844,57. 2,392,23I 2,489,05I 2,827,45 3,354,48!
Total shareholde’ equity (deficit)@® 396,35 650,511 599,94¢ 317,11( (12,319
For the year ended December 31,
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
(audited) (audited) (audited) (audited) (audited)
(in thousands)

Other Data:
Cash provided by (used ir

Operating activitie: $ 122,93 $ 173,691 $ 222,57. $ 201,14 $ 249,05

Investing activities (301,889) (580,54 (229,07 (425,039 (507,889

Financing activitie: 203,07 415,43 88,97¢ 126,82: 242,04

(1)

()

Restricted cash of $22.3 million as of DecenBer2011 consisted of $21.4 million related to@Tbwer Securities loan requirements
and $0.9 million related to surety bonds issuedforbenefit. Restricted cash of $29.5 million &®ecember 31, 2010 consisted of
$28.6 million related to 2010 Tower Securities loaquirements and $0.9 million related to suretydmissued for our benefit.
Restricted cash of $30.3 million as of December2BD9 consisted of $29.1 million related to CMBSriage loan requirements and
$1.2 million related to surety bonds issued for lnemefit. Restricted cash of $38.6 million as ot&mber 31, 2008 consisted of $36.2
million related to CMBS Mortgage loan requiremeautsl $2.4 million related to surety bonds issuedfarbenefit. Restricted cash of
$37.6 million as of December 31, 2007 consistefi3&.3 million related to CMBS Mortgage loan reqoients and $2.3 million related
to surety bonds issued for our bene

Includes deferred loss from the terminatiomioie interest rate swap agreements of $4.3 mii®of December 31, 2009, $7.4 million
as of December 31, 2008 and $10.2 million as ofebdwer 31, 2007. Includes deferred gain from thmiteation of two interest rate
swap agreements of $5.9 million as of DecembelB@8 and $8.9 million as of December 31, 2(
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion of our financial conditiand results of operations should be read in codijiom with the information
contained in our consolidated financial statemearid the notes thereto. The following discussiotuthes forward-looking statements that
involve certain risks and uncertainties, includifbgt not limited to, those described in Item 1AkRtactors. Our actual results may differ
materially from those discussed below. See “Spédtidé Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” andnlttA. Risk Factors.

We are a leading independent owner and operatweirefess communications towers. Our principal opers are in the United States
and its territories. In addition, we own towergJanada, Costa Rica, El Salvador, Guatemala, Nigaragd Panama. Our primary business
line is our site leasing business, which contridwpproximately 97.8% of our total segment opegagirofit for the year ended December 31,
2011. In our site leasing business, we lease aatgpace to wireless service providers on towerso#mer structures that we own, manage or
lease from others. The towers that we own have besstructed by us at the request of a wirelesscgeprovider, built or constructed based
on our own initiative or acquired. As of Decembér 3011, we owned 10,524 tower sites, the subsiantjority of which have been built by
us or built by other tower owners or operators wike, us, have built such towers to lease spacatthiple wireless service providers. As of
December 31, 2011, we also managed or leased apyaisty 4,800 actual or potential communicatiortisssiapproximately 500 of which
were revenue producing as of December 31, 2011 o@er business line is our site development bgsinrough which we assist wireless
service providers in developing and maintainingrtben wireless service networks.

Site Leasing Services

Our primary focus is the leasing of antenna spaceus multi-tenant towers to a variety of wirelsgsvice providers under long-term
lease contracts. Site leasing revenues are recpiv@drily from wireless service provider tenanmgluding AT&T, Sprint, Verizon Wireless
and T-Mobile. Wireless service providers enter imionerous different tenant leases with us, eaethadh relates to the lease or use of space
at an individual tower site. Tenant leases are igdligefor an initial term of five years with five-ear renewal periods at the option of the
tenant. These tenant leases typically contain ipeent escalators, which average 3-4% per yeatuding the renewal option periods.
Tenant leases are generally paid on a monthly basisevenue from site leasing is recorded morthlg straight-line basis over the current
term of the related lease agreements. Rental amoecived in advance are recorded in deferrechteve

Cost of site leasing revenue primarily consists of:

» Rental payments on ground and other underlyinggtgpeases

« Straightfine rent adjustment for the difference betweenalgmayments made and the expense recorded aspayments had be
made evenly throughout the lease term (which meludte renewal terms) of the underlying propertygsées

* Property taxes

» Site maintenance and monitoring costs (exclusivengbloyee related cost:
» Utilities;

» Property insurance; ar

» Deferred lease origination cost amortizati
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Ground leases are generally for an initial terrfivef years or more with multiple renewal terms ig&fyear periods at our option and
provide for rent escalators which typically aver8g4% annually or provide for term escalators giragimately 15%. For the quarter ended
December 31, 2011, approximately 70.0% of our tasitess were located on parcels of land that we davd subject to perpetual easement,
or parcels of land in which we have a leaseholeréast that extends beyond 20 years. For any goxgeart costs are relatively fixed over a
monthly or an annual time period. As such, opegatiosts for owned towers do not generally increesa result of adding additional
customers to the tower. The amount of direct casseciated with operating a tower varies fromtsitsite depending on the tax jurisdiction
and the height and age of the tower. The ongoingteraance requirements are typically minimal ardude replacing lighting systems,
painting a tower or repairing an access road arifen

As indicated in the table below, our site leasingibess generates substantially all of our totgirent operating profit. For information
regarding our operating segments, see Note 22rofonsolidated Financial Statements included is #éimnual report.

Revenues
For the year ended December 31,
2009 2010 2011
(in thousands)
Site leasing revent $477,000 $535,44« $616,29:
Total revenue $555,51: $626,61¢ $698,17(
Site leasing revenue percentage of total reve 85.5% 85.4% 88.5%

Segment Operating Profit
For the year ended December 31,

2009 2010 2011
(in thousands)
Site leasing segment operating pri $365,16! $416,30: $484,37¢
Total segment operating pro® $374,97( $427,17 $495,24¢
Site leasing segment operating profit percentagetaf segment
operating profi@ 97.4% 97.5% 97.8%

(1) Site leasing segment operating profit and te¢égiment operating profit are non-GAAP financiabswes. We reconcile these measures
and other Regulation G disclosures in this anregbrt in the section entitled N-GAPP Financial Measure

We believe that over the long-term, site leasingeneies will continue to grow as wireless serviaavjoters lease additional antenna
space on our towers due to increasing minutestefark use and data transfer, network expansiomatdork coverage requirements. We
believe our site leasing business is charactetigestable and long-term recurring revenues, prabietoperating costs and minimal non-
discretionary capital expenditures. Due to thetinedy young age and mix of our tower portfolio, expect future expenditures required to
maintain these towers to be minimal. Consequenttyexpect to grow our cash flows by adding tentmtsur towers at minimal incremental
costs by using existing tower capacity or requinvicgless service providers to bear all or a partdthe cost of tower modifications.
Furthermore, because our towers are strategica#liitipned and our customers typically do not reieceve have historically experienced low
tenant lease terminations as a percentage of revenu
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Site Development Services

Our site development business is complementarytsite leasing business and provides us the yabilikeep in close contact
with the wireless service providers who generabestntially all of our site leasing revenue anddpture ancillary revenues that are
generated by our site leasing activities, suchhéarnma and equipment installation at our towertiooa. Site development services revenues
are received primarily from providing a full rangeend to end services to wireless service progidercompanies providing development or
project management services to wireless serviceigeos. We principally perform services for thirdrpes in our core, historical areas of
wireless expertise, specifically, site acquisitinoning, technical services and construction. @erdevelopment business consists of two
segments, site development consulting and sitelal@wveent construction.

Our site development customers engage us on acptojeproject basis and a customer can generaliyitate an assignment at
any time without penalty. Site development projelbtith consulting and construction, include cortran a time and materials basis or a
fixed price basis. The majority of our site devetamt services are billed on a fixed price basimelrand materials based site development
contracts are billed and revenue is recognizedmractual rates as the services are renderedsi@utevelopment projects generally take
from three to twelve months to complete. For thaisedevelopment consulting contracts in which wegrm work on a fixed price basis, we
recognize revenue based on the completion of agreed phases of the project on a per site basis.

Our revenue from site development constructionreeis is recognized on the percentage-of-completiethod of accounting,
determined by the percentage of cost incurred t® clampared to management’s estimated total costafth contract. This method is used
because management considers total cost to beefi@bailable measure of progress on the contrBicese amounts are based on estimates,
and the uncertainty inherent in the estimatesailhjtis reduced as work on the contracts nears tetiop. Revenue from our site development
construction business may fluctuate from periogenod depending on construction activities, whach a function of the timing and amount
of our clients’ capital expenditures, the numbet aignificance of active customer engagements dwiperiod, weather and other factors.

Cost of site development consulting revenue andtcoction revenue includes all costs of matergddaries and labor costs, including
payroll taxes, subcontract labor, vehicle expemskather costs directly and indirectly relatedhe projects. All costs related to site
development consulting contracts and constructmnracts are recognized as incurred.

The table below provides the percentage of totadpamy revenues contributed by site developmenicwover the last three years.
information regarding our operating segments, sete 82 of our Consolidated Financial Statementsidex in this annual report.

Percentage of Revenues
For the year ended December 31,

2009 2010 2011
(in thousands)

Site development consultir $ 17,40¢ $ 19,21( $ 17,27:

Site development constructi $ 61,09¢ $ 71,96 $ 64,60

Total revenue $555,51: $626,61¢ $698,17(

Site development consulting revenue percentagetal 3.1% 3.1% 2.5%

Site development construction revenue percentagetalf 11.(% 11.5% 9.2%
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International Operations

As of December 31, 2011, we had operations in Can@dsta Rica, El Salvador, Nicaragua, GuatemalePamama. Our operations in
these countries are solely in the site leasingnassi, and we expect to expand operations througtbuiéds and acquisitions. Tenant lease
the Canadian market typically have similar termd eonditions as those in the United States, witmaial term of five years, and specific
rent escalators. Tenant leases in Central Ameyfiadlly have a ten year initial term with simil@newal terms and rent escalators as tho
the United States and Canada.

In our Central American markets, significantly @llour revenue, expenses, and capital expendituigisg from our new build activitit
are denominated in U.S. dollars. Specifically, ground leases, our tenant leases and most of wer t@lated expenses are due, and paid, in
U.S. dollars. In our Central American markets, logal currency obligations are principally limiteal (1) permitting and other local fees,

(2) utilities and (3) taxes. In our Canadian operet, significantly all of our revenue, expensed eapital expenditures, including tenant
leases, ground leases and other tower-related sgpeare denominated in Canadian dollars.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

We have identified the policies and significaniraation processes below as critical to our busio@esations and the understanding of
our results of operations. The listing is not imted to be a comprehensive list. In many casegdbeunting treatment of a particular
transaction is specifically dictated by accountimigciples generally accepted in the United Stakéth, no need for management’s judgment
in their application. In other cases, managemerggsired to exercise judgment in the applicatibaczounting principles with respect to
particular transactions. The impact and any assatigsks related to these policies on our busingssations is discussed throughout
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan€ahdition and Results of Operations” where suclicigs affect reported and expected
financial results. For a detailed discussion onathglication of these and other accounting policsege Note 2 of our Consolidated Financial
Statements for the year ended December 31, 20dlidied herein. Our preparation of our financiatesteents requires us to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amouasséts and liabilities, disclosure of contingestetsand liabilities at the date of our
financial statements, and the reported amountewaue and expenses during the reporting periodealyement bases its estimates on
historical experience and on various other assumgtihat are believed to be reasonable under thenecstances. There can be no assurance
that actual results will not differ from those estites and such differences could be significant.

Revenue Recognition and Accounts Receivable

Revenue from site leasing is recorded monthly asdgnized on a straight-line basis over the cutesnt of the related lease
agreements, which are generally five years. Reb&#gaecorded related to the straight-lining of $itases are reflected in other assets on the
Consolidated Balance Sheets. Rental amounts retiiadvance are recorded as deferred revenueecBdhsolidated Balance Sheets.

Site development projects in which we perform cdiirsy services include contracts on a time and ntebasis or a fixed price basis.
Time and materials based contracts are billed @iractual rates as the services are renderedhbse tsite development contracts in whicl
perform work on a fixed price basis, site developtriz@lling (and revenue recognition) is based an¢bmpletion of agreed upon phases of
the project on a per site basis. Upon the complaifceach phase on a per site basis, we recogmzevenue related to that phase. Site
development projects generally take from 3 to 12iti®to complete.

Revenue from construction projects is recognizetherpercentage-of-completion method of accountiletermined by the percentage
of cost incurred to date compared to managemesitimated total cost for each contract. This metkaged because management considers
total cost to be the best available measure of
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progress on the contracts. These amounts are basestimates, and the uncertainty inherent in shienates initially is reduced as work on
the contracts nears completion. The asset “costestimated earnings in excess of billings on unaetad contracts” represents costs
incurred and revenues recognized in excess of ammdilled. The liability “billings in excess of cesand estimated earnings on uncompleted
contracts,” included within other current liab#isi on our Consolidated Balance Sheets, represdirtgsin excess of costs incurred and
revenues recognized. Provisions for estimated sossaincompleted contracts are made in the pamiadhich such losses are determined to
be probable.

On October 31, 2011, we entered into a Master Ammemd with one of our wireless service provider oostrs. The Master
Amendment serves as a separate amendment to efabual existing tenant lease agreement that wecarrently a party to with that
customer. Among other items, the Master AmendniBngéxtends the current term of the individual Isag2) permits the customer limited
early termination rights which will be exercisabler a multiyear period, commencing in the second half of 2013 specific number of t
existing leases, (3) allows the customer to makeicespecific equipment changes at the tower sited (4) requires increases to the monthly
lease rates to be paid by the customer. The cus®ewly termination rights are limited with respéo the aggregate number of leases that
may be terminated and the number that may be tatednin any quarter. The specific leases to beitexied early and the timing of such
terminations has not been determined as of theaddhés filing. As a result, for accounting anddincial statement purposes, we have made
assumptions with regard to the leases to be tetedrend the timing of the terminations. We haveiassl that the customer will terminate
the maximum number of leases allowable in eachtguaelecting the highest rental rate leaseseagdhliest allowable dates. We believe that
these assumptions will ensure that only the mininkaown revenue for the pool of leases covered byMhster Agreement will be accrued
on a straight-line basis. Our balance sheet anesent of operations reflect these assumptions atheal leases that the customer terminates
and the timing and number of terminations may oy mat be those that we have identified in our aggtions. We will monitor actual results
and elections under the Master Amendment and renoydlifferences from previously made assumptiona quarterly basis. To the extent
that the actual results materially differ from gmsumptions made, we will disclose the impact eé¢hadjustments.

We perform periodic credit evaluations of our custos. We continuously monitor collections and paytsérom our customers and
maintain an allowance for estimated credit losseset upon our historical experience and any spemiitomer collection issues that we h
identified. Establishing reserves against speaificounts receivable and the overall adequacy oflbmwance is a matter of judgment.

Asset | mpairment

We evaluate the potential impairment of individigslg-lived assets, principally the tower sites. keord an impairment charge when
we believe an investment in towers or intangibke#s or construction-iprocess, has been impaired, such that future unaited cash flown
would not recover the then current carrying valtithe investment in the tower site. We consider yrfactors and make certain assumptions
when making this assessment, including but notéichio: general market and economic conditiongotical operating results, geographic
location, lease-up potential and expected timinigase-up. In addition, we make certain assumpfiodetermining an asset'’s fair value for
purposes of calculating the amount of an impairnebarge. Changes in those assumptions or markdttwos may result in a fair value
which is different from management’s estimatesukaiaidverse changes in market conditions couldtriesiosses or an inability to recover
the carrying value, thereby possibly requiring mpairment charge in the future. In addition, if @agssumptions regarding future undiscour
cash flows and related assumptions are incorrdatuge impairment charge may be required.
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Property Tax Expense

We typically receive notifications and invoicesaimears for property taxes associated with theildengersonal property and real
property used in our site leasing business. Asalttave recognize property tax expense, whickflected as a component of site leasing cost
of revenue, based on our best estimate of antatiattoperty tax payments related to the currenbogewWe consider several factors in
establishing this estimate, including our histdriesel of incurred property taxes, the locatiortled property, our awareness of jurisdictional
property value assessment methods and industitedgtaoperty tax information. If our estimates melijjgg anticipated property tax expenses
are incorrect, a future increase or decreaseeresising cost of revenue may be required.
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
Non-GAAP Financial Measures

This report contains certain non-GAAP measuresudiog Segment Operating Profit and Adjusted EBITDformation. We have
provided below a description of such non-GAAP measua reconciliation of such non-GAAP measurdhéa most directly comparable
GAAP measures and an explanation as to why managartikzes these measures.

Segment Operating Profit:

We believe that Segment Operating Profit is ancaidir of the operating performance of our siteiteaand site development segments
and is used to provide management with the alidityjonitor the operating results and margin of esedgment, while excluding the impact of
depreciation, accretion and amortization, whiclaigely fixed and non-cash in nature. Segment Qimgy&rofit is not intended to be an
alternative measure of revenue or segment gros$is @sadetermined in accordance with GAAP.

For the year ended For the year ended
December 31, Dollar Percentagt December 31, Dollar Percentag
Segment Operating Profit 2011 2010 Change Change 2010 2009 Change Change
(in thousands) (in thousands)

Site leasing $484,37¢ $416,30: $68,07¢ 16.4% $416,30: $365,16! $51,13¢ 14.(%
Site development consultir 4,28¢ 4,23¢ 54 1.2% 4,23¢ 4,17¢ 61 1.5%
Site development constructis 6,582 6,63¢ (57) (0.€%) 6,63¢ 5,631 1,00¢ 17.%

Total $495,24¢ $427,17° $68,07: 15.9% $427,17° $374,97( $52,20" 13.9%

The increase in site leasing segment operatingt@o$68.1 million in 2011 is primarily due to atidnal profit generated by the towers
that we acquired or constructed in the latter bB#010 and subsequent to December 31, 2010, argéaileasing growth from new leases
and contractual rent escalators and lease amenslnéhtcurrent tenants which increased the relegatito reflect additional equipment
added to our towers, control of our site leasingt of revenue and the positive impact of our groleade purchase program.

The increase in site leasing segment operatingt@mo$51.1 million in 2010 is primarily related twlditional profit generated by the
revenues from the towers that we acquired or cocid in the latter half of 2009 and subsequeitecember 31, 2009, organic site leasing
growth from new leases and contractual rent esalaind lease amendments with current tenants vilnickased the related rent to reflect
additional equipment added to our towers in the yaaded December 31, 2010, control of our siteigasost of revenue and the positive
impact of our ground lease purchase program.

Each respective Segment Operating Profit is defasesegment revenues less segment cost of revenwhsding depreciation,
accretion and amortization). Total Segment Opegd®rofit is the total of the operating profits bétthree segments. The reconciliation of
Segment Operating Profit is as follows:

Site leasing segment
For the year ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
(in thousands)
Segment revent $ 616,29« $ 535,44« $ 477,000
Segment cost of revenues (excluding depreciaticeretion and
amortization) (131,919 (119,14) (111,84
Segment operating pro $ 484,37t $ 416,30: $ 365,16!
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Site development consulting segment
For the year ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
(in thousands)
Segment revent $ 17,27: $19,21( $ 17,40¢
Segment cost of revenues (excluding depreciaticeretion and
amortization) (12,984 (14,975 (13,239
Segment operating pro $ 4,28¢ $ 4,23¢ $ 417/

Site development construction segment
For the year ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
(in thousands)
Segment revent $ 64,60: $ 71,96¢ $ 61,09¢
Segment cost of revenues (excluding depreciaticaredion and
amortization) (58,027 (65,326 (55,46
Segment operating pro $ 6,582 $ 6,63¢ $ 5,631

Adjusted EBITDA

We define Adjusted EBITDA as net loss excluding ithpact of net interest expenses, provision foesaxiepreciation, accretion and
amortization, asset impairment and other chargas,cash compensation, net loss from extinguishroedébt, other income and expenses,
acquisition related expenses, non-cash straigbtidiasing revenue and non-cash straight-line gréeask expense.

We believe that Adjusted EBITDA is an indicatortoé financial performance of our core businesseifugied EBITDA is a component
of the calculation that has been used by our lengedetermine compliance with certain covenantieuour Credit Agreement and Senior
Notes. Adjusted EBITDA is not intended to be aeralative measure of operating income or grosstpradigin as determined in accordal

with GAAP.

(1)

The reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA is as follows

For the year ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
(in thousands)

Net loss $(126,89)) $(194,42) $(141,119
Interest incom (13€) (432) (1,127
Interest expens® 233,71 219,09( 191,20t
Depreciation, accretion and amortizat 309,14t 278,72 258,53
Asset impairmen 5,472 5,86z 3,88¢
Provision for taxe( 4,091 2,90¢ 2,20¢
Loss from extinguishment of debt, 1 1,69¢ 49,06( 5,661
Acquisition related expens 7,144 10,10¢ 4,81(
Non-cash compensatic 11,46¢ 10,50: 8,20(
Non-cash straigl-line leasing revenu (12,767) (5,289 (6,176
Non-cash straigl-line ground lease expen 11,81 11,30¢( 12,54:
Other expense (incom 165 (29 (169)

Adjusted EBITDA $ 444,91 $ 387,37¢ $ 338,46¢

Interest expense includes cash interest expens-cash interest expense and amortization of defdimadcing fees
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(2) Includes $1,978, $1,899 and $1,712 of franctases reflected on the Statement of Operatiosglimg, general and administrative
expenses for the year ended 2011, 2010 and 20§}$:aevely.

Adjusted EBITDA was $444.9 million for the year eddDecember 31, 2011 as compared to $387.4 mfliothe year ended
December 31, 2010. The increase of $57.5 milligorimarily the result of increased segment opegapirofit from our site leasing segment.

Adjusted EBITDA was $387.4 million for the year exdDecember 31, 2010 as compared to $338.5 mfiiothe year ended
December 31, 2009. The increase of $48.9 milligorimarily the result of increased segment opegapirofit from our site leasing segment.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Year Ended 2011 Compared to Year Ended 2010

For the year ended December 31, Dollar Percentag¢
2011 2010 Change Change
(in thousands, except for percentages)
Revenues:
Site leasing $ 616,29 $ 535,44 $ 80,85( 15.1%
Site development consultir 17,27: 19,21( (1,939 (10.1%)
Site development constructis 64,60« 71,96t (7,367) (10.2%)
Total revenue 698,17( 626,61¢ 71,55 11.2%
Operating expenses
Cost of revenues (exclusive of depreciation, azmmeind
amortization shown below
Cost of site leasin 131,91¢ 119,14: 12,77¢ 10.7%
Cost of site development consulti 12,98¢ 14,97¢ (2,997 (13.2%)
Cost of site development construct 58,02 65,32¢ (7,30%) (11.29%)
Selling, general and administrati 62,82¢ 58,20¢ 4,61¢ 7.%
Asset impairmen 5,472 5,86% (390 (6.7%)
Acquisition related expens: 7,144 10,10¢ (2,962) (29.2%)
Depreciation, accretion and amortizat 309,14¢ 278,72 30,41¢ 10.€%
Total operating expens 587,51 552,34t 35,16¢ 6.4%
Operating income 110,65¢ 74,27 36,38¢ 49.(%
Other income (expense)
Interest incom 13€ 432 (29€) (68.5%)
Interest expens (160,896 (149,92) (20,97%) 7.2%
Non-cash interest expen (63,629 (60,070 (3,559 5.8%
Amortization of deferred financing fe: (9,18¢) (9,099 (89) 1.C%
Loss from extinguishment of debt, 1 (1,696 (49,060 47,36¢ (96.5%)
Other (expense) incon (165) 29 (194) (669.(%)
Total other expens (235,439 (267,689 32,25! (12.0%)
Loss before provision for income taxes (124,779 (193,416 68,63’ (35.5%)
Provision for income taxe (2,119 (1,005 (1,109¢) 110.2%
Net loss (126,89;) (194,42) 67,52¢ (34.7%)
Net loss (income) attributable to the noncontrgflin
interest 43€ (2593 68¢ (272.2%)
Net loss attributable to SBA Communications Corporion $ (126,456 $ (194,679 $ 68,21¢ (35.0%)
Revenues:

Site leasing revenue increased $80.9 million ferytear ended December 31, 2011 largely due tadgroc site leasing growth from
new leases and contractual rent escalators witlercutenants and lease amendments with currenttendnich increased the related rent to
reflect additional equipment added to our towerd @) revenues from the towers that we acquiredarstructed in the latter half of 2010 ¢

subsequent to December 31, 2010.
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Site development consulting revenue decreasedrillion and site development construction reverdesreased $7.4 million for the
year ended December 31, 2011, as compared to #negded December 31, 2010, as a result of a lealeme of work performed compar
to the prior year.

Operating Expenses:

Site leasing cost of revenues increased $12.8amiffrimarily as a result of the growth in the numbfktower sites owned by us, which
was 10,524 at December 31, 2011 up from 9,111 e¢idber 31, 2010 offset by the positive impact ofground lease purchase program.

Site development consulting cost of revenues deeck$2.0 million and site development constructiost of revenues decreased $7.3
million for the year ended December 31, 2011, aspared to the prior year, as a result of a lowdume of work performed during 2011 as
compared to 2010.

Selling, general, and administrative expenses &szé $4.6 million primarily as a result of an irage in salaries, benefits and other
employee related expenses resulting primarily feohigher number of employees, increased non-casipeasation expense as well as costs
incurred in connection with our international exgian.

Acquisition related expenses decreased $3.0 milbothe year ended December 31, 2011, as comparhe prior year, primarily as a
result of the timing of due diligence and otheruwsiiion related costs for towers acquired or urmmtract in 2011 compared to 2010.

We recognized an asset impairment charge of $3lbmfor the year ended December 31, 2011 and 88l#n for the year ended
December 31, 2010. These asset impairment chaggekad from a reevaluation of future cash flowemtations, using a discounted cash
flow analysis, for those towers that have not aghieexpected lease-up results, compared to thiedehet book value of those towers.

Depreciation, accretion and amortization expenseeased $30.4 million to $309.1 million for the yeaded December 31, 2011 from
$278.7 million for the year ended December 31, 20d®to an increase in the number of towers amitagsd intangible assets owned for
year ended December 31, 2011 compared to thosedoasirizecember 31, 201

Operating Income:

Operating income increased $36.4 million for yeadesd December 31, 2011 to $110.7 million compavekiré.3 million for the year
ended December 31, 2010 primarily due to the reduitgher segment operating profit in the sitesieg segment offset by increases in
depreciation, accretion and amortization expense salling, general and administrative expenses.

Other Income (Expense):

Interest income decreased $0.3 million for the yeated December 31, 2011 compared to the year édelsember 31, 2010 primarily
as a result of a lower amount of investments halihd 2011 compared to 2010.

Interest expense for the year ended December 31, i2@reased $11.0 million from the year ended Déssr 31, 2010 primarily due to
the higher weighted average amount of cash-intéessting debt outstanding driven by an issuan@er@w $500.0 million Term Loan in
June 30, 2011. This increase was offset by a lovegghted average interest rate on borrowings ferytrar ended December 31, 2011 as
compared to the year ended December 31, 2010.
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Non-cash interest expense for the year ended Desredih 2011 increased $3.6 million from the yeateehDecember 31, 2010
primarily as a result of accretion of debt discauming the effective interest method on the 1.8RE#es, the 4.0% Notes, and the Senior
Notes, offset by a reduction of accretion due nalfpayoff of the 0.375% Notes in December of 2(

The loss from extinguishment of debt of $1.7 millfor the year ended December 31, 2011 is assdaidth the repurchase of $15.0
million of the 1.875% Notes in the first quarter2ifl1. The net loss from extinguishment of del$48.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2010 is associated with the repayofehe outstanding balance of $938.6 million impipal of our 2006 CMBS Certificates.

Net Loss:

Net loss was $126.9 million for the year ended Dawer 31, 2011 as compared to $194.4 million foryder ended December 31, 20
The net loss decreased in 2011 primarily due timenrease in site leasing segment operating profitaadecrease in loss from the
extinguishment of debt, offset by increases inrggeexpense, non-cash interest expense, and dgecaccretion and amortization
expense.
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Year Ended 2010 Compared to Year Ended 2009

For the year ended December 31, Dollar Percentag¢
2010 2009 Change Change
(in thousands, except for percentages)
Revenues:
Site leasing $ 535,44« $ 477,000 $ 58,43" 12.2%
Site development consultir 19,21( 17,40¢ 1,80 10.4%
Site development constructis 71,96t 61,09¢ 10,861 17.€%

Total revenue 626,61¢ 555,51 71,10¢ 12.8%

Operating expenses:
Cost of revenues (exclusive of depreciation, atmmeind
amortization shown below

Cost of site leasin 119,14: 111,84: 7,29¢ 6.5%
Cost of site development consulti 14,97¢ 13,23« 1,741 13.2%
Cost of site development construct 65,32¢ 55,467 9,85¢ 17.€%
Selling, general and administrati 58,20¢ 52,78¢ 5,42¢ 10.2%
Asset impairmen 5,86z 3,88¢ 1,97¢ 50.%
Acquisition related expens: 10,10¢ 4,81( 5,29¢ 110.1%
Depreciation, accretion and amortizat 278,72 258,53° 20,19( 7.8%
Total operating expens 552,34t 500,55¢ 51,78 10.2%
Operating income 74,27 54,954 19,31¢ 35.2%
Other income (expense)
Interest incom 432 1,12: (697) (61.5%)
Interest expens (149,92) (130,85 (19,069 14.€%
Non-cash interest expen (60,070 (49,897 (10,179 20.4%
Amortization of deferred financing fe (9,099 (10,456 1,35 (13.(%)
Loss from extinguishment of debt, 1 (49,060 (5,667) (43,399 766.6%
Other income 29 162 (139 (82.2%)
Total other expens (267,689 (195,58) (72,109 36.%
Loss before provision for income taxe (193,416 (140,62 (52,789 37.5%
Provision for income taxe (1,005 (492) (519 104.2%
Net loss (194,42)) (141,119 (53,309 37.8%
Net (gain) loss attributable to the noncontrollintgrest (259 24¢ (507) (202.(%)
Net loss attributable to SBA Communications Corporéon $ (194,679 $ (140,87) $(53,807) 38.2%
Revenues:

Site leasing revenue increased $58.4 million feryear ended December 31, 2010 largely due terues from the towers that we
acquired or constructed in the latter half of 2008ubsequent to December 31, 2009 and (ii) orgsitedeasing growth from new leases and
contractual rent escalators with current tenantslease amendments with current tenants whichasext the related rent in connection with
additional equipment added to our towers.

Site development consulting revenue increasediili®n and site development construction revenneseased $10.9 million for the
year ended December 31, 2010, as compared to #neegded December 31, 2009, as a result of a higtheme of work associated wi
continued network expansion of the wireless casrier
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Operating Expenses:

Site leasing cost of revenues increased $7.3 mipiamarily as a result of the growth in the numbgtower sites owned by us, which
was 9,111 at December 31, 2010 up from 8,324 a¢mber 31, 2009 offset by the positive impact of gnaund lease purchase program.

Site development consulting cost of revenues ira@&1.7 million and site development constructiost of revenues increased $9.9
million for the year ended December 31, 2010, aspared to the prior year, as a result of a higloéunae of work performed during 2010 as
compared to 2009.

Selling, general, and administrative expenses az&é $5.4 million primarily as a result of an irage in salaries, benefits and other
employee related expenses resulting primarily feomigher number of employees, increased non-casipe&asation expense as well as costs
incurred in connection with our international exgian.

Acquisition related expenses increased $5.3 miflarithe year ended December 31, 2010, as compauthe prior year, primarily as a
result of an increase in the number of towers aeduis well as under contract for acquisition dy010 as compared to 2009.

We recognized an asset impairment charge of $3l@mifor the year ended December 31, 2010 and 88li8on for the year ended
December 31, 2009. These asset impairment chaegekad from a reevaluation of (i) future cash flexpectations, using a discounted cash
flow analysis, for those towers (59 towers in 2@0@d 21 towers in 2009) that have not achieved g¢gddeasasp results, compared to (ii) tl
related net book value of those towers. In addjtiba asset impairment charge for 2009 includeirgrairment charge on our six DAS
networks based on their estimated fair value aebdser 31, 2009.

Depreciation, accretion and amortization expenseeased $20.2 million to $278.7 million for the yeaded December 31, 2010 from
$258.5 million for the year ended December 31, 20@9to an increase in the number of towers amitagsd intangible assets owned for
year ended December 31, 2010 compared to thosedoatrizecember 31, 200

Operating Income:

Operating income increased $19.3 million for theryended December 31, 2010 to $74.3 million contprés55.0 million for the year
ended December 31, 2009 primarily due to the reduitgher segment operating profit in the sitesleg segment partially offset by increases
in depreciation, accretion and amortization expgeaseguisition related expenses and selling, gegrdladministrative expenses.

Other Income (Expense):

Interest income decreased $0.7 million for the yeated December 31, 2010 compared to the year édelgember 31, 2009 primarily
as a result of the lower weighted average intesges during 2010 compared to 2009.

Interest expense for the year ended December 30, i2@reased $19.1 million from the year ended Déwr 31, 2009 primarily due to
the higher weighted average amount of cash-int&essting debt outstanding offset by the lower weddraverage interest rate for the year
ended December 31, 2010 as compared to the yead &@etember 31, 2009.

Non-cash interest expense for the year ended Desredih 2010 increased $10.2 million from the yeatesl December 31, 2009
primarily as a result of accretion of debt disceuming the effective interest method on the 1.8R&#¥es, the 4.0% Notes, and the Senior
Notes, offset by the impact of the repurchase dggregate of $107.7 million in principal of th@15% Notes during 2009 and repaymen
the Optasite Credit Facility in July 2009.
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The loss from extinguishment of debt of $49.1 roiilfor the year ended December 31, 2010 is prisnassociated with the repayment
of the outstanding balance of $938.6 million impipal of our 2006 CMBS Certificates. The net lixegn extinguishment of debt of $5.7
million for the year ended December 31, 2009 inekud loss of $7.2 million related to the repurchasel subsequent payoff of our 2005
CMBS Certificates in July 2009, $2.7 million assded with the repurchase of $150.1 million in pipat of our 2006 CMBS Certificates and
$1.9 million related to the payoff of our Optaditeedit Facility in July 2009, offset by a gain &.$ million associated with the repurchase
an aggregate of $107.7 million in principal of @875% Notes.

Net Loss:

Net loss was $194.4 million for the year ended Dawer 31, 2010 as compared to $141.1 million forys&r ended December 31, 20
The net loss increased in 2010 primarily due tddle on extinguishment of debt of $49.1 milliam;rieases in interest expense, non-cash
interest expense, and depreciation, accretion enmttezation expense partially offset by an increiassite leasing segment operating profit.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

SBA Communications Corporation is a holding compwaiitih no business operations of its own. SBA Comitations’ only significant
asset is the outstanding capital stock of SBA Tafeounications, Inc. (“Telecommunications”) whichaiso a holding company that owns
equity interests in entities that directly or ireditly own all of our domestic and international &v&/and assets. We conduct all of our busines:
operations through Telecommunications’ subsidiaesordingly, our only source of cash to pay obligations, other than financings, is
distributions with respect to our ownership intéiasour subsidiaries from the net earnings andh élasv generated by these subsidiaries.

A summary of our cash flows is as follows:

For the year ended December 31,
2011 2010
(in thousands)

Summary cash flow informatiol

Cash provided by operating activiti $ 249,05¢ $ 201,14(
Cash used in investing activiti (507,88¢) (425,039
Cash provided by financing activiti 242,04 126,82:

Decrease in cash and cash equival (16,787 (97,079
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and casbaémnts (15%) 15
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of 64,25¢ 161,31
Cash and cash equivalents, end of ) $  47,31¢ $ 64,25«

Sources of Liquidity

We fund our growth, including our tower portfolicogvth, through cash flows from operations, longrténdebtedness and equity
issuances. With respect to our debt financing, axeehutilized secured and unsecured financings suhnces at various levels of our
organizational structure to minimize our financoagts while maximizing our operational flexibility.
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Cash provided by operating activities was $249 llianifor the year ended December 31, 2011 as coedpi® $201.1 million for the
year ended December 31, 2010. This increase wamaply due to an increase in segment operatingtdrom the site leasing segme
partially offset by increased cash interest paysegiaiting to the higher average amount of castrést bearing debt outstanding for the year
ended December 31, 2011, compared to the samedperibe prior year.

During the first six months of 2011 SBA Senior Fina Il, LLC (“SBA Senior Finance II"), our indireetholly-owned subsidiary,
borrowed $250.0 million under the Revolving Creeficility. On June 30, 2011, SBA Senior Financenteeed into an amended and restated
credit agreement which extended the maturity oRbeolving Credit Facility and included a new $3Dfillion Term Loan. The proceeds
from the Term Loan were used to repay the exis$ig0.0 million balance on the Revolving Credit figcand for general corporate
purposes. Since the repayment we have not borrawgémount under the Revolving Credit Facility.diecember 31, 2011, the
availability under the Revolving Credit Facility sapproximately $500.0 million.

Registration Statements

We have on file with the Commission a shelf registn statement on Form4&registering shares of Class A common stock tleammay
issue in connection with the acquisition of wirsleesmmunication towers or antenna sites and rekeets or companies who own wireless
communication towers, antenna sites or related@d3aring the year ended December 31, 2011, wadalidssue any shares of Class A
common stock under this registration statemenfA3ecember 31, 2011, we had approximately 1.7ianilbhares of Class A common stock
remaining under this shelf registration statement.

We also have on file with the Commission an autdrstelf registration statement for well-known sead issuers on Form S-3ASR.
This registration statement enables us to issuestud our Class A common stock, preferred stodttednt securities either separately or
represented by warrants, or depositary shares lhasvenits that include any of these securitiesdéf the rules governing automatic shelf
registration statements, we will file a prospeaupplement and advise the Commission of the ananuhtype of securities each time we
issue securities under this registration statentemtthe year ended December 31, 2011, we didssaeiany securities under this automatic
shelf registration statement.

Uses of Liquidity

We believe that our principal use of liquidity wile to fund tower portfolio growth and, secondattityfund our stock repurchase
program. In the future, we may repurchase, for casquity, our outstanding indebtedness in priyategotiated or open market transacti
in order to optimize our liquidity and leverage dake advantage of market opportunities. Duringyser ended December 31, 2011, our
wholly owned subsidiary repurchased an aggrega$d 50 million in principal amount of the 1.875%ti® for $17.0 million in cash.

Our cash capital expenditures, including cash @isedcquisitions, for the year ended December 81,12vere $506.3 million. The
$506.3 million includes cash capital expenditure$353.6 million that we incurred primarily in cometion with the acquisition of 1,085
completed towers, net of related working capitqlisitinents and earnouts associated with previougisitigns. The $506.3 million also
includes $93.1 million for construction and relatets associated with the completion of 388 nevete during the year ended Decembe
2011 and for the sites in process at December@1,2511.7 million for tower maintenance capitgbenditures, $17.4 million for
augmentations and tower upgrades, $4.7 milliorgéoreral corporate expenditures, and $25.8 milliwrgfound lease purchases (not
including $9.7 million spent to extend ground letesens).
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Subsequent to December 31, 2011, we acquired 6drsoand the rights to manage two additional compaiiuin sites of an aggregate
consideration of approximately $34.7 million in leas

Our Company’s Board of Directors authorized a staglurchase program effective November 3, 200% ploagram authorized us to
purchase, from time to time, up to $250.0 millidroar outstanding common stock through open masigtirchases in compliance with Rule
10b-18 of the Securities Act of 1934, as amended/ca in privately negotiated transactions at managnt’s discretion based on market and
business conditions, applicable legal requiremantsother factors.

On April 27, 2011, our Board of Directors (1) temaied the existing $250.0 million stock repurchasgram (under which $65.9
million of repurchase authorization remained adddaat the termination date), and (2) approvedva $&00.0 million stock repurchase
program. This new program authorizes us to purcHes® time to time, up to $300.0 million of ourtstanding Class A common stock
through open market repurchases in compliance Ruitle 10b-18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1@®4amended, and/or in privately
negotiated transactions at management’s discrbised on market and business conditions, appliteddd requirements and other factors.
This program became effective on April 28, 2011 ailticontinue until otherwise modified or termiealt by our Board of Directors at any
time in their sole discretion.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, in coioreatith the stock repurchase program, we repuethasd retired 5,917,940
shares for an aggregate of $225.1 million includingmissions and fees. As of December 31, 201hagea remaining authorization to
repurchase an additional $150.0 million of our camnrstock under our current $300.0 million stockurepase program.

In order to manage our leverage and liquidity pos, take advantage of market opportunities asdirencontinued compliance with
our financial covenants, we may decide to pursuariety of other financial transactions. Thesegeaions may include the issuance of
additional indebtedness, the repurchase of outandig indebtedness for cash or equity, sellintageassets or lines of business, issuing
common stock or securities convertible into shafesommon stock, or pursuing other financing akives, including securitization
transactions. If either our debt repurchases ohaxges or any of the other financial transactioasraplemented, these actions could
materially impact the amount and composition okioidness outstanding, increase our interest eg@amior dilute our existing
shareholders. We cannot assure you that we wilimplement any of these strategies or that, if enptnted, these strategies could be
implemented on terms favorable to us and our slédels.

During 2012, we expect to incur non-discretionaaglccapital expenditures associated with tower teaémce and general corporate
expenditures of $12.0 million to $16.0 million, lading, we believe, less than $1,000 per towerygar for non-discretionary maintenance
capital improvements. In connection with our prexly announced acquisition of Mobilitie we expextricur approximately $850 million of
discretionary cash capital expenditures which wageekto fund from cash on hand, existing crediiifaas and $500 million in new financing
commitments. In addition to the Mobilitie transactj we expect to have discretionary cash capitateditures during 2012 primarily
associated with new tower construction, additidogler acquisitions, tower augmentations and grdease purchases. We expect to fund
these additional cash capital expenditures frorh cashand, cash flow from operations and borrowumyser the Revolving Credit
Facility. The exact amount of our future cash ad@kpenditures will depend on a number of facitleckiding amounts necessary to support
our tower portfolio, our new tower build and tovesguisition programs, and our ground lease purchasgam.

We estimate we will incur less than $1,000 per topex year for non-discretionary maintenance chpitarovements related to our
towers. We expect to fund cash capital expenditiroes cash on hand, cash flow from operations awddwings under the Revolving Credit
Facility. The exact amount of our future capitgbemditures will depend on a number of factors iditlg amounts necessary to support our
tower portfolio, our new tower build and tower aigifion programs, and our ground lease purchasgrano.
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Debt Instruments and Debt Service Requirements

As of December 31, 2011, we believe that our cashamd and cash flows from operations will be sidfit to service our outstanding
debt during the next twelve months.

Credit Agreement

On February 11, 2010, SBA Senior Finance Il entartmla credit agreement for a $500.0 million sesecured revolving credit facility
(the “Revolving Credit Facility,” formerly referretd as the 2010 Credit Facility) with several baakd other financial institutions or entities
from time to time parties to the credit agreement.

On June 30, 2011, SBA Senior Finance Il enteremlantAmended and Restated Credit Agreement (thediCAgreement”) with
several banks and other financial institutionsrdities from time to time parties to the Credit Agment, to extend the maturity of the
Revolving Credit Facility, to obtain a new $500.0lion senior secured term loan (the “Term Loardhd to amend certain terms of the
existing credit agreement. We incurred financingsfef $6.2 million associated with the closinghaé ttransaction. In addition, at the time of
entering into the Credit Agreement, the remainiaetred financing fees balance of approximatelB $dillion related to the existing Credit
Agreement prior to the amendment was transferreldetdrevolving Credit Facility in accordance witttaunting guidance for revolving
credit facilities.

Revolving Credit Facility

The Revolving Credit Facility consists of a revalyiloan under which up to $500.0 million aggregatecipal amount may be
borrowed, repaid and redrawn, subject to compliante specific financial ratios and the satisfaotiwf other customary conditions to
borrowing. Amounts borrowed under the Revolvingditr€acility accrue interest at the Eurodollar Rgligs a margin that ranges from 187.5
basis points to 237.5 basis points or at a Base Ras a margin that ranges from 87.5 basis ptini87.5 basis points, in each case based or
the ratio of Consolidated Total Debt to AnnualiBatrower EBITDA (calculated in accordance with teedit Agreement). If not earlier
terminated by SBA Senior Finance Il, the Revolv@rgdit Facility will terminate on, and SBA Senidn&nce Il will repay all amounts
outstanding on or before, June 30, 2016. The pascaeailable under the Revolving Credit Facilityynh@ used for general corporate
purposes. A 0.375% to 0.5% per annum fee is chasgatle amount of unused commitments under the IRegoCredit Facility based on the
ratio of Consolidated Total Debt to Annualized Bover EBITDA (calculated in accordance with the Grédjreement). SBA Senior Finance
I may, from time to time, borrow from and repag tRevolving Credit Facility. Consequently, the amooautstanding under the Revolving
Credit Facility at the end of a period may not bftective of the total amounts outstanding duringhsperiod.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, SBA Séiiiance |l borrowed $250.0 million under the Revrny Credit Facility. The
total balance of $270.0 million was repaid on J80g2011.

Based on the outstanding amounts as of Decemb@031, debt service for the next twelve months utite Revolving Credit Facility
will be $1.9 million. As of December 31, 2011, tnilability under the Revolving Credit Facility svapproximately $500.0 million.

Term Loan

The Term Loan consists of a senior secured termilban aggregate principal amount of $500.0 nmllmd will mature on June 30,
2018. It will bear interest, at SBA Senior Finatiég election, at either the Base Rate plus a nmaogil75 basis points (with a Base Rate floor
of 2%) or Eurodollar Rate plus a margin of 275 ggsiints (with a Eurodollar Rate floor of 1%). Tv@ceeds from the Term Loan were used
to pay down existing balances on the Revolving Eieakility and may be used for general corporatgpses. Principal on the Term Loan
will be repaid in quarterly installments of $1.2%lion on the last day of each March, June, Septmaind December, commencing on
September 30, 2011. The remaining principal balafitke Term Loan will be due
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and payable on the maturity date. SBA Senior Fiadhbas the ability to prepay any or all amoumder the Term Loan. However, to the
extent the Term Loan is prepaid prior to June 8022rom the proceeds of a substantially concurisstance of certain other syndicated
loans, a prepayment fee equal to 1.0% of the agtgqgincipal amount of such prepayment will applye Term Loan was issued at 99.75%
of par value. Based on the amount outstanding ee@ber 31, 2011, debt service for the next tweleatins on the term loan will be $23.9
million.

As of December 31, 2011, the Term Loan had a graidalance of $ 497.5 million.

Terms of the Credit Agreement

The Credit Agreement, as amended, requires SBAoBEmance Il and SBA Communications Corporatio)BRAC”) to maintain
specific financial ratios, including, at the SBANS® Finance Il level, (1) a ratio of ConsolidatBdtal Debt to Annualized Borrower EBITD
not to exceed 6.0 times for any fiscal quartera(Patio of Consolidated Total Debt and Net Hedgpdsure (calculated in accordance with
the Credit Agreement) to Annualized Borrower EBITEA the most recently ended fiscal quarter nabxtoeed 6.0 times for 30 consecutive
days and (3) a ratio of Annualized Borrower EBITBAANNnualized Cash Interest Expense (calculatet@aordance with the Credit
Agreement) of not less than 2.0 times for any figearter. In addition, SBAC's ratio of Consoliddt€otal Net Debt to Consolidated
Adjusted EBITDA (calculated in accordance with @medit Agreement) for any fiscal quarter on an aized basis cannot exceed 9.5 times.
The Credit Agreement contains customary affirmasimd negative covenants that, among other thingg,the ability of SBA Senior Financ
Il and its subsidiaries to incur indebtedness, geantain liens, make certain investments, entersale leaseback transactions, merge or
consolidate, make certain restricted paymentsy émite transactions with affiliates, and engageenain asset dispositions, including a sal
all or substantially all of their property. As oeBPember 31, 2011, SBA Senior Finance Il and SBA&refull compliance with the financi
covenants contained in the Credit Agreement. TiegliCAgreement is also subject to customary evehtiefault. Pursuant to an Amended
and Restated Guarantee and Collateral Agreemepyrmborrowed under the Revolving Credit Facilig Term Loan and certain hedging
transactions that may be entered into by SBA Sdfiimance Il or the Subsidiary Guarantors (as ddfinghe Credit Agreement) with lenders
or their affiliates are secured by a first lientba capital stock of SBA Telecommunications, ISBA Senior Finance, LLC (formerly known
as SBA Senior Finance, Inc.) and SBA Senior Findhaad on substantially all of the assets (othantleasehold, easement and fee interests
in real property) of SBA Senior Finance Il and Swbsidiary Guarantors.

The Credit Agreement permits SBA Senior Finande Hequest that one or more lenders (1) increase phoportionate share of the
Revolving Credit Facility commitment, up to an aéuial $200.0 million in the aggregate, and/org&)vide SBA Senior Finance Il with
additional term loans in an aggregate principal amof up to $500.0 million, in each case withaequesting the consent of the other lenc
SBA Senior Finance II's ability to request suchreases in the Revolving Credit Facility or addidbterm loans is subject to its compliance
with customary conditions set forth in the Crediréement including, with respect to any additideai loan, compliance, on a pro forma
basis, with the financial covenants and ratiofah therein and an increase in the margin ontiexjgerm loans, to the extent required by the
terms of the Credit Agreement. Upon SBA Senior Ragall’s request, each lender may decide, in its discretion, whether to increase all or
a portion of its Revolving Credit Facility commitmteor whether to provide SBA Senior Finance Il watfditional term loans and, if so, upon
what terms.

Secured Tower Revenue Securities Series 2010

On April 16, 2010, a New York common law trust (tfieust”), initially formed by our indirect subsialy, issued $680.0 million of our
Secured Tower Revenue Securities Series 2010-12H®-1 Tower Securities”), and $550.0 million®écured Tower Revenue Securities
Series 2010-2 (the “2010-2 Tower Securities” and
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together with the 2010-1 Tower Securities, the ‘@Tbwer Securities”). The 2010-1 Tower Securitiagséhan annual interest rate of 4.254%
and the 2010-2 Tower Securities have an annuakistteate of 5.101%. The weighted average annxed ftoupon interest rate of the 2010
Tower Securities is 4.7%, including borrowers’ fgegyable monthly. The anticipated repayment datkthe final maturity date for the 2010-
1 Tower Securities is April 16, 2015 and April &40, respectively. The anticipated repayment datkthe final maturity date for the 2020-
Tower Securities is April 16, 2017 and April 16 420 respectively. Net proceeds from the 2010 TdBemurities were used to repay in full
the outstanding 2006 CMBS Certificates in the am@@i$938.6 million and pay the related prepaynmmtsideration plus accrued interest
and fees. The remaining net proceeds were usagkf@ral corporate purposes.

The sole asset of the Trust consists of a non-reeanortgage loan made in favor of SBA Properties, SBA Sites, Inc., and SBA
Structures, Inc., indirect wholly-owned operatindpsidiaries of the Company (the “Borrowers”). Thaer®wers are special purpose vehicles
which exist solely to hold the towers which arejsabto the securitization. In connection with theuance of the 2010 Tower Securities and
the repayment of the 2006 CMBS Certificates, thetgage loan components relating to the 2006 CMBSifidates were repaid and the
mortgage loan was amended to create two new loapaients, each with terms that are identical tsdrees of 2010 Tower Securities to
which it relates. The Borrowers are jointly andesally liable for all obligations under the mortgagan.

The mortgage loan underlying the 2010 Tower Sdeariwill be paid from the operating cash flows frim aggregate 3,670 tower sites
owned by the Borrowers. The mortgage loan is seclyg(i) mortgages, deeds of trust and deeds tarsatebt on a substantial portion of the
tower sites, (ii) a security interest in substdhtiall of the Borrowers’ personal property andtéixes, (iii) the Borrowers’ rights under certain
tenant leases, and (iv) all of the proceeds ofdhegoing. For each calendar month, SBA Network &gment, Inc., our indirect subsidiary,
is entitled to receive a management fee equals af the Borrowers’ operating revenues for the gdrately preceding calendar month.

The Borrowers may prepay either of the mortgaga tmamponents, in whole or in part, with no prepagtre@nsideration, (i) within
nine months of the anticipated repayment date cif snortgage loan component, (ii) with proceedsiveckas a result of any condemnatio
casualty of any tower site owned by the Borrowergiip during an amortization period. In all otheircumstances, the Borrowers may prepay
the mortgage loan, in whole or in part, upon payneéthe applicable prepayment consideration. Tiegp@yment consideration is determined
based on the class of 2010 Tower Securities tolwthie prepaid mortgage loan component correspamfis@nsists of an amount equal to the
excess, if any, of (1) the present value associatddthe portion of the principal balance beinggmaid, calculated in accordance with the
formula set forth in the mortgage loan agreememthe date of prepayment of all future installmesftprincipal and interest required to be
paid from the date of prepayment to and includimgfirst due date that is nine months prior toghgcipated repayment date over (2) that
portion of the principal balance of such class pr@pn the date of such prepayment.

To the extent that the mortgage loan componentesponding to the 2010 Tower Securities are ndt febaid by their respective
anticipated repayment dates, the interest rataai such component will increase by the greaté) 6f6 and (ii) the amount, if any, by whi
the sum of (x) the ten-year U.S. treasury rate plushe credit-based spread for such componergdgaforth in the mortgage loan agreement)
plus (z) 5%, exceeds the original interest ratestmh component.

Pursuant to the terms of the 2010 Tower Securiiksents and other sums due on any of the toites swned by the Borrowers are
directly deposited by the lessees into a contraliegosit account and are held by the indenturéstieud he monies held by the indenture
trustee after the release date are classifiedsaiscted cash on our Consolidated Balance Sheetsekfer, if the Debt Service Coverage Re
defined as the net cash flow (as defined in thetgage loan agreement) divided by the amount ofaésteon the mortgage loan, servicing fees
and trustee fees that the Borrowers are requirgdymver the succeeding twelve months, as of hdeoé
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any calendar quarter, falls to 1.30x or lower, th#titash flow in excess of amounts required to enddbt service payments, to fund required
reserves, to pay management fees and budgetedingergpenses and to make other payments requiréer uhe loan documents, referred to
as “excess cash flowyill be deposited into a reserve account instedokaig released to the Borrowers. The funds in¢lerve account w
not be released to the Borrowers unless the DabicgeCoverage Ratio exceeds 1.30x for two consexgtlendar quarters. If the Debt
Service Coverage Ratio falls below 1.15x as ofethé of any calendar quarter, then an “amortizgtieriod” will commence and all funds on
deposit in the reserve account will be appliedrappy the mortgage loan until such time that thbt[3ervice Coverage Ratio exceeds 1.15x
for a calendar quarter. The mortgage loan agreeragr@mended, also includes covenants customamddgage loans subject to rated
securitizations. Among other things, the Borrowames prohibited from incurring other indebtednessfmrrowed money or further
encumbering their assets. As of December 31, 20&1Borrowers met the required Debt Service CoveRatio. Based on the amounts
outstanding at December 31, 2011, debt servicthfonext twelve months on the 2010 Tower Secuntiesld be $57.4 million.

Convertible Senior Notes

1.875% Convertible Senior Note©On May 16, 2008 we issued $550.0 million of our7b®% Notes. Interest is payable semi-annually
on May 1 and November 1. The maturity date of t873% Notes is May 1, 2013. The 1.875% Notes angeaxbible, at the holder’s option,
into shares of our Class A common stock, at aralrgbnversion rate of 24.1196 shares of Classmon stock per $1,000 principal amount
of 1.875% Notes (subject to certain customary dnjasts), which is equivalent to an initial conversprice of approximately $41.46 per
share or a 20% conversion premium based on thedpstted sale price of $34.55 per share of ClassrAmon stock on the Nasdaq Global
Select Market on May 12, 2008, the purchase agreedade.

Concurrently with the pricing of the 1.875% Note®, entered into convertible note hedge transactiomering 13,265,780 shares of
Class A common stock at an initial price of $41pé6 share (the same as the initial conversion mfithe 1.875% Notes). Separately and
concurrently with the pricing of the 1.875% Note®, entered into warrant transactions whereby we wakrants to each of the hedge
counterparties to acquire 13,265,780 shares o€tass A common stock at an initial exercise pric®6Y.37 per share. The convertible note
hedge transactions and the warrant transactioken s a whole, effectively increase the converpitre of the 1.875% Notes from $41.46
per share to $67.37 per share. As we cannot deterwtien, or whether, the 1.875% Notes will be caede the convertible note hedge
transactions and the warrant transactions, takawa®le, minimize the dilution risk associatedhngiarly conversion of the 1.875% Notes
until such time that our Class A common stockaslitng at a price above $67.37 per share (the wgipke of the warrants).

One of the convertible note hedge transactionsetiato in connection with the 1.875% Notes wathwiehman Brothers OTC
Derivatives Inc. (“Lehman Derivatives”). The contilele note hedge transaction with Lehman Derivatizevered 55% of the 13,265,780
shares of our Class A common stock potentiallyabgiupon conversion of the 1.875% Notes. In O¢t@b88, Lehman Derivatives filed a
voluntary petition for protection under Chapterdfthe United States Bankruptcy Code. The filingleyhman Derivatives of a voluntary
Chapter 11 bankruptcy petition constituted an “¢wdmefault” under the convertible note hedge $eation with Lehman Derivatives. As a
result, on November 7, 2008 we terminated the caitke note hedge transaction with Lehman DerivedivBased on information available to
us, we have no indication, as of the date of filimg Form 10-K, that any party other than Lehmamiiatives would be unable to fulfill their
obligations to us under the convertible note hedgesactions.

The net cost of the convertible note hedge trafmaetith Lehman Derivatives was recorded as ansadjant to Additional Paid in
Capital and therefore the termination of the cotibkr note hedge did not have any impact on ouscldated balance sheet. However, we
could incur significant costs to replace this hettgasaction if we elect to do so. If we do notete replace the convertible note hedge
transaction, then we will be subject to potentilttbn upon conversion of the 1.875% Notes, iftba date of conversion the per share me
price of our Class A common stock exceeds the asioe price of $41.46.
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At December 31, 2011, we had $ 535.0 million oudilag of 1.875% Notes which were recorded at ayaagrvalue of $ 485.0 million.
Based on the amounts outstanding at December 31, 8@bt service for the next twelve months onltl8&5% Notes will be approximately
$10.0 million.

4.0% Convertible Senior NotesOn April 24, 2009, we issued $500.0 million of du0% Notes in a private placement transaction.
Interest on the 4.0% Notes is payable semi-annoallpril 1 and October 1. The maturity date of 4h@% Notes is October 1, 2014. The
4.0% Notes are convertible, at the holder’s optiotg shares of our Class A common stock, at aralrdonversion rate of 32.9164 shares of
our Class A common stock per $1,000 principal arhofid.0% Notes (subject to certain customary adjests), which is equivalent to an
initial conversion price of approximately $30.38 ghare or a 22.5% conversion premium based olasiheeported sale price of $24.80 per
share of our Class A common stock on the NasdababBelect Market on April 20, 2009, the purchagmament date.

Concurrently with the pricing of the 4.0% Notes, @ered into convertible note hedge transactidmsreby we purchased from
affiliates of the initial purchasers of the 4.0%tdkan option covering 16,458,196 shares of oussCAacommon stock at an initial price of
$30.38 per share (the same as the initial conversice of the notes). Separately and concurrenmitly the pricing of the 4.0% Notes, we
entered into warrant transactions whereby we solffiliates of the initial purchasers of the 4.08btes warrants to acquire 16,458,196 sh
of our Class A common stock at an initial exergisee of $44.64 per share. We used approximately@illion of the net proceeds from -
4.0% Notes offering plus the proceeds from the ardrtransactions to fund the cost of the convextitdte hedge transactions. The conver
note hedge transactions and the warrant transactiaken as a whole, effectively increase the cmiwme price of the 4.0% Notes from $30.38
per share to $44.64 per share, reflecting a prenoiu@®% based on the closing stock price of $2480share of our Class A common stock
on April 20, 2009. If the market price of our Classommon stock exceeded the upper strike prickldf64 per share on the conversion date
of the 4.0% Notes, then we will be subject to ddintor cost upon conversion of the 4.0% Notes. rEmeaining net proceeds of $376.6 mill
were used for general corporate purposes, includipgrchases or repayments of our outstanding debt.

As of December 31, 2011, we had outstanding $ 5@l®n of our 4.0% Notes with a carrying value®897.6 million. Based on the
amounts outstanding at December 31, 2011, debicedior the next twelve months on the 4.0% Notesldide approximately $20.0 million.

Convertible Senior Notes conversion optiornghe 1.875% Notes and 4.0% Notes (collectively Nwges”) are convertible only under
the following circumstances:

 during any calendar quarter, if the last reportad price of our Class A common stock for at I&istrading days in the 30
consecutive trading day period ending on the tasting day of the preceding calendar quarter isentiwain 130% of the applicable
conversion price per share of Class A common stocthe last day of such preceding calendar qui

+ during the five business day period after any mmsecutive trading day period in which the tradinige per $1,000 principal amot
of the Notes for each day in the measurement pevaslless than 95% of the product of the last tepasale price of Class A
common stock and the applicable conversion

- if specified distributions to holders of Class Aromon stock are made or specified corporate traiasescbccur, an
e at any time on or after February 19, 2013 for tf8¥3% Notes and July 22, 2014 for the 4.0% Nc
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Upon conversion, we have the right to settle ourveosion obligation in cash, shares of Class A comstock or a combination of cash
and shares of our Class A common stock. From torierte, upon notice to the holders of the Notespveg change our election regarding
form of consideration that we will use to settle oanversion obligation; provided, however, thatave not permitted to change our
settlement election after February 18, 2013 forltl8¢5% Notes and July 21, 2014 for the 4.0% Notes.

Senior Notes

On July 24, 2009, Telecommunications issued $780ldn of unsecured senior notes (the “Senior 4te$375.0 million of which ar
due August 15, 2016 (the “2016 Notes”) and $375I0am of which are due August 15, 2019 (the “2046tes”). At December 31, 2011, we
had $375.0 million of 2016 Notes outstanding, whigre recorded at a carrying value of $373.2 nmilliand $375.0 million of 2019 Notes
outstanding, which were recorded at a carryinge/alu$372.4 million.

The 2016 Notes have an interest rate of 8.00% ad i8sued at a price of 99.330% of their facee/aline 2019 Notes have an interest
rate of 8.25% and were issued at a price of 99.16P#eir face value. Interest on the 2016 Notes 2019 Notes is due semi-annually on
February 15 and August 15 of each year beginningelmmuary 15, 2010. Based on the amounts outstgadiDecember 31, 2011, debt
service for the next twelve months on the 2016 @ddotes and the 2019 Senior Notes would be $3@lmmand $30.9 million, respectivel
The 2016 Notes and the 2019 Notes are fully andnuaiitionally guaranteed by SBA Communications.

The 2016 Notes and the 2019 Notes are subjectienption in whole or in part on or after August 2812 and on or after August 15,
2014, respectively, at the redemption prices st fio the indenture agreement plus accrued andidnpterest. Prior to August 15, 2012 for
the 2016 Notes and August 15, 2014 for the 201®@#&ate may at our option redeem all or a portiothef2016 Notes or 2019 Notes at a
redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amdhereof plus a “make whole” premium plus acdraad unpaid interest. In addition,
we may redeem up to 35% of the originally issuegregate principal amount of each of the 2016 Natek2019 Notes with the net proceeds
of certain equity offerings at a redemption pri€d.@8.00% and 108.25%, respectively, of the priacgmount of the redeemed notes plus
accrued and unpaid interest.

The Indenture governing the Senior Notes contailssotnary covenants, subject to a number of exaeptiod qualifications, including
restrictions on Telecommunications’ ability to {&gur additional indebtedness unless its Consaiftidebtedness to Annualized
Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA Ratio (as definedhie tndenture), pro forma for the additional indelbtess, does not exceed 7.0x for the
fiscal quarter, (2) merge, consolidate or sell Bs¢8) make restricted payments, including dividkeor other distributions, (4) enter into
transactions with affiliates, and (5) enter inteesand leaseback transactions and restrictionb@ahility of Telecommunications’ Restricted
Subsidiaries (as defined in the Indenture) to idieus securing indebtedness.

On May 19, 2010, SBA Communications and Telecomueaiions filed a registration statement on Form\&t# the Commission
pursuant to which Telecommunications offered toedghange all of its outstanding unregistered ¥B#llion 8.00% Senior Notes due 20
for registered $375.0 million 8.00% Senior Notes @016, and (2) exchange all of its outstandinggistered $375.0 million 8.25% Senior
Notes due 2019 for registered $375.0 million 8.258fior Notes due 2019. On July 15, 2010, the exgshaffer was consummate

Inflation

The impact of inflation on our operations has reetsignificant to date. However, we cannot asgouethat a high rate of inflation in
the future will not adversely affect our operatiegults particularly in light of the fact that aite leasing revenues are governed by long-ternr
contracts with pre-determined pricing that we wit be able to increase in response to increadafiation.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

For a description of accounting changes and remsgdunting pronouncements, including the expecttelsdof adoption and estimated
effects, if any, on our Consolidated Financial &ta¢nts, see “Note 3: Current Accounting Pronounoésiién the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements of this Form 10-K.

Commitments and Contractual Obligations
The following table summarizes our scheduled catiticd commitments as of December 31, 2011:

Contractual Obligations 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 Thereafter Total

(in thousands)
Long-term debr $ 5,000 $540,00( $505,00( $685,00( $380,00( $1,397,500 $3,512,50
Interest paymeni® 169,11. 162,21: 153,70! 117,89 96,98¢ 116,17( 816,08:
Operating lease 70,05: 69,917 70,58¢ 70,86¢ 70,37: 1,319,41 1,671,21.
Capital lease 1,12¢ 98¢ 80¢ 44C — — 3,361
Employment agreemen 1,682 647 647 2,97¢

$246,97( $773,76. $730,74¢ $874,20: $547,35¢ $2,833,08 $6,006,13:

(1) Represents interest payments based on theTxA6r Securities with a weighted average coupoedfixterest rate of 4.7%, the
Revolving Credit Facility weighted average intenegé of 0.375% as of December 31, 2011, the Tevanlat an interest rate of 3.75%
as of December 31, 2011, the Convertible Senioedlotterest rate of 1.875% and 4.0%, and the Séldtes interest rate of 8.0% and
8.25%.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We are not involved in any off-balance sheet areamgnts.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES A BOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to certain market risks that arer@rtt in our financial instruments. These instrutsi@mise from transactions entered
into in the normal course of business.

The following table presents the future principayment obligations and fair values associated withlong-term debt instruments
assuming our actual level of long-term indebtedmessf December 31, 2011:

Fair
2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 Thereafter Total Value
(in thousands)
Debt:
1.875% Convertible Senior Notesdue 2t $ — $35000 $ — $ — $ — % — $ 535,000 $ 605,24¢
4.0% Convertible Senior Notes due 2( $ — $ — $500000 $ — $ — % — $ 500,000 $ 761,58¢
8.0% Senior Notes due 20 $— $ — $ — $ — $375000 % — $ 375,000 $ 405,00(
8.25% Senior Notes due 20 $ — % — $$ — $ — $ — $ 375000 $ 375,000 $ 407,81:
4.254% 201-1 Tower Securitie® $ — $ — $ — g680000 5 — % — $ 680,00 $ 699,00¢
5.101% 201-2 Tower Securitie® $ — 3 — % — % — 3 — $ 550,00 $ 550,000 $ 579,01¢
Term Loan $5,000 $ 5000 $ 5000 $ 5000 $§ 5000 $ 472,500 $ 497,500 $ 494,39:
Total debt obligation $5,00C $540,00( $505,00( $685,00( $380,00( $1,397,501 $3,512,501 $3,952,06;

(1) The anticipated repayment date and the finalntg date for the 2010-1 Tower Securities is A6, 2015 and April 16, 2040,
respectively

(2) The anticipated repayment date and the finauritg date for the 2010-2 Tower Securities is A, 2017 and April 16, 2042,
respectively

Our current primary market risk exposure is interage risk relating to (1) our ability to meetdimcial covenants and (2) the impact of
interest rate movements on our Term Loan and anmpWwings that we may incur under our Revolving Q@rédcility, which are at floating
rates. We manage the interest rate risk on outandig debt through our large percentage of foetd debt. While we cannot predict our
ability to refinance existing debt or the impadeiest rate movements will have on our existing,deb continue to evaluate our financial
position on an ongoing basis. In addition, in catioe with our convertible notes, we are subjeantarket risk associated with the market
price of our common stock.

Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This annual report contains “forward-looking stagms” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Sés Act of 1933 and Section
21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Thésements concern expectations, beliefs, projestiplans and strategies, anticipated
events or trends and similar expressions concemguters that are not historical facts. Specificahis annual report contains forward-
looking statements regarding:

. our expectations on the future growth and finan@allth of the wireless industry and the indushigtipipants, and the
drivers of such growtt

. our beliefs regarding our ability to capture angitaize on industry growth and the impact of sgebwth on our financial
and operational result

. our expectations regarding the opportunities initternational wireless markets in which we curienperate or have
targeted for growth, and our beliefs regarding lwesvcan capitalize on such opportuniti

. our belief that our site leasing business is ctiarezed by stable and long-term recurring revenpesgictable operating
costs and minimal ne-discretionary capital expenditure
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our belief that our towers have significant capatitaccommodate additional tenants, that our tayperations are highly
scalable, that we can add tenants to our towearsratal incremental costs, and the impact of thexsmomies of scale on
our cash flow and financial resul

our intent to grow our tower portfolio, domestigadind internationally, through the consummatiothef Mobilitie
transaction, additional tower acquisitions anddbestruction of new tower

our expectation that we will continue our grounasie purchase program and the estimates of the trapsiech program o
our financial results

our expectation that we will continue to incur lesy

our expectations regarding our future cash capitpenditures, both discretionary and non-discretipnincluding
expenditures required to maintain, improve and fiyalir towers and general corporate expenditt

our estimates regarding our liquidity position B2 and our intended use of our liquidi
our expectation that our revenues from our intéonat operations will grow in the futur

our expectations regarding the effectiveness ofconwrertible note hedge transactions to minimizeditution and costs
associated with our outstanding convertible naies!

our estimates regarding certain accounting andntztters

These forward-looking statements reflect our curgws about future events and are subject tGriskcertainties and assumptions.
We wish to caution readers that certain importaotdrs may have affected and could in the futuiecabur actual results and could cause
actual results to differ significantly from thosepeessed in any forward-looking statement. The riropbrtant factors that could prevent us
from achieving our goals, and cause the assumptiodsrlying forward-looking statements and the alctesults to differ materially from
those expressed in or implied by those forward-laglstatements include, but are not limited to,fti®wing:

the impact of consolidation among wireless serpit®iders on our leasing revent

developments in the wireless communications ingiustgeneral, and for wireless communications istingcture providers
in particular, that may slow growth or affect thilimgness or ability of the wireless service praeis to expend capital to
fund network expansion or enhanceme

our ability to secure as many site leasing tenasi@nticipated, recognize our expected economissabé with respect to
new tenants on our towers, and retain current easdowers
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. our ability to secure and deliver anticipated sssibusiness at contemplated marg

. factors that would adversely impact our abilitytald the anticipated number of new towers, inahgdour ability to
identify and acquire land that would be attracfimeour clients and to successfully and timely a&s$drzoning, permitting
and other issues that arise in connection wittbthileling of new towers

. competition for the acquisition of towers and otfamtors that may adversely affect our ability toghase towers that meet
our investment criteria and are available at prigkieh we believe will be accretive to our shareleos and allow us to
maintain our lon-term target leverage ratic

. our ability to effectively integrate acquired toweénto our business and to achieve the financsllte projected in our
valuation models for the acquired towe

. our ability to successfully manage the risks asgedi with international operations, including fgreexchange risk,
currency restrictions and foreign regulatory arghleisks;

. our intent and ability to continue our ground lepaechase program and the effect of such groursklparchases on our
margins and lor-term financial condition

. our ability to continue to comply with covenantglahe terms of our credit instrumen
. our ability to obtain additional financing to acrpitowers;

. our ability to sufficiently increase our revenuesl anaintain expenses and cash capital expendiatiggspropriate levels to
permit us to meet our anticipated uses of liquiétityoperations, debt service and estimated paotfplowth;

. our ability to successfully estimate the impacteftain accounting and tax matters, including ffecéon our company of
adopting certain accounting pronouncements andvhaability of sufficient net operating lossesadtifset future taxable
income; anc

. natural disasters and other unforeseen damagehichwur insurance may not provide adequate coee
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
Financial statements and supplementary data apages F-1 through F-47.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures- We maintain disclosure controls and procedurasdte designed to ensure that information
required to be disclosed in our reports under guSties Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (theligBrge Act”), is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the time periodifipe in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that saébrmation is accumulated and
communicated to management, including our Chiefchtiee Officer (“CEQ”) and Chief Financial Offic€fCFO"), as appropriate, to allow
timely decisions regarding required disclosuredésigning and evaluating the disclosure controts@oncedures, management recognized
that any controls and procedures, no matter howdesigned and operated, can provide only reaseredsiurance of achieving the desired
control objectives, as ours are designed to donamhagement necessarily was required to applydigment in evaluating the cost-benefit
relationship of possible controls and procedures.

In connection with the preparation of this Annualp@rt on Form 10k, as of December 31, 2011, an evaluation was peadd under tt
supervision and with the participation of our magragnt, including the CEO and CFO, of the effectagsnof our disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) undeEXohange Act). Based on such evaluation, our CEHDGIFO concluded that, as of
December 31, 2011, our disclosure controls andgohoes were effective.

There has been no change in our internal contret fimancial reporting during the quarter endedémeber 31, 2011 that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeadft, our internal control over financial reporting.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control overFinancial Reporting —Management is responsible for establishing and
maintaining adequate internal control over finah@aorting, and for performing an assessment efetiectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2011. Ireoontrol over financial reporting is a processigeed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reportingdthe preparation of financial statements for exdepurposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. Our system of ir@lecontrol over financial reporting includes thgsdicies and procedures that (i) pertain to
the maintenance of records that, in reasonablél dstaurately and fairly reflect the transacti@msl dispositions of the assets of SBA,;

(i) provide reasonable assurance that transactiomsecorded as necessary to permit preparatitinasfcial statements in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles, andréipts and expenditures of SBA are being madginrdccordance with authorizations of
management and directors of SBA; and (iii) provig@sonable assurance regarding prevention or tidetgction of unauthorized acquisitic
use or disposition of SBA’s assets that could reaweaterial effect on the financial statements.

Management performed an assessment of the effaegeof SBA's internal control over financial refooy as of December 31, 2011
based upon criteria iimternal Control — Integrated Framewoigsued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidriie Treadway
Commission (COSO). Based on our assessment, maeag€eeatermined that SBA’s internal control ovegfigial reporting was effective as
of December 31, 2011 based on the criterimiarnal Control — Integrated Framewoiksued by COSO.
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Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or detaisstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periagssabject to the risk that controls may becomdenaate because of changes in conditions,
or that the degree of compliance with the policeprocedures may deteriorate.

Ernst & Young LLP, the independent registered puaticounting firm that audited the financial statats included in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K, has issued an attestationrt@moSBA's internal control over financial repoigi
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm
The Board of Directors and Shareholders of SBA Cominations Corporation and Subsidiaries

We have audited SBA Communications Corporation@ulasidiariesinternal control over financial reporting as of Baetber 31, 2011, bas
on criteria established in Internal Control — Intgd Framework issued by the Committee of Spongddrganizations of the Treadway
Commission (the COSO criteria). SBA Communicati@asporation and Subsidiaries’ management is resplenfor maintaining effective
internal control over financial reporting, and ftsrassessment of the effectiveness of internarebaver financial reporting included in the
accompanying Management's Annual Report on Inte@aadtrol over Financial Reporting. Our responsipiis to express an opinion on the
company'’s internal control over financial reportiogsed on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadedof the Public Company Accounting OversightriBq@nited States). Those stande
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebtagsonable assurance about whether effectivenaiteontrol over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal cordv@r financial reporting, assessing the
that a material weakness exists, testing and etiadpthe design and operating effectiveness ofiiraiecontrol based on the assessed risk, anc
performing such other procedures as we considezeéssary in the circumstances. We believe thaawdit provides a reasonable basis for
our opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonablessesuregarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordanttiegenerally accepted accounting
principles. A company'’s internal control over fircgal reporting includes those policies and proceduhat (1) pertain to the maintenance of
records that, in reasonable detail, accuratelyfainky reflect the transactions and dispositionshaf assets of the company; (2) provide
reasonable assurance that transactions are recasdegtessary to permit preparation of financakstents in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipdsexpenditures of the company are being madeinrdgcordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and @jde reasonable assurance regarding preventibmely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the companygsats that could have a material effect on then@iizd statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢taisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods afgexct to the risk that controls may become inadé&gbecause of changes in conditions, or
that the degree of compliance with the policieprocedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, SBA Communications Corporation &ubsidiaries maintained, in all material respesffgctive internal control over financ
reporting as of December 31, 2011, based on theCCEOeria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasdi the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@/nited States), the consolidated
balance sheets of SBA Communications Corporati@hSabsidiaries as of December 31, 2011 and 2010thenrelated consolidated
statements of operations, comprehensive loss, lshlders’ (deficit) equity and cash flows for eadtitee three years in the period ended
December 31, 2011 of SBA Communications Corporadioth Subsidiaries and our report dated Februar @2 expressed an unqualified
opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP
Certified Public Accountants

Boca Raton, Florida
February 27, 2012
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Iltem 9B. Other Information
None.

PART IlI
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORAT E GOVERNANCE

We have adopted a Code of Ethics that appliesit&bief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officand Chief Accounting Officer. Tt
Code of Ethics is located on our internet web a&iteww.sbasite.comander “Investor Relations-Corporate Governancehe©bocuments.”
We intend to provide disclosure of any amendmentsaivers of our Code of Ethics on our website wittour business days following the
date of the amendment or waiver.

The remaining items required by Part I, Item 18 mcorporated herein by reference from the Regjiss Proxy Statement for its 2012
Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be filed on dobe April 30, 2012.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The items required by Part I, Item 11 are incogted herein by reference from the Registrant’xP&tatement for its 2012 Annual
Meeting of Shareholders to be filed on or beforeilA30, 2012.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The items required by Part I, Item 12 are incogted herein by reference from the Registrant’xP&tatement for its 2012 Annual
Meeting of Shareholders to be filed on or befor&ilA3D, 2012.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The items required by Part Il, Item 13 are incogted herein by reference from the Registrant’xP&tatement for its 2012 Annual
Meeting of Shareholders to be filed on or beforeilAgD, 2012.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The items required by Part Ill, Item 14 are incogted herein by reference from the Registrant’xy?Rtatement for its 2012 Annual
Meeting of Shareholders to be filed on or befor&ilAgD, 2012.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) Documents filed as part of this report:

(1) Financial Statements
See Item 8 for Financial Statements included with Annual Report on Form 10-K.
(2) Financial Statement Schedules

None.
(3) Exhibits

Exhibit
No.

3.4
3.5A
415
4.14
4.1t
4.1¢
4.17
4.1¢
4.1¢
10.1

10.24
10.3¢
10.35C

10.35C

10.35E
10.49

10.50
10.57E
10.58E

10.60

10.61

10.70

Description of Exhibits
Fourth Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporgtas Amended, of SBA Communications Corporatjb6)
Amended and Restated Bylaws of SBA Communicaticorp@ration, effective as of January 16, 2012.
Indenture, dated May 16, 2008, between SBA Comnatioics Corporation and U.S. Bank National Assooiat{6)
Form of 1.875% Convertible Senior Notes due 20@8lided in Exhibit 4.13). (€
Indenture, dated April 24, 2009, between SBA Comigations Corporation and U.S. Bank National Assiama (11)
Form of 4.0% Convertible Senior Note due 2014 (ided in Exhibit 4.15). (11
Indenture, dated July 24, 2009, between SBA Comaatioins Corporation and U.S. Bank National Assamiat(13)
Form of 8.000% Senior Notes due 2016 (includedxhilit 4.17). (13)
Form of 8.250% Senior Notes due 2019 (includedxhilit 4.17). (13)

SBA Communications Corporation Registration Righgseement dated as of March 5, 1997, among the @omSteven E.
Bernstein, Ronald G. Bizick, Il and Robert GrohstéR)

1999 Equity Participation Plan. (1
2001 Equity Participation Plan as Amended and Redstan May 16, 2002. (2)

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, maderaacded into as of January 1, 2008, between SBArmManications
Corporation and Jeffrey A. Stoops. (5

Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Employwgrgement made and entered into as of Septemb&008,
between SBA Communications Corporation and Je#re$toops. (8) -

Employment Agreement, dated July 1, 2011, betwdh Sommunications Corporation and Jeffrey A. Stoq@e) +

Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreematggdds of November 18, 2005, by and between SBpdrties, Inc.
and the Additional Borrower or Borrowers that ma&acbme a party thereto and SBA CMBS 1 Depositor L3¢

Management Agreement, dated as of November 18,,2008hd among SBA Properties, Inc., SBA Networkisigement,
Inc. and SBA Senior Finance, Inc.

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, madergrded into as of January 1, 2010, between SBAr@anications
Corporation and Kurt L. Bagwell. (14)

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, madergrded into as of January 1, 2010, between SBAr@anications
Corporation and Thomas P. Hunt. (14

Joinder and Amendment to Management Agreementg dédeember 6, 2006, by and among SBA Properties, 8BA
Towers, Inc., SBA Puerto Rico, Inc., SBA Sites,.J)lBBA Towers USVI, Inc., and SBA Structures, Iemd SBA Network
Management, Inc., and SBA Senior Finance, Inc

Second Loan and Security Agreement Supplement amehéiment, dated as of November 6, 2006, by and gu&B8A
Properties, Inc., and SBA Towers, Inc., SBA Pu&itm, Inc., SBA Sites, Inc., SBA Towers USVI, Inand SBA Structures,
Inc. and Midland Loan Services, Inc., as Servigebehalf of LaSalle Bank National Association, assiee. (4

Registration Rights Agreement, dated May 16, 26@8ng SBA Communications Corporation and DeutsadmkEsecurities
Inc., Citigroup Global Markets Inc. and Lehman Bt Inc., as representatives of the several liptichasers listed on
Schedule 1 of the Purchase Agreement
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10.71

10.72

10.75A
10.76

10.79

10.80

10.82

10.85

10.86

10.86A

10.87

10.87A

10.88

10.8¢

10.90

10.91

*21

*23.1
*31.1
*31.2

*32.1

Form of Convertible Bond Hedge Transaction Agreeneeitered into by SBA Communications Corporatiothveiach
of Lehman Brothers OTC Derivatives Inc., CitibahkA., Deutsche Bank AG London Branch, and Wach@aaital
Markets, LLC and Wachovia Bank, National Associatifv)

Form of Issuer Warrant Transaction Letter Agreeneenéred into by SBA Communications Corporatiorhveiich of
Lehman Brothers OTC Derivatives Inc., Citibank, N.Beutsche Bank AG London Branch, and Wachoviat&@lap
Markets, LLC and Wachovia Bank, National Associatif¥)

SBA Communications Corporation 2008 Employee Stegichase Plan, as amended on May 4, 201:

Form of Indemnification Agreement dated January20®9 between SBA Communications Corporation asd it
directors and certain officers. (1

Form of Convertible Bond Hedge Transaction Agreeneeitered into by SBA Communications Corporatiothveiach
of Citibank, N.A., Barclays Bank PLC, Deutsche B#t&, London Branch, JP Morgan Chase Bank, National
Association and Wachovia Capital Markets, LLC. (

Form of Issuer Warrant Transaction Letter Agreenseniéred into by SBA Communications Corporatiorhveiich of
Citibank, N.A., Barclays Bank PLC, Deutsche Bank,A@ndon Branch, JP Morgan Chase Bank, Nationabgiation
and Wachovia Capital Markets, LLC. (1

Registration Rights Agreement, dated July 24, 2a8%ng SBA Communications Corporation, SBA
Telecommunications, Inc. and Barclays Capital IBeutsche Bank Securities Inc. and J.P. Morgani@esuinc., as
representatives of the several initial purchagetasd on Schedule 2 of the Registration Rights Agrent. (13

Employment Agreement, made and entered into astdt@r 28, 2009, between SBA Communications Cotjmora
and Brendan T. Cavanagh. (¢

$500,000,000 Credit Agreement, dated as of Febrliar2010, among SBA Senior Finance I, LLC, agdoer, the
several banks and other financial institutionsrdities from time to time parties thereto, RBS S#ias Inc., as
syndication agent, Wells Fargo Bank, National Asstian, as co-syndication agent, Citibank, N.A. dRiMorgan
Chase Bank, N.A., as -documentation agents, and Toronto Dominion (Tek&€), as administrative agent. (1

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated a&snef 30, 2011, among SBA Senior Finance |l, aolar, the
several lenders from time to time parties ther€wpnto Dominion (Texas) LLC, as administrative migdPMorgan
Chase Bank, N.A., as term loan syndication ageatclBys Capital, as co-term loan syndication ageme, Royal Bank
of Scotland plc and Wells Fargo Bank, National Asation, as co-term loan documentation agentsbéritt, N.A. and
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., asrevolving facility documentation agents, and thieentagents thereto. (1

Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, dated as ofiBgb11, 2010, by SBA Communications CorporatBA
Telecommunications, Inc., SBA Senior Finance, IBBA Senior Finance Il, LLC and certain of its sdigies in
favor of Toronto Dominion (Texas) LLC, as adminasive agent. (14

Amended and Restated Guarantee and Collateral Agnete dated as of June 30, 2011, among SBAC, SBA
Telecommunications, Inc., SBA Senior Finance, IBBA Senior Finance Il and certain of SBA Seniardfice II's
subsidiaries, as identified in the Guarantee arithteoal Agreement, in favor of Toronto Dominioneas) LLC, as
administrative agent. (1!

Purchase Agreement, dated April 8, 2010, among SB#ior Finance, Inc. and the several initial puseis listed on
Schedule | of the Purchase Agreement.

SBA Communications Corporation 2010 PerformanceEity Incentive Plan. (17)

Third Loan and Security Agreement Supplement ané#dment, dated as of April 16, 2010, by and amdwy S
Properties, Inc., SBA Sites, Inc. and SBA Structuhec., as Borrowers, and Midland Loan Services,, las Servicer
on behalf of Deutsche Bank Trust Company Ameriaaslrustee (18

Fourth Loan and Security Agreement Supplement amédment, dated as of April 16, 2010, by and an&iBg
Properties, Inc., SBA Sites, Inc. and SBA Strucuhac., as Borrowers, and Midland Loan Services,, las Servicer
on behalf of Deutsche Bank Trust Company Ameriaasirustee (18

Subsidiaries
Consent of Ernst & Young LLF
Certification by Jeffrey A. Stoops, Chief Executi@éicer, pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarb-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification by Brendan T. Cavanagh, Chief FinahGfficer, pursuant to Section 302 of the SarbaDrkey Act of
2002.

Certification by Jeffrey A. Stoops, Chief Executi@éficer, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarb-Oxley Act of 2002



*32.2 Certification by Brendan T. Cavanagh, Chief Finah€fficer, pursuant to Section 906 of the SarbaDrley Act of

2002.
**101.INS XBRL Instance Documen
**101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docume
**101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurhe
**101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docutn
**101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Documk
**101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doeniy

+ Management contract or compensatory plan or arraage
* Filed herewitr
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*%

(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)
(7)
(8)
(9)
(10)
(11)
(12)
(13)
(14)
(15)
(16)
(17)
(18)
(19)
(20)

Furnished herewitt

Incorporated by reference to the Registration tate on Form -1/A, previously filed by the Registrant (RegistoatiNo. 33-76547).
Incorporated by reference to the Schedule 14A mnetiry Proxy Statement dated May 16, 2002, preWdiled by the Registran
Incorporated by reference to the Forn-K for the year ended December 31, 2005, previofiiglg by the Registran
Incorporated by reference to the Forn-K for the year ended December 31, 2006, previofiiglg by the Registran
Incorporated by reference to the Forn-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2008, previofildyg by the Registran
Incorporated by reference to the For-K dated May 22, 2008, previously filed by the Rémgist.

Incorporated by reference to the Forn-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2008, previoliglg by the Registran
Incorporated by reference to the Forn-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2008, prshjidiled by the Registran
Incorporated by reference to the Forn-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2011, previoliglg by the Registran
Incorporated by reference to the Forn-K for the year ended December 31, 2008, previofiiglgl by the Registran
Incorporated by reference to the Forn-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2009, previofiyd by the Registran
Incorporated by reference to the For-K dated January 31, 2012, previously filed by tlegiRtrant.

Incorporated by reference to the Forn-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2009, previoliglg by the Registran
Incorporated by reference to the Forn-K for the year ended December 31, 2009, previofilglg by the Registran
Incorporated by reference to the For-K dated April 14, 2010, previously filed by the Retgant.

Incorporated by reference to the For-4 dated May 19, 2010, previously filed by the Regis.

Incorporated by reference to the For-8 dated May 19, 2010, previously filed by the Regis.

Incorporated by reference to the Forn-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2010, previoliglg by the Registran
Incorporated by reference to the For-K dated July 7, 2011, previously filed by the Régist.

Incorporated by reference to the Forn-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2011, prelidied by the Registran
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regyigthas duly caused this report to
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, théoedmly authorized.

SBA COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION

By: /sl Jeffrey A. Stoops
Jeffrey A. Stoops
Chief Executive Officer and Preside

Date: February 27, 201

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on
behalf of the registrant and in the capacities@mthe dates indicated.

Signature Title. Date
/sl Steven E. Bernstein Chairman of the Board of Directors February 27, 2012
Steven E. Bernstei
/sl Jeffrey A. Stoops Chief Executive Officer and President February 27, 2012
Jeffrey A. Stoop: (Principal Executive Officer
/s/ Brendan T. Cavanagh Chief Financial Officer February 27, 2012
Brendan T. Cavanac (Principal Financial Officer
/sl Brian D. Lazarus Chief Accounting Officer February 27, 2012
Brian D. Lazaru (Principal Accounting Officer
/sl Brian C. Carr Director February 27, 2012
Brian C. Car
/s/ Duncan H. Cocroft Director February 27, 2012
Duncan H. Cocrof
/sl George R. Krouse Jr Director February 27, 2012
George R. Krouse J
/sl Jack Langer Director February 27, 2012
Jack Lange
/sl Kevin L. Beebe Director February 27, 2012

Kevin L. Beebe
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
The Board of Directors and Shareholders of SBA Caominations Corporation and Subsidiaries

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of SBA Communications Corporation andifligries as of December 31,
2011 and 2010, and the related consolidated statsmé&operations, comprehensive loss, shareholftkfcit) equity and cash flows for
each of the three years in the period ended DeceBih011. These financial statements are theresiipility of the Company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express aniopion these financial statements based on outsaud

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBioUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet &amdbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindmecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on tildasis, evidence supporting the amounts and disads in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting ptegused and significant estimates made by marageas well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe thatadits provide a reasonable basis for our opinio

In our opinion, the financial statements refer@alove present fairly, in all material respedts, ¢onsolidated financial position of SBA
Communications Corporation and Subsidiaries at Bdez 31, 2011 and 2010, and the consolidated sestitheir operations and their cash
flows for each of the three years in the periodeghDecember 31, 2011, in conformity with U.S. gafigraccepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasdi the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@/nited States), SBA
Communications Corporation and Subsidiaries’ irdéoontrol over financial reporting as of DecemBg&y 2011, based on criteria established
in Internal Control 4ntegrated Framework issued by the Committee ohSpiong Organizations of the Treadway Commissiod, @ur repol
dated February 27, 2012 expressed an unqualifisdoopthereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP
Certified Public Accountants

Boca Raton, Florida
February 27, 2012
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SBA COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

December 31, 201 December 31, 201
ASSETS
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel $ 47,31¢ $ 64,25¢
Restricted cas 22,26¢ 29,45¢
Shor-term investment 5,77: 4,01¢
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $135 a26R$at December 31, 2011 and
2010, respectivel 22,10( 18,78«
Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billimggncompleted contrac 17,65¢ 17,77¢
Prepaid and other current ass 14,24¢ 12,44
Total current asse 129,35¢ 146,72
Property and equipment, r 1,583,39: 1,534,311
Intangible assets, n 1,639,78 1,500,01;
Deferred financing fees, n 42,064 45,11(
Other asset 211,80: 174,00t
Total asset $ 3,606,39 $ 3,400,17!
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS ' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl $ 12,75t $ 11,847
Accrued expense 23,74¢ 21,42¢
Current maturities of lor-term deb 5,00( —
Deferred revenu 49,77¢ 61,13¢
Accrued interes 32,35! 32,29:
Other current liabilitie 3,25( 3,871
Total current liabilities 126,88: 130,58:
Long-term liabilities:
Long-term debi 3,349,48! 2,827,45!
Other lon¢-term liabilities 129,28 112,00t
Total lon¢-term liabilities 3,478,76 2,939,45!
Commitments and contingenci
Redeemable noncontrolling intere 12,06 13,02:
Shareholder equity:
Preferred stock — par value $.01, 30,000 sharémered, no shares issued or
outstanding — —
Common stock — Class A, par value $.01, 400,00€esteuthorized 109,675 and
114,832 shares issued and outstanding at Decerhip20B1 and 2010, respective 1,097 1,14¢
Additional paic-in capital 2,268,24. 2,243,45
Accumulated defici (2,281,13) (1,929,671
Accumulated other comprehensive income, 48E 2,17t
Total shareholde’ (deficit) equity (11,319 317,11
Total liabilities and sharehold¢ equity $ 3,606,39 $ 3,400,17

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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SBA COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

For the year ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
Revenues
Site leasing $616,29: $535,44: $ 477,000
Site developmer 81,87¢ 91,17¢ 78,50¢
Total revenue 698,17( 626,61¢ 555,51
Operating expense
Cost of revenues (exclusive of depreciation, ammeind amortization shown belov
Cost of site leasin 131,91¢ 119,14: 111,84.
Cost of site developme 71,00¢ 80,30: 68,70
Selling, general and administrati 62,82¢ 58,20¢ 52,78¢
Acquisition related expens 7,14¢ 10,10¢ 4,81(
Asset impairmen 5,47 5,86z 3,88¢
Depreciation, accretion and amortizat 309,14¢ 278,72 258,53
Total operating expens 587,51: 552,34t 500,55
Operating incom: 110,65¢ 74,27 54,95¢
Other income (expense
Interest incomt 13€ 43z 1,12
Interest expens (160,89¢) (149,92) (130,85
Non-cash interest expen (63,629 (60,070 (49,897
Amortization of deferred financing fe: (9,18¢) (9,099 (20,456
Loss from extinguishment of debt, 1 (1,696 (49,060 (5,667)
Other (expense) incon (165) 29 162
Total other expens (235,439 (267,689 (195,58)
Loss before provision for income tax (124,779 (193,416 (140,62)
Provision for income taxe (2,119 (1,005 (492)
Net loss (126,89 (194,42)) (141,119
Net loss (income) attributable to the noncontrgllinteres: 43€ (253 24¢
Net loss attributable to SBA Communications Cortiore $(126,456) $(194,674) $(140,87)
Net loss per common share attributable to SBA Comoations Corporatior
Basic and dilutes $ (113 $ (168 $ (1.20
Basic and diluted weighted average number of comsinaines 111,59! 115,59: 117,16!

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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SBA COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011, 2010 AND 20®

(in thousands)

For the year ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
Net loss $(126,89) $(194,42) $(141,119
Other comprehensive loss associated with derivatsteuments
Amortization of net deferred loss from settlemehderivative financial instruments, net of
tax — 632 622
Write-off of net deferred loss (gain) from derivwagtiinstruments related to repurchase of debt,
net of tax — 3,64¢ (3,350
Foreign currency translation adjustme (1,72%) 701 1,47¢
Comprehensive los (128,620 (189,44) (142,37))
Other comprehensive (gain) loss attributable tacoatrolling interes 43€ (29¢) 114
Comprehensive loss attributable to SBA Communicati@orporatior $(128,18  $(189,74) $(142,259)

The accompanying condensed notes are an integtafghese consolidated financial statements.
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SBA COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011, 2010 AND 20®
(in thousands)

Accumulated
Class A Additional Other

Common Stock Paid-In Accumulated  Comprehensive  Noncontrolling
Shares Amount Capital Deficit (Loss) Income Interests Total
BALANCE, December 31, 2008 (as adjust 117,52! $1,17¢ $2,085,91! $(1,435,03) $ 1,549 $ — $650,51(

Net loss — — — (140,87) — (248) (141,119
Amortization of net deferred loss from

settlement of derivative financial

instruments — — — — 622 — 622
Write-off of net deferred loss from derivative

instruments related to repurchase of ¢ — — — — (3,350 — (3,350
Foreign currency translation adjustme — — — — 1,474 — 1,474
Common stock issued in connection with

acquisitions and es-outs 864 9 20,30s — — — 20,31:
Purchase of n-wholly owned entity — — — — — 1,222 1,22
Non-cash compensatic — — 8,26( — — — 8,26(

Common stock issued in connection with
stock purchase/option pla 68¢ 7 7,03¢ — — — 7,04¢
Equity component related to 4.0% convertible

debt issuanc — — 168,93: — — — 168,93:
Purchase of convertible note hed — — (160,100 — — — (160,100
Proceeds from issuance of common stock

warrants — — 98,49 — — — 98,49
Stock issued in connection with repurchas:

of the 0.375% convertible de 61¢ 6 11,19: — — — 11,19¢
Equity component related to repurchases of

the 0.375% convertible de — — (11,830 — — — (11,830
Stock received related to the termination o

portion of the 0.375% convertible note

hedge (874) 9 9 — — — —
Stock issued related to the termination of a

portion of the 0.375% convertible debt

common stock warran 32¢ 3 ©)] — — — —
Preferred return on capital contributic — — 58 — — (59) —
Repurchase and retirement of common s (2,06¢) (20 — (51,700 — — (51,72()

BALANCE, December 31, 200 117,08: $1,171 $2,228,26! $(1,627,60) $ (2,807 $ 91t $ 599,94¢
Net loss — — — (194,679 — 252 (194,42)
Amortization of deferred loss from settleme

of derivative financial instrumen — — — — 632 — 632
Write-off of deferred loss from derivative

instruments related to repurchase of ¢ — — — — 3,64¢ — 3,64¢
Foreign currency translation adjustme — — — — 701 — 701
Non-cash compensatic — — 10,56( — — — 10,56(

Common stock issued in connection with
stock purchase/option pla 924 9 16,12« — — — 16,13
Proceeds from the settlement of convertible

note hedge — — 8,497 — — — 8,497
Purchase of redeemable noncontrolling

interests — — (7,500 — — (703) (8,207%)
Exchange of redeemable noncontrolling

interests — — (12,49 — — (465)  (12,95)
Repurchase and retirement of common s (3,179 (32 — (107,399 — — (107,420

BALANCE, December 31, 201

114,83 $1,14¢ $2,243,45 $(1,929,67) $ 2,17 $ —  $317,11
(continued)
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SBA COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011, 2010 AND 20®
(in thousands)

Accumulated

Class A Additional Other
Common Stock Paid-In Accumulated  Comprehensive  Noncontrolling
Shares Amount Capital Deficit (Loss) Income Interests Total
BALANCE, December 31, 201 114,83: $1,14¢ $2,243,45 $(1,929,67) $ 2,17t $ —  $317,11
Net loss attributable to SBA Communications
Corporatior — — — (126,45¢) — — (126,45¢)
Foreign currency translation adjustme — — (38) — (1,690 — (1,72
Equity component related to repurchases of
the 1.875% convertible de — — (2,607%) — — — (2,607
Non-cash compensatic — — 11,63¢ — — — 11,63¢
Common stock issued in connection with
stock purchase/option pla 761 8 15,79: — — — 15,80:
Repurchase and retirement of common s (5,919 (59) — (225,01 — — (225,077
BALANCE, December 31, 201 109,67' $1,097 $2,268,24. $(2,281,13) $ 48t $ — $ (11,319

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktbeasolidated financial statements
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SBA COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

For the year ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net loss $(126,89)  $(194,42)  $(141,119
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash piexviby operating activitie
Depreciation, accretion, and amortizat 309,14¢ 278,72 258,53
Non-cash interest expen 63,62¢ 60,07( 49,89"
Deferred income tax bene (1,68¢) (737) (265)
Asset impairmen 5,472 5,86% 3,88¢
Non-cash compensation exper 11,46¢ 10,50: 8,20(
Provision for doubtful accoun 70 63C 46E
Amortization of deferred financing fe 9,18¢ 9,09¢ 10,45¢
Loss from extinguishment of debt, 1 1,69¢ 49,06( 5,661
Other noi-cash items reflected in the Statements of Opers 69¢ (467) 85
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, natqtiisitions
Accounts receivable and costs and estimated earimingxcess of billings on
uncompleted contrac (3,709 (5,919 (3,499
Prepaid and other ass: (27,425 (15,027 (8,54¢)
Accounts payable and accrued expet 3,81« (3,319 (4,009
Accrued interes 58 (3,300 29,60t
Other liabilities 3,53( 10,37 13,217
Net cash provided by operating activit 249,05¢ 201,14( 222,57.
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Acquisitions and related ezouts (379,32() (328,049 (180,799
Capital expenditure (126,939 (66,61¢) (46,747
Purchase of investmer (6,330 (4,56€) (9,169
Proceeds from sales/maturities of investm: 4,581 7,107 98C
Purchase of cost method investme — (32,300 —
Proceeds from disposition of fixed ass 11¢ 0 60¢
(Payment) proceeds of restricted cash relatingweet removal obligation — (667) 6,042
Net cash used in investing activit| (507,889 (425,039 (229,079
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issuance of Term Loan, net of origesaie discount and fees pi 492 ,56( — —
Proceeds from issuance of 2010 Tower Securitigxnfrfees paic — 1,212,19. —
Repurchase and retirement of common s (225,077 (107,429 (51,720
Payment on extinguishment of CMBS Certifice — (979,369 (557,319
Principal payments under capital lease obligat (89€) — —
Payments on early extinguishment of convertiblet: (17,039 (30,409 (90,559
Borrowings under Revolving Credit Facili 250,00( 20,00( 8,507
Repayment of Revolving Credit Facili (270,000 — (239,06()
Proceeds from issuance of senior notes, net oinaligssue discount and fees p — — 727,91
Proceeds from issuance of convertible senior noetspf fees pai — — 488,19!
Proceeds from employee stock purchase/stock optaors 15,801 16,13t 7,04t
Release of restricted cash relating to CMBS Cedtiéis — 52¢€ 7,07¢
Payment of deferred financing fe (92) (5,129 (389
Proceeds from convertible note hed — 8,497 —
Purchase of noncontrolling intere (717) (8,209 —
Repayment of Optasite Credit Facil — — (149,11)
Repayment of Term Loe (2,500 — —
Proceeds from issuance of common stock wari — — 98,49
Purchase of convertible note hed — — (160,100
Net cash provided by financing activiti 242,04 126,82: 88,97¢
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and casbaénts (15%) 15 149
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT (16,939 (97,069) 82,46

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS:
Beginning of yea 64,254 161,31 78,85¢




End of yeal $ 47,31¢ $ 64,25¢ $ 161,31

(continued)
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SBA COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATIO!
Cash paid during the year fc
Interest

Income taxe:

SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION OF NO-CASH ACTIVITIES:

Assets acquired through capital lea

Class A common stock issued relating to acquisstimd earnout

Class A common stock issued in connection withyeaxtinguishment of det
Contribution of DAS Networks in exchange for equityestmen

Exchange of redeemable noncontrolling inter

For the year ended December 31,

2011

2010

2009

$161,25°  $153,60° $101,40¢
$ 4218 $ 154t $ 684
$ 257 $ 1,13C $§  23¢

= — 20,317
$ — $ — $ 11,19¢
$ — $ 11,00 § —
$ — $ 1250 $ —

The accompanying condensed notes are an integtadfghese consolidated financial statements.
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SBA COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. GENERAL

SBA Communications Corporation (the “Company” oB#8) was incorporated in the State of Florida infda1997. The Company is
a holding company that holds all of the outstandiapital stock of SBA Telecommunications, Inc. (B@mmunications”).
Telecommunications is a holding company that httésoutstanding capital stock of SBA Senior Finamee. (“SBA Senior Finance”) and
SBA Towers lll, an operating subsidiary that is agiarty to any loan agreement. SBA Senior Finaeeholding company that holds,
directly or indirectly, the equity interest in carn subsidiaries that issued Secured Tower Rev8raarities Series 2010-1 (the “2010rowel
Securities”) and the Secured Tower Revenue Seesiiteries 2010-2 (the “2010-2 Tower Securities”tagéther with the 2010-1 Tower
Securities, the “2010 Tower Securities”) and cerraibsidiaries that were not involved in the issgaof the 2010 Tower Securities. With
respect to the subsidiaries involved in the issaarfdche 2010 Tower Securities, SBA Senior Findadhe sole member of SBA Holdings,
LLC and SBA Depositor, LLC. SBA Holdings, LLC isetsole member of SBA Guarantor, LLC. SBA GuararitbC holds all of the capital
stock of the companies included in the 2010 TovezuBties referred to as the “Borrowers” (see N With respect to subsidiaries not
involved in the issuance of the 2010 Tower Se@sjtSBA Senior Finance holds all of the memberstigrests in SBA Senior Finance I,
LLC (“SBA Senior Finance 11") and certain naperating subsidiaries. SBA Senior Finance Il hofiictly or indirectly, all the capital of t
International subsidiaries and certain other toggemnpanies (known as “Tower Companies”). SBA SeRinance Il also holds, directly or
indirectly, all the capital stock and/or membershigrests of certain other subsidiaries involvegrioviding services, including SBA
Network Services, Inc“Network Services”) as well as SBA Network Manageménc. (“Network Management”) which manages and
administers the operations of the Borrowers.

The table below outlines the legal structure ofGlmenpany at December 31, 2011:

S8A COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION

| GRA TELECOMMUMIGATIONS, ING |
1

S Towers 0 |
LLe SBA Senior Financs, LLG

| Non-S=cimitiied and Nar-Loan
Party Domestlc Subsidiades

[
50A Sentor Fimnnee 1 LLG |

—=—b——a "
SEA, Dapoaitor, | SBA Radnge,
LG e ok

S8 Canada [BBA Central | I ————
Hi ki & | Amcrice, LLT |
& ———————=- 9BA Guarasko
LLEZ
1
B8A Nerwark |
BB Wt i Barmewrs
N i In | CRhar T
Sarleos LLG Ege—_ s | | E,:::r.uﬁh: =
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SBA COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As of December 31, 2011, the Company owned andatgebvireless communications towers in the UnitedeS and its territories. In
addition, the Company owned towers in Canada, (R&i@, El Salvador, Nicaragua, Guatemala and Pan@pe on these towers is leased
primarily to wireless service providers. As of Dedzer 31, 2011, the Company owned 10,524 tower. sites

Network Services provides comprehensive turnkeyviees for the telecommunications industry in thesarof site development services
for wireless carriers and the construction andiregfadransmission towers. Site development comsgiservices include (1) network pre-
design; (2) site audits; (3) identification of pati@l locations for towers and antennas; (4) supipdouying or leasing of the location; and
(5) assistance in obtaining zoning approvals amthipe. Site construction services of the Compasits development business includes a
number of services, including, but not limited lte following: (1) tower and related site constroti(2) antenna installation; and (3) radio
equipment installation, commissioning and mainteean

2.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

A summary of the significant accounting policieplgd in the preparation of the accompanying cadatéd financial statements is as
follows:

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements have beguaped in accordance with accounting principles glyeaccepted in the United
States of America (“U.S. GAAP”) and include the Guamy and its majority and wholly-owned subsidiarisi significant intercompany
accounts and transactions have been eliminatedhnisotidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial stetets in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires managetrto make estimates and
assumptions that affect the amounts reported icdhsolidated financial statements and accompamatgs. The significant estimates made
by management relate to the allowance for doubifabunts, the costs and revenue relating to thep@oy’s construction contracts, stock-
based compensation, valuation allowance relateefierred tax assets, fair value of long-lived asgbe useful lives of towers and intangible
assets, anticipated property tax assessmentyalaie of investments and asset retirement obligatiManagement develops estimates based
on historical experience and on various assumptiesit the future that are believed to be reaserfadded on the information available.
These estimates ultimately may differ from actealutts and such differences could be material.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist primarily of gaflanks, money market funds, commercial paperadiner marketable securities
with an original maturity of three months or lesshee time of purchase. These investments areechati cost, which approximates fair value.

I nvestments

Investment securities with original maturities abna than three months but less than one year atdfrpurchase are considered short-
term investments. The Company’s short-term investmprimarily consist of certificates of depositiwmaturities of less than a year.
Investment securities with maturities of more thayear are considered long-term investments andlassified in other assets on the
accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. Longiterestments primarily consist of U.S. Treasurasporate bonds and preferred
securities. Gross purchases and sales of the Corspamestments are presented within “Cash flovesrfinvesting activities” on the
Company'’s Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.
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SBA COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Restricted Cash

The Company classifies all cash pledged as codlbtersecure certain obligations and all cash whisgels limited as restricted cash.
This includes cash held in escrow to fund certagerve accounts relating to the 2010 Tower Seesirithd 2006 CMBS Certificates, for
payment and performance bonds, and surety bonasddgsr the benefit of the Company in the ordinamyrse of business (see Note 5).

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost astimna&ted fair value (in case of acquired prope)tiagjusted for asset impairment and
estimated asset retirement obligations. Costs &dedowith the development and construction of tewae capitalized as a cost of the tow
Costs for self-constructed towers include directamals and labor, indirect costs and capitalizedrest. Approximately $0.4 million, $0.4
million, and $0.2 million of interest cost was dafized in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

Depreciation on towers and related componentsogiged using the straight-line method over thenestéd useful lives, not to exceed
the minimum lease term of the underlying groundéed’he Company defines the minimum lease tertheashorter of the period from lease
inception through the end of the term of all terleate obligations in existence at ground leasepiihan, including renewal periods, or the
ground lease term, including renewal periods. Iferant lease obligation exists at the date of mtdaase inception, the initial term of the
ground lease is considered the minimum lease teeasehold improvements are amortized on a strdilghbasis over the shorter of the
useful life of the improvement or the minimum leésen of the lease. For all other property and jgapaint, depreciation is provided using the
straight-line method over the estimated usefulslive

The Company performs ongoing evaluations of thienased useful lives of its property and equipmemtdepreciation purposes. The
estimated useful lives are determined and contiyneshluated based on the period over which sesvéce expected to be rendered by the
asset. If the useful lives of assets are reduaatediation may be accelerated in future yeargpdttp and equipment under capital leases are
amortized on a straight-line basis over the teriheflease or the remaining estimated life of #aséd property, whichever is shorter, and the
related amortization is included in depreciatiopense. Expenditures for maintenance and repa&gxarensed as incurred.

Asset classes and related estimated useful livveasafollows:

Towers and related compone 3-15year
Furniture, equipment and vehicl 2-7 year
Buildings and improvemen 5-10 year

Betterments, improvements and extraordinary repaingch increase the value or extend the life ohaset, are capitalized and
depreciated over the remaining estimated usetublifthe respective asset. Changes in an asstttsaésd useful life are accounted for
prospectively, with the book value of the asseahattime of the change being depreciated overdhised remaining useful life. There has
been no material impact for changes in estimatetuliBves for any years presented.
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Deferred Financing Fees

Financing fees related to the issuance of debt haea deferred and are being amortized using feetefe interest rate method over-
expected length of related indebtedness (see NBte 1

Deferred Lease Costs

The Company defers certain initial direct cost®esded with the origination of tenant leases aasé amendments and amortizes these
costs over the initial lease term, generally fieans, or over the lease term remaining if relates lease amendment. Such deferred costs
approximately $5.1 million, $4.7 million, and $4xillion in 2011, 2010, and 2009, respectively. Atization expense was $4.6 million, $3.6
million, and $3.3 million for the years ended Detem31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively, antcisided in cost of site leasing on the
accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operatimsf December 31, 2011 and 2010, unamortizedrdefdease costs were $9.9 milli
and $9.4 million, respectively, and are includedtimer assets on the accompanying ConsolidatechBal@heets.

I ntangible Assets

The Company classifies as intangible assets thedhie of current leases in place at the acqaisiiate of towers and related assets
(referred to as the “Current contract intangibleai)d the fair value of future tenant leases gudieid to be added to the acquired towers
(referred to as the “Network location intangiblesThese intangibles are estimated to have an edongsaful life consistent with the
economic useful life of the related tower assetsclvis typically 15 years. For all intangible @ss@amortization is provided using the
straightline method over the estimated useful lives ad#reefit associated with these intangible assetntisipated to be derived evenly o
the life of the asset.

I mpairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company records an impairment charge when timep@ny believes an investment in towers or relatesets has been impaired,
such that future undiscounted cash flows wouldrecbver the then current carrying value of the gtweent in the tower site and related
intangible. Estimates and assumptions inherertdrihpairment evaluation include, but are not kdito, general market and economic
conditions, historical operating results, geograpbcation, lease-up potential and expected tinoinigase-up. In addition, the Company
makes certain assumptions in determining an asfeét'galue for the purpose of calculating the amtaaf an impairment charge. The
Company recorded an impairment charge of $5.5@nill$5.9 million and $3.9 million for the years eddDecember 31, 2011, 2010 and
2009, respectively (see Note 18).

Fair Value Measurements

The Company determines the fair market valuessdfriaincial instruments based on the fair valueanay, which requires an entity to
maximize the use of observable inputs and minirtfiezeuse of unobservable inputs when measuring&ire. The following three levels of
inputs that may be used to measure fair value:

Level 1 Quoted prices in active markets for identical assetiabilities that the Company has the abild@yatcess at the measurement
date.

Level Z Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices, ssauated prices for similar assets or liabilitiggpted prices in markets that are
not active; or other inputs that are observableaorbe corroborated by observable market dataufustantially the full term of
the assets or liabilitie:

Level 2 Unobservable inputs that are supported by littla@market activity and that are significant to thie value of the assets or
liabilities.
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Revenue Recognition

Revenue from site leasing is recorded monthly asdgnized on a straight-line basis over the cutesnt of the related lease
agreements, which are generally five years. Rebgaecorded related to the straight-lining of $#tases are reflected in other assets on the
Consolidated Balance Sheets. Rental amounts reteisdvance are recorded as deferred revenuesdidhsolidated Balance Sheets.

Site development projects in which the Companyquaré consulting services include contracts on & &md materials basis or a fixed
price basis. Time and materials based contractsited at contractual rates as the services aréared. For those site development contracts
in which the Company performs work on a fixed ptiesis, site development billing (and revenue raitam) is based on the completion of
agreed upon phases of the project on a per sits. hzon the completion of each phase on a pebsités, the Company recognizes the
revenue related to that phase. Site developmejeqtsogenerally take from 3 to 12 months to conmaplet

Revenue from construction projects is recognizethemercentage-of-completion method of accountieggermined by the percentage
of cost incurred to date compared to managemesitimated total cost for each contract. This metbaged because management considers
total cost to be the best available measure ofrpesgon the contracts. These amounts are basedioates, and the uncertainty inherent in
the estimates initially is reduced as work on thetacts nears completion. The asset “costs aimdasd earnings in excess of billings on
uncompleted contracts” represents costs incurrdderenues recognized in excess of amounts billed liability “billings in excess of costs
and estimated earnings on uncompleted contracidyided within other current liabilities on the Goamy’s Consolidated Balance Sheets,
represents billings in excess of costs incurredramdnues recognized. Provisions for estimatece®ea uncompleted contracts are made in
the period in which such losses are determinea tprbbable.

On October 31, 2011, the Company entered into aévldsnendment with one of its wireless service flew customers. The
Master Amendment serves as a separate amendneathiandividual existing tenant lease agreementiigaCompany is currently a party to
with that customer. Among other items, the Masterefiddment (1) extends the current term of the iddiai leases, (2) permits the customer
limited early termination rights which will be exésable over a multi-year period, commencing ingbeond half of 2013, on a specific
number of the existing leases, (3) allows the gustato make certain specific equipment changdseatawer sites, and (4) requires increases
to the existing monthly lease rates. The custoneaity termination rights are limited with resptcthe aggregate number of leases that may
be terminated and the number that may be terminatady quarter. The specific leases to be terrathetirly and the timing of such
terminations has not been determined as of thealdkes filing. As a result, for accounting anddicial statement purposes, the Company
has made assumptions with regard to the leasesteriminated and the timing of the terminationse TGompany has assumed that the
customer will terminate the maximum number of lsagéwable in each quarter, selecting the higrergal rate leases at the earliest
allowable dates. The Company believes that thesggstions will ensure that only the minimum knowwmenue for the pool of leases
covered by the Master Agreement will be accrued straight-line basis. The Company’s balance shegistatement of operations reflect
these assumptions. The actual leases that thenseisterminates and the timing and number of tertiina may or may not be those that we
have identified in our assumptions. The Companymnitor actual results and elections under thatstaAmendment and record any
differences from previously made assumptions onaatgrly basis. To the extent that the actual tesnhterially differ from the assumptions
made, the Company will disclose the impact of thedjastments.

Allowance for Doubtful accounts

The Company performs periodic credit evaluationgso€ustomers. The Company monitors collectiorts gayments from its customers
and maintains a provision for estimated creditdsdsased upon historical experience, specific oustaollection issues
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identified and past due balances as determineditmaseontractual terms. Interest is charged ontadisng receivables from customers on a
case by case basis in accordance with the tertie sbspective contracts or agreements with thosmers. Amounts determined to be
uncollectible are written off against the allowafaedoubtful accounts in the period in which unedtibility is determined to be probable.

The following is a rollforward of the allowance fdoubtful accounts for the years ended Decembe2@®11, 2010, and 2009;

For the year ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009

(in thousands
Beginning balanc $ 262 $ 35C $ 852
Allowance recorded relating to acquisitic — — 10
Provision for doubtful accoun 70 63C 46E
Write-offs, net of recoverie (199 (719 979
Ending balanci $ 13t $ 263 $ 35C

Cost of Revenue

Cost of site leasing revenue includes ground lease property taxes, maintenance and other toperating expenses. All ground lease
rental obligations due to be paid out over thedeasm, including fixed escalations, are recorde@ straight-line basis over the lease term.
Liabilities recorded related to the straight-liniojground leases are reflected in other Itgrga liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Shi
Cost of site development revenue includes the afostaterials, salaries and labor costs, includiagrpll taxes, subcontract labor, vehicle
expense and other costs directly and indirectlgteel to the projects. All costs related to siteedt@yment projects are recognized as incurred.

Income Taxes

The Company had taxable losses during the yeaededdcember 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, and as &, resubperating loss carry-
forwards have been generated. The majority of theseperating loss carry-forwards are fully reséras management believes it is not
“more-likely-than-not” that the Company will gentzaufficient taxable income in future periodsecagnize the losses. The tax years 1997
through 2010 remain open to examination by the njajésdictions in which the Company operates.

The Company determines whether it is “more-likdlgfi-not” that a tax position taken in an incomertgxrn will be sustained upon
examination, including resolution of any relateg@gls or litigation processes, based on the teahmierits of the position. Once it is
determined that a position meets the more-likejnthot recognition threshold, the position is meadio determine the amount of benefit to
recognize in the financial statements. The Compeasynot identified any tax exposures that requiesarve. In the future, to the extent that
the Company records unrecognized tax exposuregetated interest and penalties will be recognagthterest expense in the Company’s
Consolidated Statements of Operations.

The Company does not calculate U.S. taxes on uimittd earnings of foreign subsidiaries becaubstantially all such earnings are
expected to be reinvested indefinitely.
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Stock-Based Compensation

The Company measures and recognizes compensapensxfor all share-based payment awards madegioyees and directors,
including stock options, restricted stock units angployee stock purchases under employee stockasg@lans. The Company records
compensation expense, net of estimated forfeitioestock options and restricted stock units @traight-line basis over the vesting period.
Compensation expense for employee stock optiobased on the estimated fair value of the optiontherdate of the grant using the Black-
Scholes optiorpricing model. Compensation expense for restristedk units is based on the fair market value efuthits awarded at the d
of the grant.

Asset Retirement Obligations

The Company recognizes asset retirement obligatiotie period in which they are incurred, if ageaable estimate of a fair value can
be made, and accretes such liability through tHigation’s estimated settlement date. The assatiasset retirement costs are capitalized as
part of the carrying amount of the related toweedi assets, and over time, the liability is accréteits present value each period and the
capitalized cost is depreciated over the estimasedul life of the tower.

The Company has entered into ground leases fdattteunderlying the majority of the Company’s tosvek majority of these leases
require the Company to restore leaseholds to tngjmal condition upon termination of the groumdise. The asset retirement obligation at
December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010 was $8idmand $5.2 million, respectively, and is inckdlin other longerm liabilities on th
Consolidated Balance Sheets. Upon settlement aflthigations, any difference between the cost tioeran asset and the recorded liability is
recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Op&rmtis a gain or loss. In determining the impathefasset retirement obligations, the
Company considered the nature and scope of theambudl restoration obligations contained in thenPany’s third party ground leases, the
historical retirement experience as an indicatdutfre restoration probabilities, intent in renegiexisting ground leases through lease
termination dates, current and future value anthggnof estimated restoration costs and the cretljlitsted riskfree rate used to discount fut
obligations.

The following summarizes the activity of the agstirement obligation liability:

For the year ended December 31,

2011 2010
(in thousands)

Asset retirement obligation at Januar $ 521« $ 4,641
Additional liabilities accruet 9 32C
Currency translation adjustme 2 —
Accretion expens 25C 323
Revision in estimate (85) (70
Ending balanci $ 5,38¢ $ 521«

Loss Per Share

The Company has potential common stock equivalefased to its outstanding stock options and cdibMersenior notes. These
potential common stock equivalents were not indiidediluted loss per share because the
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effect would have been anti-dilutive in calculatihg full year earnings per share. Accordinglyibasd diluted loss per common share and
the weighted average number of shares used irothewutations are the same for all periods presantdte Consolidated Statements of
Operations.

Comprehensive | ncome (L 0ss)

Comprehensive income (loss) is defined as the ahangquity (net assets) of a business enterptisagla period from transactions
other events and circumstances from non-owner ssuend is comprised of net income (loss) and tatbeprehensive income (loss).”

Foreign Currency Trandation

All assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiarteat do not utilize the United States dollar agutsctional currency are translated at
period-end rates of exchange, while revenues apdreses are translated at monthly weighted aveedgs of exchange for the year.
Unrealized translation gains and losses are reghagdoreign currency translation adjustments tiihoother comprehensive loss in
shareholders’ equity.

Reclassifications
Certain reclassifications have been made to pear ymounts or balances to conform to the presemtatlopted in the current year.

Acquisitions

The Company accounts for acquisitions under theiaitipn method of accounting. The assets andlitads are recorded at fair
market value at the date of each acquisition aadedhults of operations of the acquired assetmaladed with those of the Company from
the dates of the respective acquisitions. The Compantinues to evaluate all acquisitions for dagaenot to exceed one year after the
applicable closing date of each transaction tordete whether any additional adjustments are negaléte allocation of the purchase price
paid for the assets acquired and liabilities. Tiarigible assets represent the value associatedheitcurrent leases at the acquisition date
(“Current Contract Intangibles”) and future tenkeaises anticipated to be added to the towers (“digtiocation Intangibles”) and were
calculated using the discounted values of the atioefuture expected cash flows. The intangibketsare estimated to have an economic
useful life consistent with the economic usefud liff the related tower assets, which is typicallyyéars.

The acquisitions consummated during fiscal yeadedmiDecember 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 were noffisignt to the Company,
and accordingly pro forma financial information e been presented.

In connection with certain acquisitions, the Comparay agree to pay additional consideration (oneats) if the towers or
businesses that are acquired meet or exceed cpedormance targets over a period of one to theaes after they have been acquired. The
Company records contingent consideration for adgtipis that occurred prior to January 1, 2009 wtiencontingent consideration is paid.
Effective January 1, 2009, the Company accruesdotingent consideration in connection with acdigss at fair value as of the date of the
acquisition. All subsequent changes in fair valfieamtingent consideration are recorded throughsGbdated Statements of Operations. In
certain acquisitions, the additional consideratitay be paid in cash or shares of Class A commark stothe Company’s option.
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3. CURRENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In May 2011, the FASB issued Accounting Standargddadte (“ASU”) No. 2011-04, Amendments to Achiever@oon Fair Value
Measurement and Disclosure Requirements in U.S. BAAd International Financial Reporting Standafapic 820) — Fair Value
Measurement, to provide a consistent definitiofaofvalue and sure that fair value measuremerdsdéstlosure requirements are similar
between U.S. GAAP and International Financial RépgrStandards. ASU 2011-04 changes certain fdireveneasurement principles and
enhances disclosure requirements particularly &well 3 fair value measurements (as defined in RptASU 2011-04 is effective in the first
quarter of fiscal 2012 and should be applied protpaly. The Company is currently evaluating thepamt of ASU 2011-04 on its financial
position, results of operations, cash flows andld&sures.

In June 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-05 — @eirensive Income (Topic 220): Presentation of Gefmgnsive Income,
to increase the prominence of other comprehensn@nie in financial statements. Under the provismiaSU No. 201105, an entity has tf
option to present the total of comprehensive incdime components of net income, and the compormdmtther comprehensive income either
in a single continuous statement of comprehensiveme or in two separate but consecutive stateménésstatement of other comprehen
income should immediately follow the statement effincome and include the components of other cehmrsive income and a total for
other comprehensive income, along with a totatfomprehensive income. The accounting changes sumadan ASU No. 2011-05 are
effective for fiscal years beginning on or aftercBmber 15, 2011, with early adoption permitted. Toenpany adopted ASU No. 2011-05
during the second quarter of fiscal 2011.

4. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Items Measured at Fa ir Value on a Recurring Basis— The Company'’s earnouts related to acquisitioagvaasured at fair value on a
recurring basis using Level 3 inputs. The fair eadi the earnouts is based on the anticipateddwarnout obligations. The fair value of the
earnouts is reviewed quarterly and is based opalyenents the Company expects to make based omtibgated performance of the
underlying assets. The Company’s estimate of tinevédue of its obligation if the performance tatgeontained in various acquisition
agreements were met was $5.5 million and $3.3oniliis of December 31, 2011 and December 31, 284pectively, which the Company
recorded in accrued expenses (see Note 12).

Items Measured at Fair Value on a Nonrecurring Basis— The Company'’s intangibles, certain long-livedetssand asset retirement
obligations are measured at fair value on a nomrimgubasis using Level 3 inputs. Level 3 valuasioaly on unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability, and include situations where therditide, if any, market activity for the asset @ahility. The Company considers many factors
makes certain assumptions when making this assessimguding but not limited to: general marketlaconomic conditions, historical
operating results, geographic location, lease-upri@l and expected timing of lease-up. The falug of the long-lived assets, intangibles
and asset retirement obligations is calculatedguaidiscounted cash flow model. The Company recbatieimpairment charge of $5.5
million, $5.9 million and $3.9 million for the yeaended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, resglgctiglated to its long-lived assets
resulting from the Company’s analysis that the feittash flows from certain tower sites would nabrer the carrying value of the
investment in those tower sites (see Note 18).

Fair Value of Financial Instruments— The carrying values of cash and cash equivalantgunts receivable, restricted cash, accounts
payable, and short-term investments, which con$i$b.6 million and $4.0 million in certificate deposits, as of December 31, 2011 and
2010, respectively, approximate their related essti fair values due to the short maturity of thoseruments. The Company’s estimate of
the fair value of its held-to-maturity investmemdreasury and corporate bonds, including curpemtion, are based primarily upon reported
market values. As of December 31, 2011, the cagryalue and fair value of the held-to-maturity istreents, including current portion, was
$1.4 million and $1.6 million, respectively. AsB&cember 31, 2010, the carrying value and fairezalithe held-to-maturity investments,
including current portion, was $1.5 million and Bnillion, respectively.

The Company determines fair value of its debt imants utilizing various sources including quotedgs and indicative quotes (that is
non-binding quotes) from brokers that require judgnterihterpret market information including implietedit spreads for similar borrowin
on recent trades or bid/ask prices. The followadgé reflects fair values, principal values andyiag values of the Company’s debt
instruments (see Note 13).

As of December 31, 2011

As of December 31, 2010

Principal Carrying Principal Carrying
Fair Fair
Value Value Value Value Value Value
(in millions)
1.875% Convertible Senior Notes due 2! $605.2 $535.C $485.C $617.« $550.C $464.(
4.0% Convertible Senior Notes due 2( $761.€ $500.C $397.¢ $744.«. $500.C $368.k
8.0% Senior Notes due 20 $405.C $375.C $373.2 $405.¢ $375.C $372.¢
8.25% Senior Notes due 20 $407.¢ $375.C $372.« $409.7 $375.C $372.1
4.254% 201-1 Tower Securitie $699.C $680.C $680.C $691.¢ $680.C $680.C
5.101% 201-2 Tower Securitie $579.C $550.C $550.C $556.¢ $550.C $550.C
Revolving Credit Facility $— $ — $ — $20C $ 20C $ 20.cC



Term Loan $494.2. $497F $496.°7 $ —
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5. RESTRICTED CASH
Restricted cash consists of the following:

As of As of
December 31, 201 December 31, 201 Included on Balance Sheet
(in thousands)
Securitization escrow accour $ 21,37¢ $ 28,58 Restricted cas- current ass
Payment and performance bot 88¢ 873 Restricted cas— current ass:
Surety bonds and workers
compensatiol 11,49¢ 11,39: Other asset— noncurren
Total restricted cas $ 33,76! $ 40,84¢

Pursuant to the terms of the Mortgage Pass-ThrQagtificates Series 2006-1 (the “2006 CMBS Cerdifés”) and, upon their
refinancing, pursuant to the terms of the Secu@der Revenue Securities Series 2010-1 (the “20I0vler Securities”) and the Secured
Tower Revenue Securities Series 2010-2 (the “20T0x2er Securities” and together with the 2010-1 €o®ecurities, the “2010 Tower
Securities”) (see Note 13), the Company is requioegktablish a controlled deposit account, helthieyindenture trustee, into which all rents
and other sums due on the towers that securedhe @MBS Certificates and those that currently setive 2010 Tower Securities are
directly deposited by the lessees. These restradstd amounts are used to fund reserve accourttssfpayment of (1) debt service costs,
(2) ground rents, real estate and personal propeexgs and insurance premiums related to towes, 43¢ trustee and servicing expenses,

(4) management fees, and (5) to reserve a porfiadwance rents from tenants. The restricted aasie controlled deposit account in excess
of required reserve balances is subsequently edeasthe Borrowers (as defined in Note 13) monthigvided that the Borrowers are in
compliance with their debt service coverage ratid that no Event of Default has occurred. All msrield by the indenture trustee are
classified as restricted cash on the Company’s @ilzged Balance Sheets.

Payment and performance bonds relate primarilypbateral requirements for tower construction cotiein process by the Company.
Cash is pledged as collateral related to suretg®dssued for the benefit of the Company or it8iafés in the ordinary course of business
primarily related to the Company’s tower removaligdttions. As of December 31, 2011, the Company3$2@16 million in surety, payment
and performance bonds for which it is only requitegost $10.1 million in collateral. The Compareripdically evaluates the collateral
posted for its bonds to ensure that it meets thénmim requirements. As of December 31, 2011 an® 2 Company had pledged $2.3
million and $2.2 million, respectively, as collagkrelated to its workers compensation policy. Retstd cash for surety bonds and workers
compensation are included in other assets on thep@oy’s Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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6. OTHER ASSETS
The Company’s other assets are comprised of tih@fimlg:

As of As of
December 31, 201 December 31, 201
(in thousands)

Restricted cas-LT $ 11,49¢ $ 11,39:
Long-term investment 49,52¢ 49,63¢
Prepaid land rer 57,51( 43,697
Straigh-line revenue 64,357 51,60(
Other 28,91 17,68(
Total Other Assets $ 211,80: $ 174,00¢

7. ACQUISITIONS
The following table summarizes the Company’s adgtjorsactivity:

For the year ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

Tower Acquisitions (number of towers) 1,08t 712 37€

The following table summarizes the Company’s adtjaiscapital expenditures:

For the year ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
(in thousands’

Towers and related intangible ass $348,95( $ 294,42¢ $165,84-

Ground lease land purchas 25,75¢ 24,95( 11,577

Earnouts 4,61 8,66¢ 3,371

Total Acquisition Capital Expenditurt $379,32( $ 328,04! $180,79¢

The Company paid, as part of the ground lease psechrogram, $9.8 million, $9.0 million, and $4.@ion for long-term extensions
during the years ending 2011, 2010, and 2009, ctispéy.

During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Coynpeguired an interest in distributed antenna syst€DAS”) provider Extenet
Systems, Inc. for approximately $32.3 million irshand the contribution of its existing DAS busiealued at $11.0 million. The
investment in Extenet Systems, Inc. is accountedrider the cost method of accounting.

During the year ended December 31, 2009, the Coyniganed approximately 785,000 shares of Classmneon stock in connection
with tower acquisitions and ground lease purchases.

F-19



Table of Contents

SBA COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Earnouts

The Company recorded $0.7 million of income, né&itegl to contingent consideration adjustments ényérar ended December 31,
2011. Adjustments recorded to contingent consideran the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2@08 mot material.

As of December 31, 2011 the Company’s estimatesqgiatential obligation if the performance targegstained in various
acquisition agreements were met was $5.5 milliorckwthe Company recorded in accrued expenses, aeapathe probable obligation of
$3.3 million at December 31, 2010.

For the year ended December 31, 2009, the Compgangd approximately 78,000 shares of Class A constumk as a result of
acquired towers exceeding certain performance tsarge

8. INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET
The following table provides the gross and netyéag amounts for each major class of intangibletss

As of December 31, 2011 As of December 31, 2010
Gross carrying Accumulated Net book Gross carrying Accumulated Net book
amount amortization value amount amortization value
(in thousands)
Current contract intangible $1,391,000 $(333,52) $1,057,47¢ $1,206,11. $(248,30¢) $ 957,80t
Network location intangible 772,46 (190,167) 582,30! 684,49 (142,29) 542,20t
Intangible asset $2,163,46: $(523,68) $1,639,78 $1,890,61 $(390,599 $1,500,01:

All intangibles noted above are contained in thenBany’s site leasing segment. The Company amoritgé@stangibles using the
straight line method over fifteen years. Amortieatexpense relating to the intangible assets atvage$133.1 million, $117.0 million and
$107.6 million for the years ended December 3112@010 and 2009, respectively. These amountsudject to changes in estimates until
the preliminary allocation of the purchase pricérialized for each acquisition.

Estimated amortization expense on the Companyteoticontract and network location intangiblessigalows:

For the year ended December 31, (in thousands
2012 $ 144,23:
2013 144,23
2014 144,23:
2015 144,23
2016 144,23
Thereatftel 918,62¢
Total $1,639,78
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9. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET
Property and Equipment, net (including assets hetter capital leases) consists of the following:

As of As of

December 31, 201 December 31, 201
(in thousands)

Towers and related compone $ 2,587,899 $ 2,407,32
Constructiorin-proces: 23,07¢ 24,98¢
Furniture, equipment and vehicl 29,71 24,04¢
Land, buildings and improvemer 168,98t 143,44!
2,809,67. 2,599,79i
Less: accumulated depreciati 1,226,27)) (1,065,47)
Property and equipment, r $ 1,583,39 $ 1,534,3L

Construction-in-process represents costs incuetaded to towers that are under development aridwilised in the Company’s
operations. Depreciation expense was $175.8 mjlid61.4 million, and $150.6 million for the yearsded December 31, 2011, 2010, and
2009, respectively. At December 31, 2011 and 26&6;cash capital expenditures that are includetaounts payable and accrued expenses
were $7.2 million and $4.7 million, respectively.

10. COSTS AND ESTIMATED EARNINGS IN EXCESS OF BILLINGS ON UNCOMPLETED CONTRACTS
Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billimggncompleted contracts consist of the following:

As of As of
December 31, 201 December 31, 201
(in thousands)
Costs incurred on uncompleted contre $ 37,79 $ 43,68¢
Estimated earninc 14,26¢ 14,80¢
Billings to date (34,700 (41,729
$ 17,35: $ 16,76,

These amounts are included in the accompanyingdlidaged Balance Sheets under the following cation

As of As of
December 31, 201 December 31, 201
(in thousands)

Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billimgs

uncompleted contrac $ 17,65¢ $ 17,77¢
Other current liabilities (Billings in excess ofsts and

estimated earnings on uncompleted contr: (309) (1,009

$ 17,35 $ 16,76’

At December 31, 2011, five significant customemipdsed 91.4% of the costs and estimated earninggdess of billings on
uncompleted contracts, net of billings in excesesasits and estimated earnings, while at Decemhe2®D, five significant customers
comprised 81.4% of the costs and estimated earminggcess of billings on uncompleted contracts ofidillings in excess of costs and
estimated earnings.
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11. CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK

The Company'’s credit risks consist primarily of @aots receivable with national, regional and lagéless service providers and
federal and state government agencies. The Conpanigrms periodic credit evaluations of its custosh@nancial condition and provides
allowances for doubtful accounts, as required, thapen factors surrounding the credit risk of sfieciustomers, historical trends and other
information. The Company generally does not reqodiéateral. The following is a list of significantistomers (representing at least 10% of
revenue for all periods reported) and the percentdgotal revenue for the specified time periodswed from such customers:

Percentage of Total Revenues
For the year ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
AT&T 23.&% 23.% 23.8%
Sprint 19.8% 20.4% 21.%%
Verizon Wireless 14.8% 14.&% 15.4&%
T-Mobile 10.7% 11.6% 13.7%

The Company’s site leasing, site development coinguand site development construction segmentgsalegvenue from these
customers. Client percentages of total revenuach ef the segments are as follows:

Percentage of Site Leasing Revenues
For the year ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
AT&T 26.£% 28.(% 27.7%
Sprint 22.% 23.6% 25.2%
Verizon Wireless 15.5% 15.2% 16.(%
T-Mobile 11.2% 11.7% 11.6%

Percentage of Site Development
Consulting Revenues
For the year ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
Verizon Wireless 17.5% 15.1% 23.6%
Nsoro Mastec, LLC 9.1% 13.4% 9.2%
T-Mobile 8.5% 6.C% 13.%
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Percentage of Site Development
Construction Revenues
For the year ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
Nsoro Mastec, LLC 42.71% 36.(% 24.%
Ericsson, Inc 10.1% 3.C% 0.2%
Verizon Wireless 7.3% 10.2% 8.3%
T-Mobile 6.6% 11.8% 28.2%

Five significant customers comprised 50.4% of tgtalss accounts receivable at December 31, 201 pa@u to five significant
customers which comprised 50.5% of total gross atisoreceivable at December 31, 2010.

12. ACCRUED EXPENSES
The Company’s accrued expenses are comprised @dltheing:

As of As of
December 31, 201 December 31, 201
(in thousands)
Accrued earnout $ 5,53¢ $ 3,26:
Salaries and benefi 5,43: 5,087
Real estate and property ta 5,551 6,001
Other 7,22% 7,07¢
$ 23,74¢ $ 21,42¢
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The carrying value of debt consists of the follogzin

As of
December 31, 201

1.875% Convertible Senior Notes due 2013; prindigddnce o
$535.0 million and $550.0 million as of Decembey 2011

and 2010, respective $ 484,97(
4.0% Convertible Senior Notes due 2014; princigdabce of

$500.0 million as of December 31, 2011 and Decerler

2010 397,61:
8.0% Senior Notes due 2016; principal balance G&&Bmillion

as of December 31, 2011 and December 31, . 373,19¢
8.25% Senior Notes due 2019; principal balance3@5%0

million as of December 31, 2011 and December 310: 372,36!
4.254% Secured Tower Revenue Securities Series-1 680,00(
5.101% Secured Tower Revenue Securities Series-2 550,00(
2010 Senior Finance Il Revolving Credit Faci —
Term Loan; principal balance of $497.5 milli 496,34(
Total debt 3,354,48!

Less: current maturities of lo-term debt (5,000

Total lon¢-term debt, net of current maturiti $ 3,349,448

As of
December 31, 201
(in thousands)

$

463,97(

368,46
372,88¢

372,12¢
680,00(
550,00(

20,00(

2,827,45!

$ 2,827,45

The Company'’s future principal payment obligati@ipased on the outstanding debt as of December031, 2nd assuming the 2010
Tower Securities are repaid at their respective ARt®s) are as follows:

2012
2013
2014
2015
2016
Therafter

Total

The table below reflects cash and non-cash intesgmtnse amounts recognized by debt instrumeniéoyears ended

December 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009:

0.375% Convertible Senior Not
1.875% Convertible Senior Not
4.0% Convertible Senior Nott
8.0% Senior Note

8.25% Senior Note

2005 and 2006 CMBS Certificat
2010 Tower Securitie

Term Loan

Revolving Credit Facility
Optasite Credit Facilit
Gain/Loss on Swa

Capitalized Interes

Total

Credit Agreement

Principal
(in thousands’

$ 5,00(
540,00(
505,00(
685,00(
380,00(

1,397,501
$3512,50

For the year ended December 31,

2011

2010

2009

Non-Cast Non-Cash Non-Cash

Cash Interest Interest Cash Interest Interest Cash Interes Interest
(in thousands)

$ — $ — $ 46 $ 1,758 % 19t $ 3,69

10,09( 33,84« 10,31z 31,511 10,31 28,70

20,00( 29,14¢ 20,00( 25,64: 13,76 15,83¢

30,00( 30¢ 30,00( 28t 13,08: 117

30,93¢ 237 30,93¢ 21¢€ 13,49: 90

— — 16,43( — 74,64 —

57,371 — 40,68 — — —

9,70t 9C — — — —

3,20¢ — 1,90: — 3,75¢ —

— — — — 1,831 824

— — — 65¢& — 62¢

(417) — (391) — (225) —

$ 160,89¢ $63,62¢ $ 149,92. $60,07C $ 130,85 $49,89]




On February 11, 2010, SBA Senior Finance Il, LLSEA Senior Finance II”), an indirect wholly-owneglsidiary of the Company,
entered into a credit agreement for a $500.0 millienior secured revolving credit facility (the YR&ving Credit Facility,” formerly referred
to as the 2010 Credit Facility) with several baakd other financial institutions or entities froime to time parties to the credit agreement.

On June 30, 2011, SBA Senior Finance Il enteremlantAmended and Restated Credit Agreement (thediCAgreement”) with
several banks and other financial institutionsrdities from time to time parties to the Credit Agment, to extend the maturity of the
Revolving Credit Facility, to obtain a new $500.0lion senior secured term loan (the “Term Loargd to amend certain terms of the
existing credit agreement. The Company incurredrfaing fees of $6.2 million in relation to thisrtgaction. In addition, at the time of
entering into the Credit Agreement, the remainiatetred financing fees balance of approximatelB $dillion related to the existing Credit
Agreement prior to the amendment was transferrédetdrevolving Credit Facility in accordance witttaunting guidance for revolving
credit facilities.

Revolving Credit Facility

The Revolving Credit Facility consists of a revalgiloan under which up to $500.0 million aggregatacipal amount may be
borrowed, repaid and redrawn, subject to compliavite specific financial ratios and the satisfantiaf other customary conditions to
borrowing. Amounts borrowed under the Revolvingditr€acility accrue interest at the Eurodollar Rgligs a margin that ranges from 187.5
basis points to 237.5 basis points or at a Base plas a margin that ranges from 87.5 basis ptint87.5 basis points, in each case based or
the ratio of Consolidated Total Debt to AnnualiBatrower EBITDA (calculated in accordance with tbeedit Agreement). If not earlier
terminated by SBA Senior Finance Il, the Revolv@rgdit Facility will terminate on, and SBA Senidn&nce Il will repay all amounts
outstanding on or before, June 30, 2016. The
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proceeds available under the Revolving Credit Fgailay be used for general corporate purposesrfapnum commitment fee of 0.375%
0.5% of the unused commitments under the Revol@ireglit Facility is charged based on the ratio ofi€ididated Total Debt to Annualized
Borrower EBITDA (calculated in accordance with teedit Agreement). SBA Senior Finance Il may, friime to time, borrow from and
repay the Revolving Credit Facility. Consequentiyg amount outstanding under the Revolving Creddilfy at the end of a period may not
be reflective of the total amounts outstandingmysuch period.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, SBA Séiiimnce || borrowed $250.0 million under the Revry Credit Facility. During
the year ended December 31, 2010, SBA Senior Finnmorrowed $20.0 million under the Revolving Gite~acility. On June 30, 2011, the
proceeds from the Term Loan were used to repagitisting $270.0 million balance on the Revolvingdit Facility and for general corpor.
purposes. Since the repayment the Company hamowed any amount under the Revolving Credit fscil

As of December 31, 2011, the availability under®evolving Credit Facility was approximately $50@ndlion.

Term Loan

The Term Loan consists of a senior secured termiloan aggregate principal amount of $500.0 nnliEmd matures on June 30, 2018.
The Term Loan accrues interest, at SBA Senior iedlis election, at either the Base Rate plus egimaof 175 basis points (with a Base
Rate floor of 2%) or Eurodollar Rate plus a margfir275 basis points (with a Eurodollar Rate flobd&o). The proceeds from the Term Loan
were used to pay down the $270.0 million existiaahce on the Revolving Credit Facility and mayubed for general corporate purposes.
Principal on the Term Loan will be repaid in qudsténstallments of $1.25 million on the last dayemch March, June, September and
December, commencing on September 30, 2011. Thaimerg principal balance of the Term Loan will heecand payable on the maturity
date. SBA Senior Finance Il has the ability to psepny or all amounts under the Term Loan. Howeeethe extent the Term Loan is preg
prior to June 30, 2012 from the proceeds of a smiisily concurrent issuance of certain other syat#id loans, a prepayment fee equal to
1.0% of the aggregate principal amount of suchgyegent will apply. The Term Loan was issued at 9% of par value.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, SBA Sétiimance || made a repayment of $ 2.5 million om Tierm Loan. As of
December 31, 2011, the Term Loan had a principahiga of $ 497.5 million.

Terms of the Credit Agreement

The Credit Agreement, as amended, requires SBAoS€mance 1l and SBA Communications CorporatiocBRAC”) to maintain
specific financial ratios, including, at the SBAnS® Finance Il level, (1) a ratio of ConsolidatBdtal Debt to Annualized Borrower EBITD
not to exceed 6.0 times for any fiscal quartera(atio of Consolidated Total Debt and Net Hedgpdsure (calculated in accordance with
the Credit Agreement) to Annualized Borrower EBITEX the most recently ended fiscal quarter naxoeed 6.0 times for 30 consecutive
days and (3) a ratio of Annualized Borrower EBITEBAANNualized Cash Interest Expense (calculatestaordance with the Credit
Agreement) of not less than 2.0 times for any fiscerter. In addition, SBAC's ratio of Consoliddt€otal Net Debt to Consolidated
Adjusted EBITDA (calculated in accordance with @medit Agreement) for any fiscal quarter on an atized basis cannot exceed 9.5 times.
The Credit Agreement contains customary affirmatimd negative covenants that, among other thiirgi,the ability of SBA Senior Financ
Il and its subsidiaries to incur indebtedness, geantain liens, make certain investments, enter sale leaseback transactions, merge or
consolidate, make certain restricted paymentsy émie transactions with affiliates, and engageeéntain asset dispositions, including a sal
all or substantially all of their property. As okBember 31, 2011, SBA Senior Finance Il and SBA&wecompliance with the financial
covenants contained in the Credit Agreement. Thegli€Agreement is also subject to customary evehts
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default. Pursuant to an Amended and Restated Giegrand Collateral Agreement, amounts borrowed uh@eRevolving Credit Facility,

the Term Loan and certain hedging transactionsriagt be entered into by SBA Senior Finance Il erSlubsidiary Guarantors (as defined in
the Credit Agreement) with lenders or their affdéisare secured by a first lien on the capitalkstd SBA Telecommunications, Inc., SBA
Senior Finance, LLC (formerly known as SBA Seniarafce, Inc.) and SBA Senior Finance Il and on wutimlly all of the assets (other
than leasehold, easement and fee interests ipmegérty) of SBA Senior Finance Il and the Subsidi@uarantors.

The Credit Agreement permits SBA Senior Finande Hequest that one or more lenders (1) increase phoportionate share of the
Revolving Credit Facility commitment up to an adztial $200.0 million in the aggregate, and/or (B)vyide SBA Senior Finance Il with
additional term loans in an aggregate principal amof up to $500.0 million, in each case withaequesting the consent of the other lenc
SBA Senior Finance II's ability to request suchreases in the Revolving Credit Facility or addidbterm loans is subject to its compliance
with customary conditions set forth in the Crediréement including, with respect to any additideai loan, compliance, on a pro forma
basis, with the financial covenants and ratioSarh therein and an increase in the margin ontiexjgerm loans, to the extent required by the
terms of the Credit Agreement. Upon SBA Senior Ragall’s request, each lender may decide, in its discretion, whether to increase all or
a portion of its Revolving Credit Facility commitmteor whether to provide SBA Senior Finance Il watfditional term loans and, if so, upon
what terms.

The CMBS Certificates
Commercial Mortgage Pass-Through Certificates Series 2006-1

On November 6, 2006, a New York common law truse (fTrust”), issued in a private transaction $lbilkon of 2006 CMBS
Certificates. The 2006 CMBS Certificates consigiedine subclasses with annual p#sgugh interest rates ranging from 5.314% to 798z
The weighted average annual fixed coupon inteegstaf the 2006 CMBS Certificates was 5.9%, payaidathly, and the effective weighted
average annual fixed interest rate was 6.2% aftamgyeffect to the settlement of the nine intemadé swap agreements entered into in
contemplation of the transaction (see Note 14).

On April 16, 2010, the Company repaid the remaimrigcipal balance of $938.6 million of the 2006 88l Certificates and paid $38.5
million for prepayment consideration plus accruetgriest and fees. During the year-to-date peria@mecember 31, 2010, but prior to the
payoff of the principal balance, the Company repased an aggregate of $2.0 million in principal ami@f 2006 CMBS Certificates for $2
million in cash. The Company recorded on the Comjsa@onsolidated Statements of Operations a $48lmloss on extinguishment of
debt related to the repurchases and prepaymemigdilng year ended December 31, 2010.

During the year ended 2009, the Company repurchasedigregate of $150.1 million in principal amooh2006 CMBS Certificates
for $150.5 million in cash. The Company recordedsrConsolidated Statements of Operations a $8libmloss on the early extinguishme
of debt for the year ended December 31, 2009.

Secured Tower Revenue Securities Series 2010

On April 16, 2010, the Trust issued $680.0 millmr2010-1 Tower Securities and $550.0 million ol@& Tower Securities. The 2010-
1 Tower Securities have an annual interest rate2¥4% and the 2010-2 Tower Securities have anammerest rate of 5.101%. The
weighted average annual fixed coupon interestafatiee 2010 Tower Securities is 4.7%, includingrbesers’ fees, payable monthly. The
anticipated repayment date and the final matustye dor the 2010-1 Tower Securities is April 1612@&nd April 16, 2040, respectively. The
anticipated repayment date and the final matustye dor the 2010-2 Tower Securities is April 1612@&nd April 16, 2042, respectively. The
Company incurred deferred financing fees of appnately $17.9 million in relation to this transactio
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which are being amortized through the anticipagmhyment date of each of the 2010 Tower Securliesproceeds from the 2010 Tower
Securities were used to repay in full the outstag@006 CMBS Certificates in the amount of $938ilion and pay the related prepayment
consideration plus accrued interest and fees. @imaining net proceeds were used for general camppraposes.

The sole asset of the Trust consists of a non-reeanortgage loan made in favor of SBA Propertias, SBA Sites, Inc., and SBA
Structures, Inc., indirect wholly-owned operatingpsidiaries of the Company (the “Borrowers”). Thar®wers are special purpose vehicles
which exist solely to hold the towers which arejeabto the securitization. In connection with teeuance of the 2010 Tower Securities and
the repayment of the 2006 CMBS Certificates, thetgage loan components relating to the 2006 CMB®&ifidates were repaid and the
mortgage loan was amended to create two new loapaents, each with terms that are identical tsdrees of 2010 Tower Securities to
which it relates. The Borrowers are jointly andesaiy liable for all obligations under the mortgagan.

The mortgage loan underlying the 2010 Tower Sdesnill be paid from the operating cash flows frime aggregate 3,670 tower sites
owned by the Borrowers. The mortgage loan is sechyg(i) mortgages, deeds of trust and deeds tarsatebt on a substantial portion of the
tower sites, (ii) a security interest in substditiall of the Borrowers’ personal property andtiixes, (iii) the Borrowers’ rights under certain
tenant leases, and (iv) all of the proceeds ofdhegoing. For each calendar month, SBA Network dgment, Inc., the Company’s indirect
subsidiary, is entitled to receive a managemenetpml to 7.5% of the Borrowers’ operating reverfoeshe immediately preceding calendar
month.

The Borrowers may prepay either of the mortgage tmamponents, in whole or in part, with no prepagtre@nsideration, (i) within
nine months of the anticipated repayment date cif snortgage loan component, (ii) with proceedsiweckas a result of any condemnatio
casualty of any tower site owned by the Borrowergiip during an amortization period. In all otheircumstances, the Borrowers may prepay
the mortgage loan, in whole or in part, upon payneéthe applicable prepayment consideration. Tiegp@yment consideration is determined
based on the class of 2010 Tower Securities tolwthie prepaid mortgage loan component correspamis@nsists of an amount equal to the
excess, if any, of (1) the present value associatddthe portion of the principal balance beingmaid, calculated in accordance with the
formula set forth in the mortgage loan agreememthe date of prepayment of all future installmesftprincipal and interest required to be
paid from the date of prepayment to and includimgfirst due date that is nine months prior toghgcipated repayment date over (2) that
portion of the principal balance of such class pr@pn the date of such prepayment.

To the extent that the mortgage loan componentesponding to the 2010 Tower Securities are ndt fepaid by their respective
anticipated repayment dates, the interest rataai such component will increase by the greaté) 6f6 and (ii) the amount, if any, by whi
the sum of (x) the ten-year U.S. treasury rate ffushe credit-based spread for such componergdgaforth in the mortgage loan agreement)
plus (z) 5%, exceeds the original interest ratestmh component.

Pursuant to the terms of the 2010 Tower Securiiksents and other sums due on any of the toites swned by the Borrowers are
directly deposited by the lessees into a contraliegosit account and are held by the indenturésteud he monies held by the indenture
trustee after the release date is classified d@satesl cash on the Company’s Consolidated Bal&@tezets (see Note 5). However, if the Debt
Service Coverage Ratio, defined as the net cash(fis defined in the mortgage loan agreement) divioly the amount of interest on the
mortgage loan, servicing fees and trustee feeghbaBorrowers are required to pay over the sudngdadelve months, as of the end of any
calendar quarter, falls to 1.30x or lower, thercah flow in excess of amounts required to make slervice payments, to fund required
reserves, to pay management fees and budgetedingergpenses and to make other payments requiréer uhe loan documents, referred to
as “excess cash flomyill be deposited into a reserve account instedukaig released to the Borrowers. The funds inmékerve account w
not be released to the Borrowers unless the DaliceeCoverage Ratio exceeds 1.30x for
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two consecutive calendar quarters. If the DebtiSer€overage Ratio falls below 1.15x as of the @hany calendar quarter, then an
“amortization period” will commence and all funds deposit in the reserve account will be appliedrapay the mortgage loan until such
time that the Debt Service Coverage Ratio exceeldscTor a calendar quarter. The mortgage loanesgesit, as amended, also includes
covenants customary for mortgage loans subje@ttmlrsecuritizations. Among other things, the Boes are prohibited from incurring otl
indebtedness for borrowed money or further encumbeheir assets. As of December 31, 2011, thed®eers met the required Debt Service
Coverage Ratio and were in compliance with all ptievenants.

Convertible Senior Notes
1.875% Convertible Senior Notes due 2013

On May 16, 2008, the Company issued $550.0 miltibits 1.875% Convertible Senior Notes (the “1.87H#ies”). Interest is payable
semi-annually on May 1 and November 1. The 1.8758tedlhave a maturity date of May 1, 2013. The X8Rmtes are convertible, at the
holder’s option, into shares of our Class A commatamtk, at an initial conversion rate of 24.1196rekaf Class A common stock per $1,000
principal amount of 1.875% Notes (subject to cartaistomary adjustments), which is equivalent tinaral conversion price of
approximately $41.46 per share or a 20% convergiemium based on the last reported sale price 45553per share of Class A common
stock on the Nasdaq Global Select Market on May2008, the purchase agreement date.

Concurrently with the pricing of the 1.875% Notf® Company entered into convertible note hedgesaetions and warrant
transactions with affiliates of certain of the iaitpurchasers of the convertible notes. The ihgidke price of the convertible note hedge
transactions relating to the 1.875% Notes is $4pet6share of the Company’s Class A common stdekgame as the initial conversion price
of the 1.875% convertible notes) and the initisgdrexse price of the warrants is $67.37 per shalttofgh the Company initially entered into
convertible note hedge and warrant transactiogsver the full amount of the shares that were isieuapon conversion of the 1.875% Notes,
as a result of the bankruptcy of Lehman Brother€@Erivatives Inc. (“Lehman Derivatives”), on Noveer 7, 2008, the Company
terminated the convertible note hedge transactitim kehman Derivatives which covered 55% of the263,780 shares of the Company’s
Class A common stock potentially issuable upon eosion of the 1.875% Notes. Consequently, the Compaes not currently have a het
with respect to those shares and, to the extenththanarket price of the Company’s Class A commstogk exceeds $41.46 per share upon
conversion of the notes, the Company will be suliedilution or if the Company settles in cashdiidnal costs, upon conversion of that
portion of the 1.875% Notes.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, a whellyeal subsidiary of the Company purchased an aggre§&15.0 million in
principal amount of the 1.875% Notes for $17.0imillin cash. As of December 31, 2011, the Compaay$535.0 million of 1.875% Notes
outstanding.

The 1.875% Notes are reflected in long-term delthénCompany’s Consolidated Balance Sheets atingrmalue. The following table
summarizes the balances for the 1.875% Notes:

As of As of
December 31, 201 December 31, 201
(in thousands)
Principal balanci $ 535,00( $ 550,00(
Debt discoun (50,030 (86,030
Carrying value $ 484,97( $ 463,97!

The Company is amortizing the debt discount onltB&5% Notes utilizing the effective interest metlower the life of the 1.875%
Notes which increases the effective interest raithe1.875% Notes from its coupon rate of 1.876%.4%. As of December 31, 2011,
carrying amount of the equity component relateth&1.875% Notes was $156.6 million.
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4.0% Convertible Senior Notes due 2014

On April 24, 2009, the Company issued $500.0 nrilld its 4.0% Convertible Senior Notes (“4.0% N&}és a private placement
transaction. Interest on the 4.0% Notes is paysdxei-annually on April 1 and October 1. The majudiite of the 4.0% Notes is October 1,
2014. The Company incurred fees of $11.7 milliothwie issuance of the 4.0% Notes of which $7.Tionilwas recorded as deferred
financing fees and $4.0 million was recorded asdaction to shareholders’ equity.

Concurrently with the pricing of the 4.0% Notess tBompany entered into convertible note hedge aimns and warrant transactions
with affiliates of certain of the initial purchasesf the convertible notes. The initial strike priaf the convertible note hedge transactions
relating to the 4.0% Notes is $30.38 per shar@®@Qompany’s Class A common stock (the same asitie conversion price of the 4.0%
Notes) and the upper strike price of the warrarigactions is $44.64 per she
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The 4.0 % Notes are reflected in long-term detthnCompany’s Consolidated Balance Sheets at cgridlue. The following table
summarizes the balances for the 4.0% Notes:

As of As of

December 31, 201 December 31, 201

(in thousands)
Principal balanc: $ 500,00 $ 500,00(
Debt discoun (102,389 (131,53)
Carrying value $ 397,61. $ 368,46.

The Company is amortizing the debt discount oMt Notes utilizing the effective interest mettoaer the life of the 4.0% Notes
which increases the effective interest rate of4tl#86 Notes from its coupon rate of 4.0% to 13.0% ofADecember 31, 2011, the carrying
amount of the equity component related to the 4ANites was $169.0 million.

Convertible Senior Notes conversion options
The 1.875% Notes and 4.0% Notes (collectively ‘Nwtes”) are convertible only under the followingotimstances:

» during any calendar quarter, if the last reporegd price of our Class A common stock for at I&fstrading days in the 30
consecutive trading day period ending on the fasling day of the preceding calendar quarter isentieain 130% of the applicable
conversion price per share of Class A common sbocthe last day of such preceding calendar qu

e during the five business day period after any mmsecutive trading day period in which the tradinige per $1,000 principal
amount of the Notes for each day in the measurepmiad was less than 95% of the product of therlgsorted sale price of
Class A common stock and the applicable convensita

» if specified distributions to holders of Class Avwmon stock are made or specified corporate traiogscbccur, an
e atany time on or after February 19, 2013 for tl873% Notes and July 22, 2014 for the 4.0% Nc

Upon conversion, the Company has the right toesg@ttlconversion obligation in cash, shares of €lsommon stock or a combinati
of cash and shares of its Class A common stocknRimme to time, upon notice to the holders of thadd, the Company may change its
election regarding the form of consideration thatiil use to settle its conversion obligation; pided, however, that the Company is not
permitted to change its settlement election afedar&ary 18, 2013 for the 1.875% Notes and Jul\2014 for the 4.0% Notes.

Senior Notes

On July 24, 2009, the Company’s wholly-owned sulbasyd SBA Telecommunications, Inc. (“Telecommunicas”), issued $750.0
million of unsecured senior notes (the “Senior 8Bte$375.0 million of which are due August 15, B8Qthe “2016 Notes”) and $375.0
million of which are due August 15, 2019 (the “2046tes”). The 2016 Notes have an interest rate@¥% and were issued at a price of
99.330% of their face value. The 2019 Notes haviatenest rate of 8.25% and were issued at a pfi®9.152% of their face value. Interest
on the 2016 Notes and 2019 Notes is due semi-agraraFebruary 15 and August 15 of each year béginan February 15, 2010. The
Company incurred deferred financing fees of appnately $16.5 million in relation to this transactivhich are being amortized through the
anticipated repayment date of each of the SenisedNdNet proceeds of this offering were $727.8iamlkfter deducting expenses and the
original issue discount.

Telecommunications used the net proceeds fronoffasing to repay the 2005 CMBS Certificates issbgdts subsidiary and the
related prepayment consideration, repay and tetmiha Optasite Credit Facility and repay the @umding balance under the Senior Credit
Facility and the 0.375% Notes. The remaining netpeds were used for general corporate purposes.

The 2016 Notes and the 2019 Notes are subjectienption in whole or in part on or after August 2812 and on or after August 15,
2014, respectively, at the redemption prices sthfo the indenture agreement plus accrued andidripterest. Prior to August 15, 2012 for
the 2016 Notes and August 15, 2014 for the 201®#&dtelecommunications may at its option redeeroradl portion of the 2016 Notes or
2019 Notes at a redemption price equal to 100%eprtincipal amount thereof plus a “make wholenpiiem plus accrued and unpaid
interest. In addition, Telecommunications may redeg to 35% of the originally issued aggregategipial amount of each of the 2016 Nao
and 2019 Notes with the net proceeds of certaiityeqtferings at a redemption price of 108.00% 408.25%, respectively, of the principal
amount of the redeemed notes plus accrued anddiimperest.

The Company is amortizing the debt discount o256 Notes and 2019 Notes utilizing the effectiveliest method over the life of 1
2016 Notes and 2019 Notes, respectively.

The Indenture governing the Senior Notes contailssotnary covenants, subject to a number of exceptod qualifications, including
restrictions on Telecommunications’ ability to {&fur additional indebtedness unless its Consauiftidebtedness to Annualized
Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA Ratio (as definedhe tndenture), pro forma for the additional indeloiess does not exceed 7.0x for the
fiscal quarter, (2) merg
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consolidate or sell assets, (3) make restrictedngays, including dividends or other distributio@®), enter into transactions with affiliates, :
(5) enter into sale and leaseback transactionsestdctions on the ability of TelecommunicatioR&stricted Subsidiaries (as defined in the
Indenture) to incur liens securing indebtedness.

SBA Communications Corporation is a holding compwaiitih no business operations of its own and ity aignificant asset is the
outstanding capital stock of Telecommunicationge@@nmunications is 100% owned by SBA CommunicatiGorporation. The Company
has fully and unconditionally guaranteed the SeNiotes issued by Telecommunications.

On July 15, 2010, Telecommunications and the Compansummated an exchange offer pursuant to whit$tanding unregistered
notes of each series of the Senior Notes were egeubfor registered notes of the respective series.
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14. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
2006 CMBS Certificate Swaps

During 2006, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiantisé Company entered into nine forward-startingsagreements (the2006 CMBS
Certificate Swaps”) in anticipation of the 2006 CBIBransaction. In October 2006, the Company terraiththe 2006 CMBS Certificate
Swaps in connection with entering into the purctesd sale agreement for the 2006 CMBS Certificggtes Note 13). The Company
determined a portion of the swaps to be an effeatash flow hedge and as a result, recorded arddflrss of $12.8 million in accumulated
other comprehensive loss, net of applicable inctares on the Company’s Consolidated Balance ShEe¢sdeferred loss was amortized
utilizing the effective interest method over théeieipated five year life of the 2006 CMBS Certifiea and increased the effective interest rate
on these certificates by 0.3%. On April 16, 20h@ €ompany wroteff the remaining unamortized deferred loss of $8ifion in connectiol
with the repayment of the 2006 CMBS Certificate=e(blote 13).

The Company recorded amortization of $0.6 milliond 2.3 million as non-cash interest expense oiCtrapany’s Consolidated
Statements of Operations for the years ended Deze&ih 2010 and 2009, respectively.

2005 CMBS Certificate Swaps

On June 22, 2005, an indirect wholly-owned subsjdid the Company entered into two forward-startimgrest rate swap agreements
(the “2005 CMBS Certificate Swaps”) in anticipatiohthe 2005 CMBS Transaction. On November 4, 280& Company entered into a
purchase agreement regarding the purchase andfs2085 CMBS Certificates (see Note 13). In conioectvith this agreement, the
Company terminated the 2005 CMBS Certificate Swahs. Company determined the swaps to be an eféectish flow hedge and as a
result, recorded a deferred gain of $14.8 millim@aécumulated other comprehensive loss, net ofcge income taxes on the Company’s
Consolidated Balance Sheets. The deferred gairbeiag amortized utilizing the effective interestthwal over the anticipated five year life
the 2005 CMBS Certificates and reduced the effedtiterest rate on these certificates by 0.8%.@n2B, 2009, the Company wrote-off the
remaining unamortized net deferred gain of $3.%ionilin connection with the repayment of the 2008ES Certificates.

The Company recorded amortization of $1.7 millisraa offset to non-cash interest expense on thep@oy’s Consolidated Statemel
of Operations for the year ended December 31, 2009.

15. REDEEMABLE NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS

In connection with the Company’s business operatiorCanada and Central America, the Company ahtete agreements with non-
affiliated joint venture partners that contain batput option for its partners and a call optiontfre Company, requiring or allowing the
Company, in certain circumstances, to purchaseetmaining interest in such entity at a price bamegredetermined earnings multiples. E
of these options is triggered upon the occurrefiepecified events and/or upon the passage of fline.put rights may be exercised on
varying dates causing the Company to purchasepipiécable partner’'s equity interests (the “Redempti
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Amount”) based on a formula defined in the respective jpémture agreements. During 2011 the Company paitbapnately $0.7 million il
exchange for the outstanding 4.6% noncontrolliigrest in the Canadian joint venture increasingdbmpany’s interest in that joint venture
to 100%. Neither the put or the call options far @entral American joint venture are currently eigble by either the Company or its
partners. The noncontrolling interest is classifisch redeemable equity interest in mezzanine(opdrary equity) on the Company’s
Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The Company allocates income and losses to theontnadling interest holder based on the applicaianbership interest percentage.
After applying those provisions, the Company caltes the redemption amount at each reporting panddecords the amount, if any, by
which the redemption amount exceeds the book \adueecharge against income (loss) available to anmshareholders. As of December
2011 the redeemable noncontrolling interest preskon the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheetsepts the estimated fair value of the
amount the Company could be required to pay toamdie noncontrolling interest at the date of tker@se of either the put or the call
option.

In December 2010, the Company acquired an additldts interest in the Central American joint vertfor consideration of $7.5
million. This acquisition increased the Companyership to 90% of the joint venture. As of Decen®@10, the 10% noncontrolling
interest was valued at $12.5 million. The acqusitbf the noncontrolling interest has been refleete a reduction of additional-pait€apita
in accordance with ASC 810.

16. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Common Stock equivalents

The Company has potential common stock equivalefased to its outstanding stock options (see N@)e restricted stock units, the
1.875% Notes and the 4.0% Notes (see Note 13).elpatential common stock equivalents were not ohetlin diluted loss per share bece
the effect would have been anti-dilutive for thesgeended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, resggcAccordingly, basic and diluted
loss per common share and the weighted averageerwnhbhares used in the computation are the santhd years presented.

Stock Repurchases

The Company’s Board of Directors authorized a steghirchase program effective November 3, 2009 plagram authorized the
Company to purchase, from time to time, up to $250illion of the Company’s outstanding common sttialough open market repurchases
in compliance with Rule 10b-18 of the Securities 81934, as amended, and/or in privately negedigtansactions at management’s
discretion based on market and business conditapsicable legal requirements and other factors.

On April 27, 2011, the Company’s Board of Direct{t¥ terminated the existing $250.0 million stoeburchase program (under which
$65.9 million of repurchase authorization remaiagdilable at the termination date), and (2) appidlav@ew $300.0 million stock repurchase
program. This new program authorizes the Compamytohase, from time to time, up to $300.0 millafrthe Company’s outstanding
Class A common stock through open market repurshiaseompliance with Rule 10b-18 of the Securigshange Act of 1934, as amended,
and/or in privately negotiated transactions at rgangent’s discretion based on market and businesditams, applicable legal requirements
and other factors. This program became effectivAnil 28, 2011 and will continue until otherwiseodified or terminated by the Company’
Board of Directors at any time in the Company’sstikcretion.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, in coioreutith the stock repurchase program, the Compapyrchased and retired
5,917,940 shares for an aggregate of $225.1 miifioluding commissions and fees. During the yeaieedrDecember 31, 2010, the Company
repurchased and retired approximately 3,174,38EesHar an aggregate of $107.4 million including
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commissions and fees. During the year ended Deaedih@009, the Company repurchased and retiretbgippately 52,000 shares for an
aggregate of $1.7 million including commissions &wek. As of December 31, 2011, the Company hadhaining authorization to
repurchase an additional $150.0 million of its comnnstock under its current $300.0 million stockueghase program.

In April 2009, the Company repurchased and retgoroximately 2.0 million shares, valued at apprately $50.0 million based on
the closing stock price of $24.80 on April 20, 2pBBconnection with the issuance of the 4.0% N¢&== Note 13).

Registration of Additional Shares

On May 20, 2010, the Company filed a registratimtesnent on Form S-8 with the Securities and Exgh@@ommission registering
15.0 million shares of the Company’s Class A commimck issuable under the 2010 Performance andyEpgientive Plan.

The Company filed shelf registration statement§orm S-4 with the Securities and Exchange Commmissgistering 4.0 million of its
Class A common stock in 2007. These shares magsbed in connection with acquisitions of wirelessymunication towers or antenna sites
and related assets or companies that own wireteasntinication towers, antenna sites or related asBeting the years ended December 31,
2011 and 2010, the Company did not issue any slofiesClass A common stock pursuant to this itegin statement in connection with
acquisitions. During the year ended December 329 2the Company issued approximately 0.9 millioarshk of its Class A common stock
pursuant to this registration statement in conoeatiith acquisitions. At December 31, 2011, appreately 1.7 million shares remain
available for issuance under this shelf registrasitatement.

On March 3, 2009, the Company filed with the Consiais an automatic shelf registration statementweli-known seasoned issuers
Form S-3ASR. This registration statement enablesCthmpany to issue shares of the Company’s Classmon stock, preferred stock or
debt securities either separately or representeddosants, or depositary shares as well as uratsiticlude any of these securities. Under the
rules governing automatic shelf registration staets, the Company will file a prospectus supplenaat advise the Commission of the
amount and type of securities each time the Comssues securities under this registration staténfrem the year ended December 31,
2011, the Company did not issue any securities uhifeautomatic shelf registration statement.

Shareholder Rights Plan and Preferred Stock

During January 2002, the CompasyBoard of Directors adopted a shareholder riglats and declared a dividend of one preferred <
purchase right for each outstanding share of thegamy’s common stock. Each of these rights whiehcarrently not exercisable will entitle
the holder to purchase one one-thousandth (1/18f®share of the Company’s newly designated S&ridsnior Participating Preferred
Stock. In the event that any person or group aegueneficial ownership of 15% or more of the @uiding shares of the Company’s
common stock or commences or announces an intetatiocommence a tender offer that would result ichguerson or group owning 15% or
more of the Company’s common stock, each holderradht (other than the acquirer) will be entittecreceive, upon payment of the exercise
price, a number of shares of common stock havimgket value equal to two times the exercise prfdbe right. In order to retain flexibilit
and the ability to maximize shareholder value | ¢lrent of transactions that may arise in the &tilme Board retains the power to redeen
rights for a set amount. The rights were distriduda January 25, 2002 and expired on January 1I2.20
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17. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

The Company has three equity participation plams {9999 Equity Participation Plan, the 2001 EqBigyticipation Plan and the 2010
Performance and Equity Incentive Plan (the “203@nhB| whereby options (both non-qualified and ineenstock options), restricted stock
units, stock appreciation rights and other equity performance based instruments may be grantidetctors, employees and consultants.
The options and restricted stock units generalft frem the date of grant on a straight-line baser the vesting term and generally have a
seven-year or a ten-year contractual life.

Upon the adoption of the 2010 Plan by the Compasiyaeholders on May 6, 2010, no further grantewermitted under the 2001
Equity Participation Plan. Upon adoption of the 2@Eyjuity Participation Plan, no further grants weeemitted under the 1999 Equity
Participation Plan. The 2010 Plan provides forisiseance of a maximum of 15.0 million shares of @lass A common stock, however, the
aggregate number of shares that may be issuedgmirgurestricted stock awards, restricted stoékawards, stock bonus awards,
performance awards, other stock-based awards er attards granted under the 2010 Plan will notesée5 million. As of December 31,
2011, the Company had 14,284,311 shares remaimaitable for future issuance under the 2010 Plan.

From time to time, restricted shares of Class A mmmm stock or options to purchase Class A commarkdtave been granted under the
Company’s equity participation plans at prices hetoarket value at the time of grant. The Comparlyrdit have any nonash compensatic
expense during the years ended December 31, 201@,ghd 2009, respectively, relating to the issearigestricted shares or options to
purchase Class A common stock at below market \atltiee time of grant.

Stock Options

The Company records compensation expense for emplsipck options based on the estimated fair \@ltiee options on the date of
grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing maaligh the assumptions included in the table belole Tompany uses a combination of
historical data and historical volatility to estiahithe expected volatility. Historical data is di$e estimate the expected option life and the
expected forfeiture rate. The risk-free rate isllasn the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect attime of grant for the estimated life of the
option. The following assumptions were used tonestie the fair value of options granted using thecBIScholes option-pricing model:

For the year ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
Risk free interest rai 0.66%- 2.17% 1.35%- 1.83% 1.30%- 1.92%
Dividend yield 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Expected volatility 53.9% 55.2% 55.7%
Expected live: 3.5- 4.5 year: 3.6- 4.3 year: 3.2- 4.1 year:
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The following table summarizes the Company’s atiigiwith respect to its stock option plans for yiears ended 2011, 2010 and 2009
as follows (dollars and number of shares in thodsaexcept for per share data):

Weighted- Weighted-
Average Average Aggregate
Exercise Price Remaining Intrinsic
Number Contractual Value

of Share: Per Share Life (in years) (in thousands’
Outstanding at December 31, 2008 3,78¢ $ 20.3¢
Granted 1,157 $ 20.2¢
Exercisec (65¢ $ 9.6¢
Cancelec (88) $ 30.4¢
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 4,19¢ $ 217
Granted 53¢ $ 35.6¢
Exercisec (88¢ $ 17.01
Cancelec (60) $ 26.71
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 3,78¢ $ 24.7¢
Granted 57¢ $ 41.9]
Exercisec (704) $ 2152
Cancelec (52) $ 32.07

Outstanding at December 31, 2( 3,60¢ $ 28.0¢ 4.1 $ 53,77

Exercisable at December 31, 2( 1,96¢ $ 24.3: 34 $ 36,68:

Unvested at December 31, 2C 1,64( $ 32.5¢ 5.1 $ 17,09(

The weighted-average per share fair value of optgmanted during the years ended December 31, 2010,and 2009 was $18.53,
$15.88 and $8.79, respectively.

The total intrinsic value for options exercisedidgrthe years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 ar@\286 $12.7 million, $17.8
million and $12.2 million, respectively. Cash raea from option exercises under all plans for tharg ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and
2009 was approximately $15.2 million, $15.1 milliand $6.4 million, respectively. No tax benefit waalized for the tax deductions from
option exercises under all plans for the years @mkrember 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

Additional information regarding options outstarglsnd exercisable at December 31, 2011 is as fellow

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted Average

Weighted Weighted

Outstanding Contractual Life Average Exercisable Average
Range (in thousands’ (in years) Exercise Price (in thousands Exercise Price
$ 0.00-% 5.25 10z 1.9 $ 3.61 10z $ 3.61
$ 5.26- $10.50 12t 3.C $ 8.5¢4 12t $ 8.54
$10.51- $21.00 1,107 4.1 $ 19.4¢ 62t $ 19.2¢
$21.01- $31.50 592 3.C $ 28.2¢ 542 $ 28.32
$31.51- $47.25 1,682 4.8 $ 36.61 573 $ 33.2(

3,60¢ 1,96¢
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The following table summarizes the activity of @pis outstanding that had not yet vested:

Weighted-
Average
Fair Value

Number
of Share Per Share
Unvested as of December 31, 2( 1,924 $ 11.3¢
Shares grante 57¢ $ 18.5¢
Vesting during perior (819 $ 11.0¢
Forfeited or cancele (43 $ 12.9¢
Unvested as of December 31, 2( 1,64( $ 14.0C

The aggregate intrinsic value for stock optionthim preceding tables represents the total intrivesice, based on the Compasiglosinc
stock price of $42.96 as of December 31, 2011.drheunt represents the total intrinsic value thatld/iave been received by the holders of
the stock-based awards had these awards beensedearid sold as of that date.

As of December 31, 2011, the total unrecognizedp=armsation cost related to unvested stock optiotstanding under the Plans is
$17.2 million. That cost is expected to be recoggiiaver a weighted average period of 2.3 years.

The total fair value of shares vested during 2@01L0, and 2009 was $9.0 million, $8.7 million, &Yd2 million, respectively.
Restricted Stock Units
The following table summarizes the Company’s ret#d stock unit activity for the year ended Decendie 2011:

Weighted-

Average
Grant Date
Number Fair Value
of Units per share
(in thousands’

Outstanding at December 31, 2( 13C $ 35.5¢
Granted 13¢€ $ 41.6¢
Vested (35) $ 35.52
Forfeited/cancele 5 $ 37.3¢

Outstanding at December 31, 2( 22€ $ 39.27

As of December 31, 2011, total unrecognized comgt@nsexpense related to unvested restricted stoitk granted under the 2010
Plan was $4.2 million and is expected to be rechover a weighted-average period of 3.2 years.
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Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In 1999, the Board of Directors of the Company addphe 1999 Stock Purchase Plan (the “1999 Puedhkzs”). A total of 500,000
shares of Class A common stock were reserved famhpge under the 1999 Purchase Plan. During 200@&n&ndment to the 1999 Purchase
Plan was adopted which increased the number oéshiaserved for purchase from 500,000 to 1,500588€es. In April 2009, the 1999 Plan
expired and no shares were issued during 2009nB@008, the Company adopted the 2008 Employe& rochase Plan (“2008 Purchase
Plan”) which reserved 500,000 shares of Class Ansomstock for purchase. The 2008 Purchase Planifseztigible employee participants
to purchase Class A common stock at a price peestlaich is equal to 85% of the fair market vali€tass A common stock on the last day
of an offering period.

For the year ended December 31, 2011, 30,942 shafdass A common stock were issued under the Za@8hase Plan, which
resulted in cash proceeds to the Company of apmetely $1.0 million compared to the year ended Ddmmr 31, 2010 when approximately
34,597 shares of Class A common stock were issoddrithe 2008 Purchase Plan, which resulted in pasteeds to the Company of $1.1
million. At December 31, 2011, 403,769 shares reediavailable for issuance under the 2008 Purdhiase In addition, the Company
recorded $0.2 million, $0.2 million and $0.1 milli@f non-cash compensation expense relating tehtages issued under the 2008 Purchase
Plan for each of the years ended December 31, 201D, and 2009, respectively.

Non-Cash Compensation Expense

The table below reflects a break out by categothefnon-cash compensation expense amounts reedgmizthe Company’s
Statements of Operations for the years ended Deme®ih 2011, 2010, and 2009, respectively:

For the year ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
(in thousands, except per share amounts)
Cost of revenue $ 187 $  18¢ $ 19z
Selling, general and administrati 11,28 10,31: 8,00¢
Total cost of non-cash compensation included ia lefore provision
for income taxe: 11,46¢ 10,501 8,20(
Amount of income tax recognized in earnit — — —
Amount charged against lo $ 11,46¢ $ 10,50! $ 8,20(

In addition, the Company capitalized $0.2 milli&d,1 million and $0.1 million of non-cash compermafor the years ended
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectivelixed and intangible assets.

18. ASSET IMPAIRMENT

The Company evaluates its individual long-lived agldted assets with finite lives for indicatorsrmapairment to determine when an
impairment analysis should be performed. The Compamaluates its tower assets and Current contnéangibles at the tower level, which is
the lowest level for which identifiable cash floesists. The Company evaluates its Network locaititeingibles for impairment at the tower
leasing business level whenever indicators of inmpant are present. The Company has establishelicg fmat least annually evaluate its
tower assets and Current contract intangiblesmigairment. In 2011 the Company recorded a $5.5anilmpairment charge on completed
and construction-in-process towers and relatechgibtde assets that are not expected to achievequsly anticipated lease-up results. The
amount of impairment was determined by using aadisted cash flow analysis which included estimatesassumptions such as general
market and economic conditions, historical opegat#sults, geographic location, lease-up poteatidlexpected timing of lease-up. In 2010
the Company recorded a $5.9 million impairment ghan towers and related assets that were not experachieve previously anticipated
lease-up results. In 2009 the Company recorded%rfilion impairment charge on towers and reladssdets that were not expected to
achieve previously anticipated lease-up results.
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19. INCOME TAXES
Loss before provision for income taxes by geograjphéa is as follows:

For the year ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009

(in thousands)
Domestic $(118,67) $(193,04%) $(140,42%
Foreign (6,109 (368 (202)
Total $(124,779) $(193,410 $(140,62)

The provision for income taxes consists of theofwlhg components:

For the year ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009
(in thousands)

Current provision for taxe!

Federal $ — $ — $ (129
Foreign 1,60¢ 897 69
State 2,191 84t 73C
Total current 3,79¢ 1,74 672
Deferred (benefit) provision for taxe
Federal income taxe (38,309 (59,367) (46,835
State and local tax¢ (5,11 (6,089 (5,319
Foreign tax (1,109 (38¢) 22C
Increase in valuation allowan 42,83 65,09" 51,74¢
Total deferrec (1,68¢) (737) (180
Total provision for income taxe $ 2,11: $ 1,00¢ $ 49z

A reconciliation of the provision for income taxatsthe statutory U.S. Federal tax rate (35%) apceffective income tax rate is as
follows:

For the year ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
(in thousands)

Statutory Federal bene $(43,67%) $(67,69¢) $(48,58¢)
Foreign tax expens 1,57¢ 1,06¢ 15€
State and local tax bene (1,89¢) (3,40%) (2,980
Convertible debt interest expense and COD inc 1,33: 4,36¢ (1,029
Other 1,94 1,58( 1,18(
Valuation allowanct 42,83: 65,09" 51,74¢
Provision for income taxe $ 2,118 $ 1,00f $ 49
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The components of the net deferred income tax @ialeility) accounts are as follows:

As of December 31,
2011 2010
(in thousands)

Current deferred tax asse

Allowance for doubtful accoun $ 9 $ 70
Deferred revenu 18,207 23,52
Accrued liabilities 2,88t 72C
Valuation allowanct (20,967) (24,269
Total current deferred tax assets, $ 13¢ $ 44

Noncurrent deferred tax asse

Net operating losse $ 402,39: $ 385,51t
Property, equipment & intangible basis differen 27,84¢ 29,46
Accrued liabilities 10,16¢ 8,64(
Straigh-line rents 8,09( 9,10(
Non-cash compensatic 7,431 6,162
Other 2,741 2,871
Total noncurrent deferred tax ass 458,67" 441,75t
Noncurrent deferred tax liabilitie

Property, equipment & intangible basis differen (300,439 (327,339
Convertible debt instrumen (3,829 (5,117%)
Early extinguishment of del (610 —

Other (4,887 (3,409
Valuation allowanct (154,886 (113,490
Total noncurrent deferred tax liabilities, 1 $ (5,969 $ (7,599

Valuation allowances of $175.8 million and $137.lion were recognized to offset net deferred ineotax assets as of December 31,
2011 and 2010, respectively. The net increasedivétiuation allowance for the years ended DecerdbeP011 and 2010 was $38.1 million
and $41.1 million, respectively. During the yeadet December 31, 2011 the Company released vatuatmwances of $1.0 million related
to state deferred tax assets since it is moreylitteln not that these state deferred tax assdtbeviealized. At December 31, 2011 the
valuation allowance related to federal and statetadit carryovers was approximately $2.2 millamd $0.4 million, respectively. These tax
credits expire beginning 2017. At December 31, 2Bi0valuation allowance related to federal antestx credit carryovers was
approximately $1.0 million and $0.4 million, respeely.

The Company has available at December 31, 2014t #ederal operating tax loss carry-forward of appnately $1.1 billion and an
additional $116.7 million of net operating tax lassry forward from stock options which will berteddditional paid-in capital when the loss
is utilized. These net operating tax loss carryimds will expire between 2019 and 2031. The IrsteRevenue Code places limitations upon
the future availability of net operating lossesdzhapon changes in the equity of the Company eléeroccur, the ability of the Company to
offset future income with existing net operatingdes may be limited. In addition, the Company kadable at December 31, 2011, a foreign
net operating loss carry-forward of $9.8 milliordemnet state operating tax loss carry-forwardppiraximately $563.7 million. These net
operating tax loss carry-forwards will expire beéne2012 and 2031. At December 31, 2010, the Compadyavailable a foreign net
operating loss carry-foward of $6.0 million anded state operating tax loss carry-forward of appnately $555.6 million.

In accordance with the Company’s methodology fdaedrining when stock option deductions are deereatized, the Company
utilizes a “with-and-without” approach that wills@lt in a benefit not being recorded in APIC if Hraount of available net operating loss
carry-forwards generated from operations is sudfitio offset the current year taxable income.
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20. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Operating Leases and Capital Leases

The Company is obligated under various non-cantelarerating leases for land, office space, equipiraed site leases that expire at
various times through August 2111. In addition, @wnpany is obligated under various non-canceledyétal leases for vehicles that expire
at various times through December 2015. The amapnqbicable to capital leases for vehicles inclusteproperty and equipment, net were:

As of As of
December 31, 201 December 31, 201
(in thousands)
Vehicles $ 5,54¢ $ 3,11(
Less: accumulated depreciati (1,939 (1,240
Vehicles, ne $ 3,614 $ 1,86¢

The annual minimum lease payments under non-caveadperating and capital leases in effect as aeDwer 31, 2011 are as follows
(in thousands):

For the year ended December 31, Capital Lease: Operating Lease:
2012 $ 1,124 $ 70,05:
2013 98¢ 69,91°
2014 80¢ 70,58¢
2015 44C 70,86¢
2016 — 70,37
Thereafte — 1,319,41

Total minimum lease paymer 3,361 $ 1,671,21

Less: amount representing inter (2529

Present value of future payme 3,10¢

Less: current obligatior (999

Long-term obligations $ 2,11

Future minimum rental payments under noncancelgtaend leases include payments for certain renpesbds at the Company’s
option because failure to renew could result ioss lof the applicable tower site and related reedram tenant leases, thereby making it
reasonably assured that the Company will renevietie. The majority of operating leases providedaewal at varying escalations. Fixed
rate escalations have been included in the tabtdadied above.

Rent expense for operating leases was $82.8 milfios.4 million and $72.6 million for the years eddDecember 31, 2011, 2010 and
2009, respectively. In addition, certain of the Q@amy’s leases include contingent rent provision&kvprovide for the lessor to receive
additional rent upon the attainment of certain toaerating results and or lease-up. Contingeritagpense for the years ended
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 was $13.7 mildg,5 million and $9.9 million, respectively.

Capital Lease Obligations

The Company’s capital lease obligations outstandiae $3.1 million as of December 31, 2011 and #iilbon as of December 31,
2010. As of December 31, 2011, these obligatiome biterest rates ranging from 0.2% to 3.2% antimélture in periods ranging from
approximately one to five years.
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Tenant Leases

The annual minimum tower lease income to be reddivetower space and antenna rental under nonetaile operating leases in
effect as of December 31, 2011 is as follows:

For the year ended December 31, (in thousands’
2012 $ 601,62
2013 533,96¢
2014 466,34(
2015 379,73t
2016 281,71¢
Thereafte 1,205,48.
Total $3,468,87!

The Company'’s tenant leases provide for annualaswas and multiple renewal periods, at the te'samption. The tenant rental
payments disclosed in the table above do not assuareise of tenant renewal options, however, foedd escalations have been included.

Litigation

The Company is involved in various claims, lawsaitsl proceedings arising in the ordinary courdausiness. While there are
uncertainties inherent in the ultimate outcomeuahsmatters and it is impossible to presently deitee the ultimate costs that may be
incurred, management believes the resolution df sucertainties and the incurrence of such codtsat have a material adverse effect on
the Company’s consolidated financial position, hssof operations or liquidity.

Contingent Purchase Obligations

As discussed in Note 7, from time to time, the Campagrees to pay additional consideration (oraas) for acquisitions if the towers
or businesses that are acquired meet or exceeadrcparformance targets in the one to three ydtsthey have been acquired. For the years
ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, certain eartanggsts associated with the acquired towers wereaed, and therefore, the Company
paid in cash $4.6 million and $8.7 million, respesly. As of December 31, 2011, the Company’s estavof its potential obligation if the
performance targets contained in various acqurséigreements were met was $5.5 million which then@any recorded in accrued expenses.
The maximum potential obligation related to thefpenance targets was $11.0 million as of Decemte2811.
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21. DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN

The Company has a defined contribution profit sigaplan under Section 401(k) of the Internal Rewe@ode that provides for
voluntary employee contributions up to the limivas set forth in Section 402(g) of the Internal &ae Code. Employees have the
opportunity to participate following completion #hiree months of employment and must be 21 yeaag®f Employer matching begins
immediately upon the employee’s participation ia gian. For the years ended December 31, 2011, 204 @009, the Company made a
discretionary matching contribution of 50% of anpdoyee’s contributions up to a maximum of $3,000nmany matching contributions
were approximately $0.9 million, $0.7 million an@.® million for years ended December 31, 2011, 2@ 2009, respectively.

22. SEGMENT DATA

The Company operates principally in three busisegmnents: site leasing, site development consuking site development
construction. The Company’s reportable segmentstaagegic business units that offer different e@s. They are managed separately based
on the fundamental differences in their operatidie site leasing segment includes results of theaged and sublease businesses. The
Company’s net sales originating and long-lived tskeld outside of the United States during eadhefast three fiscal years were not
material.

Revenues, cost of revenues (exclusive of depreaiadiccretion and amortization), capital expendguincluding assets acquired
through the issuance of shares of the Company'ssGlacommon stock) and identifiable assets pengito the segments in which the
Company continues to operate are presented below:

Site Site Not
Developmen Developmen Identified by
Lesalgiang Consulting Construction Segment(l) Total
(in thousands)

For the year ended December 31, 201

Revenue:! $ 616,29 $ 17,27 $ 64,60 $ — $ 698,17(
Cost of revenue® $ 131,91« $ 12,98 $ 58,02 $ — $ 202,92.
Depreciation, amortization and accret $ 306,39¢ $ 198 $ 137  $ 1,177 $ 309,14t
Operating income (los: $ 116,66¢ $ 257 $ (483 $ (8,099 $ 110,65
Capital expenditure® $ 502,22:. $ 53t $ 3,401 $ 2,67( $ 508,82¢
For the year ended December 31, 201

Revenue:! $ 535,44 $ 19,21( $ 71,96t $ — $ 626,61¢
Cost of revenue® $ 119,14 $ 14,97 $ 65,32¢ $ — $ 199,44.
Depreciation, amortization and accret $ 276,59¢ $ 188 $ 1,05 % 88¢ $ 278,72
Operating income (los: $ 7842 $ 255 % 25 $ (6,67¢) $ 74,27
Capital expenditure® $ 393,13C % 234 $ 1501 % 92t $ 395,79
For the year ended December 31, 20(

Revenue:! $ 477,00 $ 17,40¢ $ 61,09¢ $ — $ 555,51
Cost of revenue® $ 111,84: $ 13,23 $ 55,46% $ — $ 180,54
Depreciation, amortization and accret $ 256,700 $ 18z $ 811 $ 84C $ 258,53
Operating income (los: $ 6054 $ 2366 $ (887) $ (7,067 $ 54,95
Capital expenditure® $ 246,56¢ $ 104 % 794 % 625 $ 248,09:
Assets

As of December 31, 201 $3,439,40: $ 4,78i $ 37,377 $ 124,83 $3,606,39!
As of December 31, 201 $3,218,89: $ 4,45¢ $ 35,567 $ 141,25¢ $3,400,17!

(1) Assets not identified by segment consist primasflgeneral corporate asse
(2) Excludes depreciation, amortization and accre!
(3) Includes acquisitions and related ¢-outs and vehicle capital lease additic

For the year ended December 31, 2011, 2010, arel #@ Company’s leasing revenues generated ous$itie United States were
3.4%, 1.0%, and 0.2%, respectively, of total coidsdéd leasing revenues. As of December 31, 20d28M0, the Company’s total assets
outside of the United States were 8.7% and 3.2%peaetively, of total consolidated assets.
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23. QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (unaudited)

Quarter Ended
December 31 September 3C June 30, March 31,
2011 2011 2011 2011
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Revenue: $ 183,81 $ 175,54 $171,05: $167,74¢
Depreciation, accretion and amortizat $ (79,44) $ (78,13¢) $(76,69)) $(74,87%)
Operating incom: $ 31,98( $ 27,57 $ 27,20¢ $ 23,89¢
Loss from extinguishment of debt, $ — $ — $ — $ (1,69¢)
Net loss attributable to SBA Communications Corfiore $ (29,08 $ (33,309 $(29,819) $(34,25))
Net loss per sha- basic and dilute $ (0.29) $ (0.30) $ (0.29) $ (0.30
Quarter Ended
December 31 September 3C
June 30, March 31,
2010 2010 2010 2010
(in thousands, except per share amounts)
Revenue: $ 165,49 $ 158,64. $154,51! $147,96!
Depreciation, accretion and amortizat $ (72,729 $ (69,72) $(68,83.) $(67,44¢)
Operating incom: $ 16,69 $ 20,66¢ $ 20,02¢ $ 16,88¢
Loss from extinguishment of debt, $ (6) $ (10) $(48,93) $ (119
Net loss attributable to SBA Communications Corgiore $ (39,16 $ (34,489 $(83,699 $(37,32¢)

Net loss per sha- basic and dilute $ (0.39 $ (0.30) $ (0.72) $ (0.32)

Basic and diluted net loss per share is computediiging net income by the weighted average nundbeshares for the period.
Potentially dilutive shares have been excluded frloencomputation of diluted loss per share as ithgiact would have been anti-dilutive.

Because loss per share amounts are calculatedthsingeighted average number of common and dil@remon shares outstanding
during each quarter, the sum of the per share atadonthe four quarters may not equal the totss lper share amounts for the year.

24, SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On February 18, 2012 the Company entered into ehase and sale agreement with certain affiliatédadilitie, LLC, under which the
Company will purchase certain entities owning agpnately 2,300 tower sites in the US and Centralefica and nine distributed antenna
system (DAS) networks in the US for $1.093 billidie consideration to be paid will be $850 millash and the issuance of 5.25 million
shares of the Company’s Class A common stock. 8Bk consideration will be paid from a combinatibeash on hand, existing credit
facilities and $500 million of new financing commignts. The closing of the transactions is schedulé@ completed in the second quarte
fiscal 2012.

Additionally, subsequent to December 31, 2012 Qhmpany acquired an additional 64 towers and tilggito manage two additional
communication sites for an aggregate considerati@pproximately $34.7 million in cash.
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Exhibit 21

Subsidiaries of SBA Communications Corporation

Name Relationship Jurisdiction
SBA Telecommunications, Ir. 100% owned by SBA Communications Corpora Florida
SBA Senior Finance Il, LL( 100% owned by SBA Senior Finance, L Florida
SBA Senior Finance, LL( 100% owned by SBA Telecommunications, | Florida
SBA Towers, LLC 100% owned by SBA Senior Finance I, LI Florida
SBA Towers Il, LLC 100% owned by SBA Towers, LL Florida
SBA Towers lll, LLC 100% owned by SBA Telecommunications, | Florida
SBA Structures, Inc 100% owned by SBA Guarantor, LL Florida
SBA Infrastructure, LLC 100% owned by SBA Towers lll, LL: Delaware
Central America Equityholder, LL' 90% owned by SBA Central America, LLC; 10% ownechioy-SBA entity Florida
SBA Properties, Inc 100% owned by SBA Guarantor, LL Florida
SBA Central America, LL( 100% owned by SBA Senior Finance I, LI Florida
SBA Torres Panama, S.. 100% owned by Panama Shareholder, | Panams
Panama Shareholder, LL 100% owned by Central America Equityholder, L Florida
SBA Guarantor, LLC 100% owned by SBA Holdings, LL Delaware
SBA Holdings, LLC 100% owned by SBA Senior Finance, L Delaware
Costa Rica Quotaholder, LL 100% owned by Central America Equityholder, L Florida
SBA Land, LLC 100% owned by SBA Towers Il, LL Delaware
Guatemala Shareholder I, LL 100% owned by Central America Equityholder, L Florida
SBA Torres Guatemala, S.A. ﬁnglfé (()l\évl?)ed by Guatemala Shareholder |, LLC; 0.Wbexl by Guatemala Shareholder Guatemala

As of December 31, 2011, SBA Communications Coramaowned, directly or indirectly, 33 additionailssidiaries, 26 of which are
incorporated in U.S. jurisdictions and 7 of whicke arganized in foreign jurisdictions. These suiasids, in the aggregate as a single
subsidiary, would not constitute a “Significant Sighary” as defined in Rule 405 under the Secwgifiet as of December 31, 2011.



Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference irféHewing Registration Statements:

© N o gk wDdPE

May 16, 2002

Registration Statement (Forn-3 No.
Registration Statement (Forn-3 No.
Registration Statement (Forn-4 No.
Registration Statement (Forn-8 No.
Registration Statement (Forn-8 No.
Registration Statement (Forn-8 No.
Registration Statement (Forn-8 No.
Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-139p@slaining to 2001 Equity Participation Plan, asefhded and Restated on

33-41306)

33:-157647)

33:-147473)

33:-166969) pertain to 2010 Performance and Equityritice Plan
33:-155289) pertaining to 2008 Employee Stock Purckdase
33:-69236) pertaining to 2001 Equity Participation F
33:-46734) pertaining to 1999 Equity Participation F

of our reports dated February 27, 2012 with respgetite consolidated financial statements of SBAnB@wnications Corporation and
Subsidiaries and the effectiveness of internalrobitver financial reporting of SBA Communicatio@srporation and Subsidiaries, included
in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year edd#ecember 31, 2011.

Boca Raton, Florida
February 27, 2012

/sl Ernst & Young LLP
Certified Public Accountan



Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION

I, Jeffrey A. Stoops, Chief Executive Officer, digrthat:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of SBA Communications Corporatio

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notatorny untrue statement of a material fact or emnittate a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in ligheafircumstances under which such statementsmwade, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this reg

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamd,other financial information included in théport, fairly presentin all
material respects the financial condition, resofteperations and cash flows of the registrantfaara for, the periods presentet

this report;

4.  The registrans other certifying officer and | are responsibledstablishing and maintaining disclosure contamid procedures (
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)1%nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedoresused such disclosure controls and procedaoites designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material infornmatielating to the registrant, including its condatied subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this report isifige prepared

b. Designed such internal control over financiglaing, or caused such internal control over faiakreporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide readerasurance regarding the reliability of financegorting and the
preparation of financial statements for externappses, in accordance with generally accepted aticmuprinciples

C. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registeadisclosure controls and procedures and preseantbis report our conclusio
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cousyeldis report based on
such evaluation; ar

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the tegid's internal control over financial reportirttat occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regidts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annyabrrg that has materiall
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaft, the registra’s internal control over financial reporting; &

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatioriernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the
equivalent functions)

a. All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrgistrant’s ability to record, process, summasiad report financial
information; anc

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that invalveanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the
registran’'s internal control over financial reportir
Date: February 27, 2012

By: /sl Jeffrey A. Stoops
Name Jeffrey A. Stoop:
Title: Chief Executive Office




Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION

I, Brendan T. Cavanagh, Chief Financial Officerti€gthat:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of SBA Communications Corporatio

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notatorny untrue statement of a material fact or emnittate a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in ligheafircumstances under which such statementsmwade, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this reg

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamd,other financial information included in théport, fairly presentin all
material respects the financial condition, resofteperations and cash flows of the registrantfaara for, the periods presentet

this report;
4.  The registrans other certifying officer and | are responsibledstablishing and maintaining disclosure contamid procedures (

defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)1%nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedoresused such disclosure controls and procedaoites designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material infornmatielating to the registrant, including its condatied subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this report isifige prepared

b. Designed such internal control over financiglaing, or caused such internal control over faiakreporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide readerasurance regarding the reliability of financegorting and the
preparation of financial statements for externappses, in accordance with generally accepted aticmuprinciples

C. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registeadisclosure controls and procedures and preseantbis report our conclusio
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cousyeldis report based on
such evaluation; ar

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the tegid's internal control over financial reportirttat occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regidts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annyabrrg that has materiall
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaft, the registra’s internal control over financial reporting; &

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatioriernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the
equivalent functions)

a. All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrgistrant’s ability to record, process, summasiad report financial
information; anc

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that invalveanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the
registran’'s internal control over financial reportir

Date: February 27, 2012

By: /s/ Brendan T. Cavanagh
Name: Brendan T. Cavanac
Title: Chief Financial Officel




Exhibit 32.1

Certification Required by 18 U.S.C. Section 1350
(as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbarkey Act of 2002)

In connection with the Annual Report of SBA Comnuations Corporation (the “Company”), on Form 10eK the period ended
December 31, 2011, as filed with the SecuritiesExechange Commission on the date hereof (the “R8parJeffrey A. Stoops, Chief
Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursutnil8 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuadéttion 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act,
that to the best of my knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requiremenft$Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExcleaAgt of 1934, as amended, and

2. The information contained in the Report fairhegents, in all material respects, the financialdition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: February 27, 2012

/sl Jeffrey A. Stoops
Jeffrey A. Stoop:
Chief Executive Office




Exhibit 32.2

Certification Required by 18 U.S.C. Section 1350
(as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbarkey Act of 2002)

In connection with the Annual Report of SBA Comnuations Corporation (the “Company”), on Form 10eK the period ended
December 31, 2011, as filed with the SecuritiesExchange Commission on the date hereof (the “R8parBrendan T. Cavanagh, Chief
Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursugmtl8 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuadéttion 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act,
that to the best of my knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requiremeaft$Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExcleaAgt of 1934, as amended, and

2. The information contained in the Report fairhegents, in all material respects, the financialdition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: February 27, 201

/s/ Brendan T. Cavanagh
Brendan T. Cavanac
Chief Financial Office




